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Preface

This book is intended to provide an introduction to property valuation. The
general approach is that property appraisal is the overall aim, and that this
is divided into market valuation and investment analysis. It is in the area of
market valuation that this text concentrates. The book covers five areas
of study:

¢ valuation and markets;

¢ methods of valuation;

¢ the investment method in detail;

e taxation and statutory valuations;

¢ the development appraisal and finance.

The intention is to discuss the context of the market, show how valuation
practice has developed within this context and explain the application of
valuation methods in practice.

The book will be useful for both students and practitioners. For students
it will provide a text at initial level (first/second year undergraduates) in
estate management, property, surveying, planning, design and construction
disciplines. Those in adjacent areas of study, such as housing and eco-
nomics, will find it a useful introduction to the area of property valuation.
Practitioners involved with property and real estate, and this includes a wide
area of professionals, including surveyors, builders, construction managers,
architects, engineers, estate managers and agents, will also find it a useful
overview. Professional advisers, such as bankers, financial advisers, accoun-
tants, investors, analysts and lawyers, should also find this text useful as an
aid to their dealings in the property sector.

[ have aimed to reference the material as fully as possible but apologise
for any omissions. There are relatively few texts in the area of property

viii



Preface ix

compared to most other investment sectors, and I have tried to reference
existing ones as completely as possible in order to provide additional views
and perspectives for the reader. Where possible, spreadsheet analysis has
been used to explain and assist in the calculations. Each chapter has the
overall aims set out at the beginning and also includes a summary at the
end. Key terms are explained and exercise questions are included in rel-
evant sections.

Finally, I would like to thank those who have assisted me in writing this
book, especially Christopher Glennie, my publisher, who has been patient
with my progress and supportive in the book’s development. I would also
like to thank Terry Steley and Mark Daley of the University of Greenwich
for their help and observations on the book. Finally, as ever, I am reliant
on the continued support of the management and staff of the School of
Land and Construction Management at the University of Greenwich in
developing my studies and research, and [ am grateful for their help.

As a result of studying this book, students should attain the following
objectives:

¢ an understanding of property appraisal (valuation and analysis) in the
context of property markets;

¢ an understanding and ability to use the principal methods of valuation;

¢ an understanding of the application of valuations in a variety of invest-
ment and development contexts;

¢ an ability to relate techniques of appraisal to a wider economic context
based on property development, finance and the financial management
of property projects.

David Isaac University of Greenwich
School of Land and Construction Management
April 2001
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1 The Concept of Property
Valuation

1.1 Principles of property investment

1.2 Property appraisal: market valuation and
investment analysis

1.3 Prices and values

1.4 Traditional property valuation

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter introduces the principles of property investment; the key
aspects of investment and a summary of the property context in which
the investment takes place. It then goes on to examine property
markets and the distinction between the concept of price and value
within those markets. It concludes by beginning to apply the concepts
and principles to an investment valuation.

1.1 PRINCIPLES OF PROPERTY INVESTMENT
Introduction

A property or building can be owner-occupied or rented, the latter being
an investment property. It may of course be vacant, resulting from being
surplus to the owner’s requirements or a poor investment! A large pro-
portion of property is owner-occupied but most of the conventional texts
and theories in property are applied to the investment market. The invest-
ment market for property cannot be seen in isolation from other invest-
ment markets. The application of funds to property has to reflect
competition from other forms of investment. The decision to invest in a
particular area will be a comparison of return and security, and thus knowl-
edge of alternative investments and their analysis could be very important.
The application of financial techniques to property investment can also be
important and this can clearly be seen in the securitisation and unitisation
of property, which is a key area of development in property investment.
Another important point to be made concerns the nature of the lender and



4 Property Valuation Principles

the property to which finance is applied. At its simplest, the financial
arrangement may deal with an individual purchasing a single property with
a single loan, but it is usually more complex. Finance is generally raised by
corporate entities, such as property companies, using existing property and
other assets as collateral for the purchase of a portfolio of assets which may
include property assets but not exclusively. Finally, it is important to realise
the significance of property and property investment to the economy. This
importance can be shown in three different ways: as a factor of produc-
tion, as a corporate asset and as an investment medium. As a factor of
production, property provides the space in which economic activity and
production take place, and the efficiency and costs of such space will affect
the cost of goods and services produced. As a corporate asset, property
forms the major part of asset values in companies’ balance sheets and the
majority of corporate debt is secured against it. As an investment, it is one
of the major types of investment held by individual investors and the finan-
cial institutions on which pensions and assurance benefits depend (Fraser,
1993).

Three particular aspects of this process need to be distinguished: valua-
tion, ownership and value.

e Property valuation

Valuation is a means of providing an assessment of the capital value of, or
the income arising from a property investment. There is a range of possi-
ble investment opportunities from works of art through oil futures and
gold to shares, government stocks and property. The point of investment
is that it provides the investor with an income, growth in capital value of
the investment, or both. Thus investment involves an initial payment (a
capital outlay) so that an income can be received in the future over a period
of time.

e Property ownership

Property investment is different from other types of investment in that own-
ership of physical assets like land and buildings is far more complex than
the ownership of a share certificate. It also involves the owner in more
responsibility and obligations than other forms of investment.

e Economic value

Land is a scarce resource and its supply is limited. Land can change its use
to increase supply in the short-term but in the long-term it is fixed. Expen-
sive projects such as land reclamation or the possibilities of extra-terrestrial
colonisation are feasible but the effect on the overall supply of land would
be marginal. Value, as related to land, was of great interest to the classical
economists who perceived that the supply of land was fixed. They there-
fore used the concept of economic rent to describe payments not only to
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land but also to any factor involved in the production process which was
unable to adjust to its supply and thus able to achieve a higher price because
of its position of scarcity.

Property valuation

The concept of value is a difficult one to comprehend. Economists relate it
to utility but this is not of any practical use when determining actual values
in the market. A price may be determined on the market but this may not
always equate with the valuation of the property in the market. Problems
of the difference of price and valuation arise because the marketplace for
property is decentralised and fragmented. For instance, you can ascertain
the price of your shares from the morning papers but the price of an office
building might be more difficult to determine. It may be that an identical
office block has just been sold and this should tell you the price of the block
you are looking at. It should do, but it often does not. The problem is one
of imperfect markets in that the transaction may be difficult to reconstruct,
and it could also be that the outside parties have limited knowledge of the
deal that was actually struck. There is a wide range of reasons why premises
are bought and sold, and the environment in which transactions are taking
place is constantly changing.

Besides the problem of assessing a price of a property, there is also a
problem of assessing value when a property is not being sold and a trans-
action does not actually take place. The property could be valued for a
number of reasons that do not involve a purchase or sale; for mortgage,
compulsory purchase or tax reasons, for instance. These valuations do not
necessarily lead to a transaction that can support or contradict the valua-
tion. Thus the value of the property is not exact and it is often adjusted
according to the purpose for which it is used. The negotiated price is depen-
dent on the particular circumstances of the transaction and certainly on
whether you are buying or selling.

Property investment markets

The market for commercial property is an established investment market
but because there is no central market place and because each property is
unique, there is a difficulty in understanding how the market works. This is
compounded by the fact that information on the products in the market
and the nature of transactions is restricted; information is passed by word
of mouth rather than being properly documented in the press or in pub-
lished reports. The actual detail of the transaction in the market, the details
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of rents passing, the nature of the lease terms agreed and the yield used in
any capital transaction may remain confidential. Thus the property market
could be a dangerous place for the ordinary person to invest in because of
lack of market information.

The characteristics of property markets have been summarised as shown
in Box 1.1.

One of the most important points about property investment is the
holding of property in a portfolio of investments with other major asset
classes that are government securities (gilts or bonds), company shares (equi-
ties) and cash. Investors will not hold just one type of asset but will diver-
sify so as ‘not to have all their eggs in one basket’. This means that any
investment analysis that concentrates on one investment or even one type
of investment will be incorrect. It is the range of investments that needs to
be considered and the effect that one investment has on another. If an
investor has investments A and B in a portfolio and is then offered C, it is

BOX 1.1: THE CHARACTERISTICS OF PROPERTY
MARKETS (adapted from Darlow, 1983)

e The market is fragmented, poorly recorded, secretive and generally
unregulated.

¢ There is no central agency or institution (such as Lloyds insurance for the
insurance industry).

e There is no physical focal point.

e It is difficult to find average figures for property transactions or provide an
appropriate sample in order to provide some statistical analysis that would
help in understanding property.

e The market is diverse and complex in nature.

e There are national, regional and local variations to the market. Property
markets tend to be localised, disorganised and vary in classification (such
as geographical location, type of property, quality of property, value and
size of investment).

e There is an imperfect knowledge of the market and within the market there
is no central price or listing (such as on-line prices, as there are for the
transaction of stocks and shares).

e There is no central registry of transactions which is complete.

e The market tends to favour monopoly, because the supply of land does
not respond easily to changes in demand.

e There is no freedom of entry and exit from the market because of loca-
tional, legal, financial, taxation and other constraints.
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the effect on the overall portfolio by adding C that is critical, rather than
its own characteristics. C could be a very risky property but experience tells
us that if its changes in value are different from those of assets A and B,
then its inclusion in the portfolio might make the portfolio less risky. In con-
sidering the structure of the portfolio, one should also consider the corre-
lation of returns in property with other asset classes. Brown (1991) carried
out research into the relationship of property returns to other asset classes.
In the period January 1979-December 1982, he found that property port-
folios exhibited a low and negative correlation with gilts. As the holding
period of investments increases so does the correlation coefficient, sug-
gesting greater relationship. There is a negative relationship between prop-
erties and the FT All Share Index; the relationship with the property share
index is much higher and increases with the holding period. A high corre-
lation between property and the Retail Price Index (RPI) indicates the ability
of property to act as a hedge (an insurance) against inflation.

In 1988 Richard Ellis also carried out research to show that the prop-
erty market moves in an opposite manner to equities and gilts, and is thus
a good prospect for the diversification of a portfolio. This study found:

(i) very limited similarity between property returns and equities (shares);
(ii) no similarity between property returns and gilts (government stocks);
(iii) gilts and equity returns were more in line (Barter, 1988).

The comparative performance of property against other assets over the
period 1980-96 and forecast for the period 1996-2000 is shown in Figure
1.1 (Lennox, 1996). In the period 1980-95 it can be seen that property
performed badly against equities and bonds (gilts). This performance should
reflect the relationship between risk and return. Investments that have a
greater risk should offer a higher return. Bonds are low in risk and we would
expect low returns. Equities are considered more risky than property. Here
you can see that property has not performed very well in the period
1980-95, as we would expect the property return to reflect the risk and
therefore be between equities and bonds. In fact it performed worse.
Although this analysis was carried out in 1996 and is now dated, the argu-
ment was that, in 1996, property would outperform the other asset classes
and in 1996-2000 the anticipation was that the return would be more in
line with the risk profiles of the asset classes.

If one takes away the sentiment of owning land and buildings, and this
is a strong one, then a property investment is basically a flow of income
arising from a property asset. This income may be distributed in many dif-
ferent ways to offer investors differing degrees of risk and differing returns.
This is the basis of property securitisation and the innovative forms of prop-
erty finance which have been developed. These new financial techniques
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o % annualised return

/

10

7/ 7

1980-95 1898 1996-2000

I Property Equities EHH Bonds

Figure 1.1 Comparative performance

attempt to overcome property’s inherent illiquidity and inflexibility. But
according to Barter (1988), the key concerns about property as an invest-
ment medium remain.

Iliquidity

Properties take 3 months to buy and sell. There is no certainty of price and
terms until contracts are exchanged. This problem is acute for properties
with capital values above £20 million because of the relatively small supply
of potential single purchasers in the market, especially when there are no
international purchasers. There are problems in appraising and financing
the more substantial developments.

Inflexibility

There is a high unit cost with property purchases and little flexibility in the
purchase; one needs to buy the whole. There are problems in portfolio
diversification and management here. Property shares and property units
offer some opportunity to diversify but property companies are taxed in the
same way as other companies, and unauthorised property unit trusts are
only available to pension funds and certain types of charities and cannot be
listed. Now there are authorised trusts for the general public but these may
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remain unlisted and have a corporation tax liability on the income. Some
of the problems of illiquidity and inflexibility have been addressed by ‘swap-
ping’ properties in matched deals. This avoids the exposure and bad pub-
licity of putting properties up for sale in a poor market. An example in
1996, for instance, was a swap valued at £34.35 million in which the Prov-
ident Mutual sold a mixed portfolio of six office, retail and industrial prop-
erty to Allied London in exchange for eight retail warehouses, valued at
£21.6 million, together with £12.75 million in cash.

Growth of debt finance

There has been a substantial increase in bank lending to the property sector
in recent years. This has replaced new equity investment by institutions,
especially in the 1980s, and the banks’ over-lending encouraged the boom
and subsequent slump at the beginning of the 1990s in the UK. Banks were
also evident in the Japanese economic ‘bubble’ largely based on property
and bank lending on property; this bubble burst at the time the property
market collapsed in the UK in the early 1990s. Debt finance, used in an
appropriate structure, can affect the return on equity owned, and the use
of financial gearing to achieve this is described in a later chapter on finance.

Valuation methodology and precision

Conventional valuation methods are inflexible. The all-risk approach of tra-
ditional valuation methods is difficult to apply to more illiquid properties
such as major shopping centres and substantial office buildings. A number
of cases reflecting errors in the valuation of hotels and restaurants also
confirm this. Conventional valuations also have difficulty in the valuation of
over-rented property where rents are expected to fall on review.

The future role of the property profession

The liberalisation of the financial markets and the increased importance of
debt in property funding require new competencies for chartered survey-
ors. The demands of the Financial Services Act for those providing infor-
mation on finance and funding will require different and greater competence
in the financial area. In this area and others, the professional institutions
are reorienting themselves to the market. The RICS has adopted ‘An
Agenda for Change’ and is determined to upgrade the status of property
professionals in the UK.

Short-termism

Property is a long-term investment and cannot compete on similar terms
with investments that pay off on a much shorter time horizon. Recent atti-
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tudes of funders and managers of companies in the UK indicate a short-
term approach to investment and performance that is a reflection of the
recent difficult economic times in which these companies have had to
operate. Companies may in some cases have opted for very short-term
investment appraisals and rapid payback. The pressure to perform well has
not only led fund managers to increase their activity in managing funds but
also led to a short-term perspective for investment. This strategy focuses
on the short-term performance of companies in arriving at the valuation of
a company’s worth with emphasis on current profit performance and divi-
dend payments. This perspective, suggested by Pike and Neale (1993), has
many consequences across the spectrum of companies including:

(i) the neglect of the long-term by management, leading to a failure to
undertake important long-term investments in resources and research
and development;

(ii) the volatility of short-term corporate results becoming exaggerated in
securities markets, producing unacceptable fluctuations in share prices.

Because of its long-term production cycle, these consequences are likely to
be very damaging to property and construction. A survey carried out by the
Department of Industry’s Innovation Advisory Board in 1990 concluded that
City influence on corporate activity led to companies prioritising short-term
profits and dividends at the expense of research and development and other
innovative investment. The survey also commented that the practices of the
key financial institutions have sustained these priorities. Researchers in the
USA have concluded that increasing shareholder power of institutional
investors has had a damaging effect on research and development expen-
diture among US firms. The financiers of the City of London reject this crit-
icism by saying that much of the responsibility for the lack of long-term
innovation investment is attributable to company management. Specifically,
they say it is managers’ preference for growth by acquisition, their poor
record of commercial development and their reward systems based on short-
term targets (Pike and Neale, 1993). The implications for property in this
respect are very clear, because property development and the development
of its associated transport, social and services infrastructure are a long-term
project. Development and refurbishment underpin the property investment
market. Projects on difficult town centre sites or involving major infrastruc-
ture works encounter problems of risk and uncertainty as they extend into
the future. Then there are the problems of high transfer cost and illiquidity
in property; to force a sale of a development or investment property at an
inappropriate time, for instance half way through a building contract, could
cause a collapse in the price of the asset. This effect is accentuated because
of the location attributes of property; markets are localised and imperfect.
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The problem of short-termism is that such an attitude is inappropriate to
property investment and finance where long-term strategies and returns are
the key to successful projects.

1.2 PROPERTY APPRAISAL: MARKET VALUATION AND
INVESTMENT ANALYSIS

Property appraisal (see Figure 1.2) consists of:

e Market valuation;
¢ [nvestment analysis.

Market valuation is the estimate of the possible exchange value in the
market, the price at which the property will be sold.

e [t is an estimate made before the transaction takes place.
e It is based on a valuer’s knowledge of local market conditions and
transactions.
e [t requires:
— knowledge of market data;
— the context in which market transactions are being made;
— the basis of the calculations used in the market to assess the market
value.

The important element here is what the market judges to be the transac-
tion price, not what a particular investor believes is a fair price or worth.

Property Investment Appraisal

Transaction takes place

Market Investment
valuation w analysis

. . >
Time period

Market
price

Figure 1.2 Market valuation and investment analysis
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Prices in the market should be the product of supply and demand for a
particular property. This is the same as other goods for which there are
market transactions. There is a current debate as to whether the market is
efficient or not, whether prices on the market actually reflect the knowledge
in the market. There can be distortions or inefficiencies in the market at a
particular time; an arbitrageur is a dealer in investments who will exploit
these inefficiencies. The arbitrageur will buy low and resell having dis-
covered that, in his view, a particular investment is being sold below its
realistic price.

Investment analysis is the assessment of worth of an investment. The
analysis takes place after the transaction has occurred. The returns arising
on the investment can be assessed for a number of reasons:

¢ they can be compared with the price paid of the investment;

e a return can be assessed which can be net of tax;

¢ a return can be discounted using an appropriate rate for the investor —
if a target rate is say 10 per cent then the return can be assessed as the
element above the target rate;

¢ the comparison of the worth of the property with the price can be used
to assess whether the investment was over-priced or under-priced on the
market;

e the target rate could be considered a normal profit in economic terms —
the additional return could be a supernormal profit;

¢ the assessment of worth can be calculated for an individual’s require-
ments, which means that an individual’'s risk profile, tax position and
target rate of return can be put into the calculation;

¢ the appraisal can be adjusted to take into account changes over time in
the cash flows arising — discount rates can be changed, and risk profiles,
growth rates and depreciation can be built in as well as breaks in income
and rent reviews.

1.3 PRICES AND VALUES

Price will be different from valuation, as the valuation is a prediction of price
in the market. This prediction may not transpire because the market may
have inefficiencies or may change in the period when the value is being
assessed. The value may also be wrong because insufficient data are avail-
able or because the data have been analysed incorrectly or an inappropri-
ate technique has been used. Price is determined in the market by supply
and demand. As in microeconomic theory, problems arise in the property
market because the supply of land is essentially fixed and thus the supply
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is unable to adjust to changes in the demand. This lack of adjustment can
lead to the price discrepancies described earlier.

Value to an individual investor may differ from the market view; the
market view is an aggregation but an individual’s view may be different.
This could be for a number of different reasons; as we have seen, the tax
difference could mean a different net-of-tax return or there could be non-
economic considerations — fashion or personal taste or prejudice. Value is
based on an economic concept of utility and this will differ from individual
to individual. Alternative views of forecasts in the future will affect value; an
investor concerned about future events will discount future income streams
at a higher rate than will an investor with a more optimistic view. Value will
also differ according to the investor’s positioning in the market; for instance,
the site being valued might be adjacent to an existing site already owned
and therefore have an enhanced value; interests may be merged in a prop-
erty to enhance value; properties can provide access or ransom strips for
other development.

Economic concepts of value include suggestions of exchange value
(price), investment value (worth) and use value (basically, use as exist-
ing, not redeveloped and not sold).

1.4 TRADITIONAL PROPERTY VALUATION

This chapter has examined some concepts related to value, and in this
section applications of the terms used in traditional property valuations are
introduced. This section deals with concepts of rates of interest and yields,
and goes on to apply these in the basic methods of valuation

Rates of interest and yields

A vield is important to an investor; it indicates the level of earnings and it
defines money earned over a time period. If 20 per cent is the vield of an
investment, this means that £20 is earned for every £100 invested. If the
vield is 5 per cent, then £5 is earned. Thus 20 per cent as a yield is obvi-
ously more attractive, but the concept is more complicated because the yield
also indicates the risk of the investment. Risk is important; some invest-
ments involve greater risk than others do, so a higher return is offered on
riskier investments to tempt investors away from safe investments. As an
example, in drug smuggling, the risk is high and returns are very high. As
an outsider in a horserace, the risk of not winning is high, say 100 to 1
odds. The payback period is a critical element in investment analysis. Yields
can be compared simply using payback period analysis. A 20 per cent yield
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on £100 is £20 p.a.; the purchase cost of £100 is therefore paid back in
5 years (E100/£20 p.a. = 5 years) and this is the payback period. So at a
5 per cent yield, the payback period is 20 years. Risky investments tend to
have an earlier payback period; there is an early recoupment of the origi-
nal investment and the rest is profit. This approach ignores the time-
preference value of money, that is £1 is worth more now than in 1 year’s
time. The yield that we expect from a property investment will be deter-
mined by a number of factors; a greater risk will mean a higher yield and
vice versa. The investor will want the highest yield that can be obtained
from any one investment, and there is therefore a need to look at and
compare vields from different investments.

Rates of interest are considered in this section in the context of nominal
rates of interest. So, if a company sells stock to investors, it needs to have
an interest rate to tempt investors, say 10 per cent. The investor will receive
£10 for every £100 of stock owned. See Example 1.1.

Example 1.1: Nominal interest and market interest rates

At time of stock issue:

nominal rate of interest 10% p.a.
nominal price of stock £100
thus return is £10 p.a.

The price of the stock may start at this level but the price will change
over a period and if the £10 p.a. return is still offered on the original
£100 nominal value of the stock, the rate of interest will change:

price falls to £80
return still offered £10
rate of interest (vield) is £10/£80 = 12.5% p.a.

In the example, a £10 p.a. return is still being offered because it is based
on the par value of the stock, par value being the original offer price. So
the only time when the nominal rate of interest equals vield is at the date
of issue. The price of the stock issued will go up and down according to
market fluctuations but the nominal rate at which the stock is issued will be
based on the base rates in the financial markets. This analysis gives a clear
relationship between income, vield and capital value. If the rate of interest
or yield is 10 per cent and the capital value of the investment is £100, then
the expected income is £10 p.a. By working back from this calculation, if
an investment produces an income of £10 p.a. and the investor requires a
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vield of 10 per cent p.a., the price paid by the investor is £100 and this is
the basis of the investment method of valuation.

The investment method of property valuation

Most investors seek to obtain a return on their invested money either as an
annual income or a capital gain; the investment method of valuation is tra-
ditionally concerned with the former. Where the investor has a known sum
of money to invest on which a particular return is required, the income can
be readily calculated from:

Income = Capital x —— 1 O 0 where i =Rate of return required

For example, if £1,000 is to be invested with a required rate of return of
8 per cent, the income will be:

8
Income = £1,000 x 100 = =£80pa.

In this type of problem the capital is known and the income is to be cal-
culated. In the case of real property the income (rent) is known, either from
the actual rent passing under the lease or is estimated from the lettings
of similar comparable properties and the capital value usually is calculated.
The formula above has to be changed so that the capital becomes the
subject:

Capital = Income x &
i

What capital sum should be paid for an investment producing £8,000 per
annum if a return of 8 per cent is required?

Capital = £800 x % =£10,000

This process is known as ‘capitalising’ the income, in other words con-
verting an annual income into a capital sum. It is essential that the income
capitalised is ‘net’, that is clear of any expenses incurred by the investor
under the lease. Therefore the formula can be modified to:
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100 C = Capital
C =NIx ¥ where NI = Net income
i = Rate of return

For given rates of return, 100/i will be constant, for example:

Rate of return 100/i
10% 10

8% 12.5
12% 8.33

This constant is known as the Present Value of £1 per annum, or more
commonly in real property valuation, Year’s Purchase (abbreviated to YP).
The formula can thus be finally modified to:

C=NIxYP

where C is the Capital value, NI is the Net income and YP is the Year’s
Purchase. The YP calculated by using 100/i will only apply to incomes
received in perpetuity, which are those received from freehold interests let
at a full market rent or rack rent. Incomes to be received for shorter periods
use a YP which must be calculated using a more complex formula (although
tables of constants are available — Parry’s Valuation and Investment Tables
are most commonly used (Davidson, 1989). The traditional approach mir-
rored by Parry’s Tables was to assume that the rental income was received
annually in arrears. In practice, it is received quarterly in advance and,
although the tables have been modified, much traditional valuation uses the
original assumption for simplicity. However, whatever income basis is used,
the two essential elements required to perform the calculation are: the
period of time the investment is to last in terms of years and the rate of
return required, usually known as the all-risks yield (ARY).

To summarise: in order to estimate the capital value of an interest in real
property using the traditional investment method, three elements are
required:

(i) the net income to be received;
(ii) the period for which the net income will be received;
(iii) the required vield.
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(i) and (ii) will be obtained from the lease of the subject property or, if the
property is unlet, an estimate of the rental value will be obtained from let-
tings of comparable properties. (iii) will be obtained from analysis of sales
of comparable investments. A valuer must therefore have knowledge of two
separate markets: the letting and the investment markets. Example 1.2 pro-
vides a basic investment method calculation.

Example 1.2: A basic investment method calculation

Assume prime shops in Oxford Street have a vield of 4 per cent. The
income from the shop you are interested in is £200,000 net p.a. How
much would you pay for the freehold interest?

Net income £200,000 p.a.
Year’s Purchase @ 4% in perpetuity X 25 YP*
Capital value £5,000,000
0, 0,
P = 100% 100% _o5vp

~ Yield 4%

The valuation set out in the example has been set out below as a basic
spreadsheet (Example 1.3) to show how the calculation can be done. The
spreadsheet is best constructed as follows:

Set out the data to be used in the calculation
A
Set out the text of the valuation before inserting values
A
Insert values

Note that the cells C1 and C5 are formatted as percentages, so the number
used by the spreadsheet will be the decimal equivalent, in this case 0.04.
This is why the calculation in D5 uses 1/C5 rather than 100/C5.
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Example 1.3: Spreadsheet version

A B C D E F
1 Data: |Yield 4.00% FORMULA USED
2 Income |200000
3
4 Net income 200000|= C2
5 Year’s purchase @ [4.00% 25|=1/C5
6 Capital value 5000000 (= D4*D5
7

The investment method

In order to understand the basis of the traditional method and the use of
compounding and discounting factors in investment calculations, we need
to consider the tables that underpin the appraisals. In dealing with invest-
ment situations, we are considering the purchase of an asset to generate
an income stream over a period of time; thus we are converting the value
of an income stream in the future into a present capital sum. The basis of
the traditional approach, the tables used in Parry’s Tables, is about the con-
version of present and future sums and the conversions of capital and
income streams. The tables deal with the process of compounding and dis-
counting, for instance the Amount of £1 table will add compound interest
to an initial sum to give a future capital sum. The six main options of con-
version are:

¢ capital to income, and vice versa;

e present sums to future sums, and vice versa;

¢ the compounding of income flows into future capital sums and discount-
ing back of future income flows to a present capital value.

A summary of the valuation tables and the explanation of their use is set
out in Chapter 6.
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SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

e This chapter has introduced the basic principles involved in property
investment.

¢ |t has examined different concepts of valuation and price in the
market context.

¢ |t has begun to look at applying these concepts in the calculations
used in traditional property valuation.
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2 The Principles of
Investment Applied to
Property

2.1 The qualities of an investment

2.2 Characteristics of property as an investment

2.3 Property investment compared with other
investments

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter discusses the qualities of an investment. It analyses the
characteristics of property investment and compares property with
other competing investments.

2.1 THE QUALITIES OF AN INVESTMENT

The approach to the analysis of what is required of an investment is best
done as a checklist of questions and answers. The major question is: What
does an investor expect from the investment? The answers might be:

e security of capital and also liquidity so that the interest can be disposed

of easily;

security of income from the capital invested;

regularity of income;

low cost of purchase and sale of the investment;

ease of purchase and sale of the investment;

divisibility of the investment (am I able to sell off bits of it?);

security in real terms (is the value of the investment increasing in line

with inflation?);

¢ opportunities of growth in value (is it more or less than the rate of infla-
tion, i.e. real growth or not?).

These qualities are summarised in Table 2.1, which compares the charac-
teristics of a number of possible investment opportunities. Some invest-
ments out-perform others in this comparison but the characteristics of the
investment types also involve start-up costs and security. The additional key
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Table 2.1 The characteristics of investment compared with types of investment

Characteristics
of investment

Type of investment

Vacant Tenanted Shares Index linked Building Premium
house house government society bonds
stock (ILG") accounts

Security of depends if tenants depends yes yes yes
nominal capital on the vacate, yes; on

market otherwise company

depends
Security of no no depends yes yes no
income on
company

Regularity of no yes yes yes yes no
income
Ease of purchase no no yes yes yes ves
and sale
Low cost of no no no yes yes yes
purchase and sale
Divisibility no no yes yes yes yes
Real security/ depends depends depends yes no no

growth (hedge
against inflation)

* ILG = Index Linked Gilts.
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variable is the size of return and whether this outstrips inflation, and this is
considered in the final row of the table. The real security is considered here,
once inflation has been allowed for, in the capital value and income of the
investment; that is, whether the capital value has fallen in real value and
whether the return is paying off inflation and more. Real values can be
thought of in terms of purchasing power; if this declines in terms of capital
value or income then the real value return is falling and the investment can
be considered inflation-prone (as opposed to inflation-proof). The various
elements which investors consider in their returns are discussed later in the
chapter.

The type of investment chosen is related to a number of factors, and
these will differ according to the investor. There may be a particular or pecu-
liar arrangement; tax arrangements, for instance, or ethical considerations
that may affect investment choice. The quality of an investment from an
economic point of view must be a comparison of the return to the risk; the
return is not just the cash flow arising but this needs to be considered in
relation to the original outlay and return on possible sale. So the cash flow
needs to be considered relative to the original outlay, ongoing costs, and
risks involved in future income and capital revenues. A more detailed analy-
sis would look at three prime areas: economic influences, psychic influences
and aspects relating to social responsibility. The major influence is the
economic one and this relates to the risk/return profile of the investment.
There are a number of aspects relating to risk and return of capital, and
income and the associated area of external injections and taxation of
income and capital, these matters being essentially financial considerations.
Other aspects which affect the risk and return are time matters relating to
the incidence of in- and out-flows of income and capital; the life of the asset
is associated with this, as is the concept of depreciation in value of the asset.
Finally, risk and return are related to the liquidity of the asset and problems
of management.

2.2 CHARACTERISTICS OF PROPERTY AS AN INVESTMENT

An investment is an asset which produces income or capital growth that
will convert to income during or at the end of the life of the asset. The
investment market is often considered peculiar to the UK, a situation where
investors in property construct buildings which others occupy and pay rent.
Such a situation may be a product of the development of the landed estates,
where historically the landed gentry as a class were divorced from those
organising and engaged in manufacturing and commerce. Such a debate is
beyond the objectives of this book but certainly the landlord/tenant rela-
tionship on such a wide scale appears peculiar to the UK and some coun-
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tries of the old Commonwealth (even in the previously British territory of
Hong Kong, the land was generally owned by the government). This is not
to say that there is little owner occupation in the UK but considerations of
space allocation here relate more to economic factors such as production,
labour and profit rather than to investment returns arising from property
and land.

Darlow (1983) has suggested three major reasons for this situation:

(i) a high percentage of the savings of individuals (the collectivisation of
savings, discussed elsewhere in this book) is channelled through a small
number of private-sector financial institutions which have to find invest-
ment for their resulting cash flows;

(ii) the tendency among many manufacturers and retailers in the UK is
to rent rather than own the properties they occupy, thus creating an
income-producing investment for a potential landlord;

(iii) the planning climate in the UK has for most of the post-war period kept
the supply of good-quality commercial property below demand. Thus
rents have offered protection against inflation, because of shortages,
and capital values have appreciated.

Principles of property investment

As an introduction to property investment it is useful to make comparisons
with, for instance, investment in shares. Such a comparison is often applied
to the respective returns but the mechanism and structure of investment
in the two media is radically different. These initial differences were sum-
marised by Brett (1989) and are shown in the Box 2.1.

Property valuation is a means of providing an assessment of the capital
value of, or the income arising from, a property investment. There is a
range of possible investment opportunities from works of art through oil
futures and gold to shares, government stocks and property. The point of
investment is that it provides the investor with an income, growth in capital
value of the investment, or both.

Property investment is a long-term commitment of funds. Transfer costs
and purchase time (up to six months) restrict opportunities for short-term
dealings. Investors in property are looking for growth of income and capital.
Note that these two aspects are interrelated through the relationship of
the all-risks yield = income/capital value. In the UK the tradition in the
commercial market is for occupiers to lease premises, thus ownership and
occupation are split and an investment market in property is opened up.
In the USA and Europe there is more owner occupation. In considering the
characteristics of property investment it is necessary to look at a number
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BOX 2.1: THE CHARACTERISTICS OF PROPERTY:
A COMPARISON WITH COMPANY SHARES
(adapted from Brett, 1989)

1.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Commercial properties are of high value, whereas shares can be broken
down to smaller sizes of ownership. Property ownership thus tends to
be in the hands of large financial institutions rather than individuals.
Property is not a standardised investment; one share in a particular
company is the same as another but properties are not identical.

. Property is not a pre-packaged investment, whereas with a share you

buy the management. With property, you will need to manage it your-
self or pay someone to do it for you.

Property is an investment that can be improved by active management.
You cannot do this with shares. Property investment may require addi-
tional new money to restructure leases, to refurbish or to redevelop
buildings, however.

. Property investment can be created by finding sites, erecting buildings

and finding tenants.

Points 3-5 show that some expertise is required in investing in and
managing property.

There is no single market for commercial property; it is a localised
market. The time spent in buying and selling is greater than that with
shares.

Market information is often imperfect and the data surrounding trans-
actions are often not available or kept confidential.

The income stream from property is often geared to rent reviews in
leases, and income increases will not be available until the next review,
whereas the income stream from share dividends may change half yearly.
Property investment can literally wear out (depreciation of buildings) or
be made worthless by activities (as with land contamination).

There are a variety of ownerships in land, from freeholds to leases and
licences that affect the value of the interest and the level and risk of
income arising.

Different property interests will be of interest to different types of investor
depending on their tax status or investment requirements for income,
capital growth or risk avoidance.

Different types of property (different sectors such as retail, industrial and
offices) generate different returns and have different risk profiles, and so
may be chosen by differing investors.

Properties also have various risk profiles depending on whether they are
prime (best quality), secondary or tertiary.

Property is presented as a long-term investment but may not necessar-
ily be so. Most owners do, however, retain their properties for long
periods of time.
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of factors: the property investment market, the nature of income, the rate
of return and the level of income.

The nature of the market

The market is fragmented and poorly recorded, and there is no central focus
for trading either through a central market or via a computerised screen.
Property is diverse and each property has unique characteristics, so the
market is unstructured. The locational characteristics can reduce the size of
the market. There is imperfect knowledge in the market (hence the differ-
ence between valuation, price and worth). There are no central prices or
registry of transactions, as land registry files have only recently been made
available to the public. There is restriction of movement into and out of the
market because of the constraints of time, legal considerations and finan-
cial considerations, so prices stick. In the short run the supply of property
is inelastic. This can be seen from Figure 2.1 showing economic supply and
demand: the supply S is fixed and if demand is increased from D, to D,
then the price increases from P; to P,, more than if the supply was elastic
(then the S curve would be upward sloping).

Nature of the income

The market is made up of a number of types of investment, which produce
different types of income; for instance: rack rented freeholds, reversionary
investments, secure ground rents, short leasehold profit rents, turnover rents

Price
\ S
P,
P, D
2
P;
D,
D;
Q Quantity

Figure 2.1 Supply of land
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and so on. The type of investment will determine the amount and timing
of the income stream.

The rate of return

The rate of return can be analysed in its simplified form from an analysis
of initial (all-risk) yields. An analysis of yield levels over the last 25 years
shows that for prime vyields (little research has been carried out in areas
other than for prime properties) there is less variation than in other invest-
ment indices. Since 1977, when the investment market was becoming more
settled after the crash of 1974, property yields provided a more stable per-
formance than indices relating to gilt yields or the level of interest rates.

Level of income

Changes in the level of rental value over time show a relationship with the
level of inflation. Thus although the money level of rents has varied over
the period, the real level of rents shows a real increase, especially during
periods of high inflation. In respect of property as an investment, land
is more durable than other commodities. Purchasers buy land for future
income or use, thus they forego present consumption to do this. If pur-
chasers buy property for occupation by themselves, they are in the posi-
tion of receiving an income equivalent to a rent that they would otherwise
have to pay if they did not own the property. Property is thus purchased
for investment as well as consumption. Land is heterogeneous as each piece
is different. Each property is unique by location but properties do have some
characteristics in common and one property can be substituted for another.

The price of property is high relative to individual earnings, thus people
borrow to buy property and the availability of credit has an important
bearing on demand. Legal factors have a serious effect on the supply and
demand for property; the Rent Acts which controlled income from resi-
dential tenanted property, for instance, restricted the rights to increase the
level of rents and thus led to a subsequent decline in investment in the
private rented sector.

2.3 PROPERTY INVESTMENT COMPARED WITH
OTHER INVESTMENTS

Property is only one of a number of competing investment media, and
investors will put together a portfolio of different investments to reflect
their attitudes to risk and return and perhaps other objectives (social and
psychological as well as economic, as previously discussed). In 1989 a
typical institutional portfolio (pension fund or insurance company) would be
UK equities (55 per cent), overseas equities (22 per cent), gilts (12 per cent),
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property (8 per cent) and cash and other investments (2 per cent) (Dubben
and Sayce, 1991). This ratio of holdings has varied greatly over a number
of years, with the property proportion rising to 25 per cent at its peak and
falling to around 7 per cent by 1996; this falling-off in the allocation of
property in institutional funds’ portfolios is of great concern to the prop-
erty profession. Sweeney (1988) has suggested, using a mean-variance
technique, that the inclusion of property in the portfolio reduces risk and
that low-risk portfolios should have at least 20 per cent property content.
Beside property as an investment, there are a number of alternatives:

Bank and building society accounts
Articles for use (chattels)

National savings

Guaranteed income and growth bonds
Government and public authority shares
Company stocks and shares

Unit trusts and investment trusts
Futures and traded options

To obtain a balanced portfolio, an investor will want a spread of invest-
ments similar to the way a unit trust works, but investors will usually choose
a mixture of government stocks (gilts) and company shares as the basis for
a portfolio.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

¢ This chapter has examined investment qualities in general and then
focused on property.

¢ |t has looked at the specific investment characteristics of property.

¢ |t has compared property with other types of investment.
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3 The Property Market

3.1 The property market

3.2 What affects property values?
3.3 Legal aspects

3.4 Investment in property

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter examines the factors which influence property values and
goes on to consider:

¢ |egal interests in land;
e |egislation affecting land and buildings.

Key terms

Open market value — the best price at which an interest in a property

might reasonably be expected to be sold by private treaty at the date

of valuation.

Freeholds — properties in which the owners hold ownership absolutely
and in perpetuity.

Leaseholds — properties that are subject to legal agreements allowing

the lessees rights over the property for a term of years.

3.1 THE PROPERTY MARKET
Owner-occupier and investment markets

Property development is the process by which buildings are erected for
occupation or for sale/investment. Owners may build premises for their
own occupation, for example major retailers may erect supermarkets; alter-
natively, property developers may construct the same type of buildings for
lease or sale. The process may be the same in both cases, although some
aspects of the financial appraisal may be different. A building offered for
sale or investment is driven by a profit motive, while a building for owner

28
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occupation may be related to the profitability of the enterprise within the
building and thus profit motivation may be constrained. Property investment
and development are much like any other economic activity, satisfying
wants through the application of scarce resources. In the case of property,
the wants are for space to work in, sell from, live in and enjoy recreational
activities in. The process by which buildings are erected to provide space
employs the key factors of production: land for the site, capital for purchase
of the land and materials, and labour to erect a building. In addition there
is the need to manage the process, and the entrepreneurial talent of the
property developer to initiate the process and bring the pieces together.

The owner—occupier sector has tended to be overlooked in property
texts, except for those of a macro-economic nature. The problem lies in
the fact that there is a substantial investment market in the UK where prop-
erties are developed for lease and sale, and it is this activity that is the most
traditional approach for property developers in the property markets. This
is unlike the situation in continental European markets where development
is more likely to be for the purpose of owner occupation.

Owner occupation is also much more important in emerging econo-
mies and in economies in transitions from non-market forms. Analysis of
the development of property investment markets in Eastern Europe, for
instance, provides a clear indication that owner—occupiers give a kick-start
to development and investment markets, especially where they are out-
side companies or individual investors. In Hungary, the Czech Republic and
Poland there is evidence that as economies have opened up from state
control, so outside operators have wanted to establish plants. The invest-
ment market initially was non-existent, as was local finance for any pro-
jects. These are two of the necessary precursors for the development of
property markets and, interestingly, often the two elements that are missing
in emerging economies or economies in transition from a command to a
market economy. China is another example of this problem. What happens
in these situations is that the foreign company usually sets up a partnership
arrangement with local producers, for instance a joint venture. The diffi-
culty then is that there are no suitable premises available, so the foreign
company builds its own (in these cases, the outside company acts as a devel-
oper and kick-starts the development market). In addition, as local finance
is not forthcoming, the foreign company needs to obtain this from its
home market or international sources. This leads to an injection of exter-
nal capital, thus stimulating the local financial market. As the company
expands and requires more or different premises, so it buys and sells build-
ings, thus stimulating the investment market, especially where it has to
retain old premises for re-letting as there are few owner—occupiers with
capital to purchase. Success of such operations can then encourage further
real estate activity; for instance, profit from land sales may, in a rapidly
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improving market, prove to be a more important contribution to profit than
sales of the product, especially if the economy is emerging slowly. The role
of the foreign company thus could be influential in the development, invest-
ment and financial sectors, and the other interesting factor could be that
foreign agents arrive to ensure the system starts to work properly. Evidence
from Eastern European countries mentioned previously suggests that while
German, French and Italian companies may be taking the lead in invest-
ment and finance, UK firms dominate the agency business (Balchin et al.,
2000).

A final point, which applies both to emerging and to established
economies, is the nature of finance. In periods of boom and slump in prop-
erty markets, finance can have a major effect. If money is easy to come by
at cheap rates, this can have an effect on development and investment activ-
ity and can lead to inflation of prices and a boom situation. The property
boom of the late 1980s in the UK was fuelled by bank finance mainly from
overseas and foreign banks. The bubble in the Japanese economy in the
late 1980s was also fuelled by easy bank finance. A scheme referred to by
some as ‘property pin-ball’ suggested that banks generated the inflation in
values by constantly arranging for the buying and selling of the same prop-
erty with appropriate increases in value. The banks benefited from the fees
on the transactions but also provided the inflated valuations so that the
process could carry on until the bubble burst, leading to the collapse of the
property market and three major banks becoming insolvent.

The property market is sometimes held to be inefficient; if this is so then
actual prices and values will differ. Research in the UK has suggested that
overall the market may not be inefficient and that market knowledge is
reflected in the prices, so values will be close to actual prices (Brown, 1991).
Traditionally though, in most sectors of the market, the view has been taken
that the market is inefficient. There are a number of reasons for inefficiency:

e lack of data on market transactions;

¢ lack of homogeneity in property assets — they are all different and thus
difficult to value;

e lack of liquidity in the market.

Lack of liquidity in the property market

This is specifically due to a number of conditions in the market, namely:

¢ high transaction and entry costs to the market, lotting problems
(properties are sold in expensive lot sizes), the size of lots and their
indivisibility;

e lack of transactions, meaning that valuation is difficult;
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¢ lack of a market infrastructure, so transactions are slow to complete;

e lack of a central marketplace, only localised markets being available;

¢ legal problems in the nature of registering land and ensuring the regis-
ters contain any debts against the asset and the proof of title.

3.2 WHAT AFFECTS PROPERTY VALUES?

¢ The international situation can affect levels of confidence in the market
but probably not as badly as in the stock market. Interest rates will affect
borrowing and therefore activity in the new and second-hand markets for
property, that is the development of new property as well as investment
in existing property.

¢ The mood of the national economy affects the confidence of investors.
The levels of disposable income available affect house prices and the
amount available for investment.

¢ Government policies affect property values. Property is taxed both in
terms of capital gains and the income derived from rents. Changes in the
tax situation can affect the investor’s interest. Also government legisla-
tion can encourage or discourage investment directly or through its fiscal
(tax) and monetary (adjustment of interest rates) policy.

¢ The local economy can affect land prices. Land prices and rents will tend
to be higher in areas where the local economy is thriving. This could be
shown in the comparison in the 1980s between house prices and indus-
trial rentals in the London suburbs and, say, the north-east of England.

¢ Geography and location are also important for value. Geography is
important in terms of value, and the geology, topography and climate
give rise to the most fertile and thus the most expensive agricultural land
(in the UK this is located in eastern England). Location is important, and
office blocks may need to be close to a business area, have transport links
and have reasonable surroundings.

¢ Fashion and local demand can affect price. Trendy areas and locations
can increase price levels, as can the gentrification of traditional working-
class areas. Favoured locations may be the spin-off of successful regen-
eration opportunities, such as Covent Garden in London or in areas of
historical or interesting built environments like Greenwich.

¢ The individual design features of properties can affect value. These may
include architectural details, the space and design, the scale and nature
of the garden, and the age and style of the property.

¢ Tenure may affect the property price; a property may be freehold or
leasehold. This is an important area of valuation and is discussed later.

¢ Condition and state of repair will affect value, as will the availability of
services. The services include the provision of central heating in a house
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and the installation of air conditioning or computer wiring/trunking in an
office building.

¢ The potential for extension, renovation, reuse and redevelopment will
affect the value.

¢ The ease of purchase and sale, that is the ease of transferability, will also
affect the property price. Prices will be depressed if the transaction takes
a long time to complete. Property investors are often paying interest on
monies used for purchase. Lack of information can also affect property
prices. Because of the nature of the investment, people will not gener-
ally buy a property investment unless they have full details of the invest-
ment. You would not buy a property, for instance, unless you had carried
out the necessary searches of the title and investigated any future devel-
opments that may affect the property.

The factors affecting property values are summarised in Figure 3.1.

Impacts on property values can be psychological and social rather than
economic. The owner of a large historic house may view the ownership to
be very prestigious or else may be concerned about the social responsibil-
ity of its upkeep and maintenance.

Odd things can affect property values; one example, for instance, is feng
sui. This is an oriental art concerned with the orientation of buildings and
space that includes the juxtaposition of rooms within buildings and objects
within the internal space, as well as the external orientation. The Times
suggested that, in the late 1990s in the UK, the property boom had been
paralleled by a boom in feng sui consultancy for prospective house pur-

WHAT AFFECTS PROPERTY VALUES?

CONDITION AND
REPAIR

NTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC SITUATIO!

POTENTIAL FOR
DEVELOPMENT

NATIONAL ECONOMY

GOVERNMENT POLICY

DESIGN

FEATURES
LOCAL ECONOMY - LOCATION AND GEOGRAPHY

FASHION/
LOCAL DEMAND

Figure 3.1 What affects property values?
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chasers. An example is quoted of the frustrated purchase of a stone-built
cottage in Yorkshire that faced a main road and a stone wall. The feng sui
report suggested that positive energies were being ‘whisked away’ and
blocked at the same time because of the position of the house. The report
suggested that such a location would give ‘little support in moving toward
the future’. The Times quotes the chairman of the Feng Sui Society in the
UK as defining feng sui as a ‘complex art involving disciplines from site
planning to psychology that explain how the environment affects our lives’.

3.3 LEGAL ASPECTS

The two principal interests in land are freehold and leasehold interests.
Other legal interests or estates in land are easements, restrictive covenants
and licences. Freeholds are properties in which the owners hold ownership
absolutely and in perpetuity. The owner is either in possession of the prop-
erty (i.e. the occupier) or derives rents arising from leases or tenancies
granted (an investor). Leasehold properties are subject to legal agreements
allowing the lessees rights over the property for a term of years. Freehold
and leasehold interests are defined as ‘legal estates’ by the Law of Property
Act 1925 and these are enforceable against anyone. Other interests are
termed equitable interests and can be enforced against some people only.
Leasehold and equitable interests are carved out of the freehold interest. At
the end of a lease there is a reversion to the landlord (that is, the property
ownership reverts back to him). However, this reversion has been restricted
by government legislation, for instance the Rents Act affected short leases
and the Leasehold Reform Act affected long leases, the Agricultural Hold-
ings Act affected agricultural land, and the Landlord and Tenant Act affected
commercial property. There are two principal types of lease:

¢ The building or ground lease, where the lessee (the person who takes
the lease) erects buildings on the vacant site. These leases tend to be long
leases because of the obligation to build, and are usually 99 or 125 years
but could be as much as 999 years.

e The occupation lease, where the lease is of both land and buildings for
occupation. The lease is a medium- to long-term one, perhaps 20 or 25
years, with the rent being reviewed every 5 years.

Sub-leases are granted by lessees and carved from their leasehold interest.
The nature of leases and sub-leases is shown in Figure 3.2.

Other interests include restrictive covenants and easements that are
restrictions on the use of land by a freeholder or leaseholder. A covenant
is a contractual obligation in a deed. An easement is a right under common
law that burdens one piece of land for the benefit of another. Easements
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Figure 3.2 The granting of legal interests

Table 3.1 Legal and equitable interests

Legal interests Equitable interests
Legal interests and legal estates, that is: Equitable interests, grants
e freeholds under wills or settlements,
e leaseholds that is:

® casements e permissions to enter land
® covenants e licences

are such things as rights of way, rights of support, and rights of light and
ventilation. Interests in land have to be distinguished from permission
to enter upon land, such as licences, and the differences are shown in
Table 3.1.

Legislation on land and premises

Besides the legal interests involved in land, land is also constrained by gov-
ernment statutes. As has been described earlier, the government can inter-
vene in respect of lessees and tenants of certain properties, both to give
security of tenure and to control levels of rent. The government also inter-
venes through its fiscal policy to tax income and capital gains arising from
land. Finally, local authorities have statutory control over the development
and use of land through the Town and Country Planning Acts and over the
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construction of buildings through the Building Regulations. There is a
myriad of legislation relating to the use and condition of premises, includ-
ing the Offices, Shops and Railway Premises Act, the Factories Act, the
Fire Precautions Act, the Housing Acts, and Health and Safety legislation.

3.4 INVESTMENT IN PROPERTY

Property plays an important part in investment and commerce both as an
investment in its own right and as a security for various forms of lending.
For the individual investor, shares in a quoted property company are usually
the most attractive way of investing in commercial property. The traditional
property investment company has a number of characteristics that differ-
entiate it from firms in the manufacturing or service sectors. Usually, it
shows a relatively low current yield and the shares are bought mainly for
long-term capital and income growth. The property company may finance
itself to a greater extent on borrowed money than most manufacturing con-
cerns and it is likely to pay out a higher proportion of its earnings by way
of dividend.

Though the property companies’ shares will be valued partly accord-
ing to their vield, the asset backing is also important. Thus it is not just
profitability but the asset base on which the profits are generated (from
rents or disposals) which is important. If the liabilities of the company are
deducted from the value of the properties and any other assets it owns, the
resultant sum is what belongs to the shareholders. This sum, divided by
the number of shares, gives a figure for the net asset value per share. The
market value of the shares will normally stand somewhat below this figure
and this is referred to as a discount to net asset value. Shares in a prop-
erty company are described as giving a yield of so much per cent, and stand-
ing at a discount of say 30 per cent to net assets. This does not mean that
the company necessarily has any intention of selling its properties, or that
the shareholders would necessarily receive as much as the net asset value
for the shares if it did, as capital gains tax on disposal of the properties
might have to be paid. Rather, this approach is more of a yardstick for com-
paring the assets of one company with another and can also serve as indi-
cator of income growth in the future (which is presumed to be based on
the income-generating ability of the assets). The relationship between share
price and net asset value can fluctuate within wide limits and in the analy-
sis it is important to distinguish between property investment and trading
companies. Property investment companies obtain their income from rents;
trading companies obtain their income from sale of completed develop-
ments. The idea of a development company, on the other hand, is not a
useful concept, as it does not help in distinguishing the two principal objec-
tives of the company to develop either for investment or for trade. The
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major developers, in terms of the scale of development activity, will tend
to be the investment companies rather than the trading companies,
although development activity may be carried out by a separate subsidiary.
The majority of quoted property companies invest mainly in commercial
and industrial property, in other words in office buildings, shops, ware-
houses and factories. Residential property has become increasing unpopu-
lar as an income-yielding investment because of rent controls and other
restrictions imposed by successive governments. Most property companies
will have a fair mix of different types of commercial property, though some
will tend to specialise in one type: shops (as a name applies) in the case of
Capital Shopping, or factory and warehouse buildings in the case of Slough
Estates. Companies may also specialise by geographical area. The biggest
of them all, Land Securities Investment Trust, has a spread of different types
of top-quality commercial and industrial property throughout the UK but is
probably best known for its portfolio of office properties in Central London.
Some companies hold a fair proportion of their properties overseas,
particularly in Continental Europe with some investment in North America.
Often, however, these overseas ventures have met with disappointing
returns and the US market is a particularly specialist and difficult area to
operate in. Property companies differ not only by geographical location
and by the type of property they own, but the nature of the operation they
undertake will also differ. The commercial property investment company,
to which we have referred earlier, does much of what its name suggests: it
owns properties and sees its income and the value of its assets rise as infla-
tion and shortages of space force rent upwards in a good market. Many
reaped, during the 1980s, the rewards from properties constructed twenty
years before. If the income of the property company comes entirely from
rents from well-located companies, this income is of very high quality. Up
to the end of the 1980s, the rental income could be predicted to a degree
but since then rental values have fallen and the incidence of over-renting is
now very apparent. It is therefore far more difficult to assess the expecta-
tions of rental income at the next rent review. The forecasting of future
cash flow streams to the investment has thus also become very difficult.
Property investment involves a long-term investment and a commitment
because of the nature of the returns and the costs of transferability. Many
property investors are also property developers but the latter may well
keep property developments in their portfolio rather than dispose of them,
as property traders would do. Well-selected properties can offer income
growth and capital growth over the longer period. Property investment in
the UK is strong because of the nature of the investment market, with occu-
piers taking leases for occupation rather than buying themselves. In many
European countries, for instance, this would not be the norm and owner
occupation would predominate. The main considerations for investment are:
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e the nature of the legal interest being acquired;

e the location of the investment and surrounding environment;

e the nature and design of the property itself;

¢ planning proposals for the area;

e the terms of existing leases;

¢ expectation of income and capital growth from the property investment;

e the level of future demand, both for renting the accommodation and
selling the investment at some future date;

e possible future changes in fashion, technology, demography and trans-
portation infrastructure;

¢ underlying national economic trends;

e structural changes within the industry or sector from where tenant
demand originates;

¢ current and future level of available competitive accommodation;

¢ government intervention, new legislation and taxes (Darlow, 1983).

The acquisition sequence
The process of purchase of a property asset is complex and the sequence

of acquisition is shown in Figure 3.3. This outlines the details of the
procedures carried out in the acquisition process.

Exercise question

There are a number of factors which can affect property values and
which property investors should consider. Discuss the main factors.

Outline answer

You need to reflect on a range of factors that may have effect on prop-
erty values. These factors could include:

General features:

The international finance markets

The national economic situation

Existing supply of this type of property

Government policy and incentives

The local economy

The geographical location — latitude, topography, aspect and
climate

Fashion and local demand.

Continued
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The individual features of a property:

State of repair

Costs-in-use

Services

Technological design and fittings

Development potential, and time period to complete development.

You should be able to give examples of the effect of each factor on
values.

Intention to invest
General market overview
Identification of potential property
Initial assessment of value

v

Detailed investigation
Physical survey
Valuation
Agency
Future management
Funding
Taxation
Legal matters
Planning

v

‘ Decision to proceed J

v

Agreement with vendor
Instructions to solicitors to exchange

v

Matters to be arranged:
Insurance
Transfer of management
Notices to tenants
New lettings or renewals
Physical works to be undertaken

v

Completion of purchase

Figure 3.3 Acquisition sequence [adapted from Darlow, 1983]
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SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter has examined property markets, including:

e The nature of the property market and liquidity in the market.
e Factors affecting the property market.

e The investment market in property.

e | egal aspects and the acquisition sequence.
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4  The Role of the Valuer

4.1 The process of valuation

4.2 Types of valuation

4.3 Market valuation and the ‘Red Book’

4.4 Sources of information for the valuer on the
Web

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter examines the process of valuation and introduces the
basic methods. It distinguishes the different types of valuation, espe-
cially open market valuation. It concludes with an overview of the Valu-
ation and Appraisal Manual of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors.

Key terms

Appraisal — includes property valuation and investment analysis.
Property valuation — the estimation of market price.
Investment analysis — the analysis of worth.

4.1 THE PROCESS OF VALUATION

Valuation is a matter of opinion; it is an individual’s subjective assessment
of different factors. Different weights can be given to various opinions, and
a valuer who has studied the different methods of valuation and who gets
his/her valuations to accord with market evidence will be listened to and
inform others. Computers can assist with the assembling of market evidence
and comparable transactions, and they can be used for complex mathe-
matical calculations, but in the end, however, it is the art of valuation that
counts. A valuer is required to value property, which is to find a market
value when the market transaction for the property has yet to take place.
This is a responsible decision and expensive if things go wrong; if you put
a property up for sale at too low a valuation you are likely to lose money,

40
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at too high a valuation the property will stick on the market and take a long
time to sell if at all.

To clarify the valuation approach, it is important to distinguish between
property appraisal, market valuation and investment analysis. Recent
debates have combined with criticism of traditional approaches of property
valuation over the last 20 years or so to demand that, in the area which
has previously been termed property valuation, more extensive analysis be
provided. Generally the approach that should be taken (Baum and Crosby,
1995) is that the overall property appraisal should be clearly divided
between property valuation for purchase (valuation for market price) and
the subsequent analysis of performance. In the first case this is defined as
valuation and in the second case it is defined as analysis; the overall
process is termed property appraisal. Thus the valuation of a property (the
calculation of the exchange value of property) is different from the subse-
quent analysis of the performance of the property as an investment (the
appraisal of its actual worth). Calculations before and after purchase will
not agree because of the lack of perfect knowledge in the market at the
time of the transaction and the inability to predict future changes in the
cash flow and the risk profile of the investment accurately. Thus the tech-
niques discussed later on in this book can be used to anticipate the market
value or else to record and analyse the progress of the investment subse-
quent to purchase. It is critical to understand the difference between these
two approaches in the property appraisal process.

Having considered the above, the traditional methods used in valuation
are called the five methods, these are:

¢ the investment method;

¢ the comparative method;

¢ the contractor’s method (a cost-based method);
the profits method; and

¢ the residual valuation.

The residual valuation is used in development situations but may also rely
heavily on the other methods. It may use the investment method, for
instance, to determine the gross development value of the proposed devel-
opment, or it may use the comparative method to compare capital values
or site values calculated with examples from the market. The costs calcu-
lated for building works are a form of the contractor’s method. Depending
on the type of property, the profits method may also be used to determine
the gross development value. A final point to be made about the valuation
of the site, which is the outcome of the residual valuation, is that the value
of land is determined by its use and the intensity of use. Land may have
development potential but it will require planning permission for any form
of development except for some minor works and some changes of use.
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The Town and Country Planning Acts determine this process of granting
permission to develop. The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 basically
defines development as:

the carrying out of building and other operations on, under or over

land.

4.2 TYPES OF VALUATION

The two main types of valuation are statutory and non-statutory valuations.
Statutory valuations are for purposes for which there are rules laid down
by law. The main types of statutory valuation are:

e Valuation for rating: Here the District Valuer, who is employed by the
Inland Revenue, assesses the property to Gross Value or Net Annual
Value. Properties other than specialised buildings or industrial buildings
are assessed to Gross Value (GV), from which certain deductions are made
to Rateable Value (RV). The RV x rate in the £1 charged by the local
authority = rates to be paid. The GV is an assessment of the rental value
of the premises at the time the rating list was drawn up.

e Valuation for compulsory purchase: This is based on the compensation
payable under statute and case law.

e Valuation for tax: For instance, capital gains tax on property assets.

e Assessments for fair rents: For rented dwellings.

Statutory valuations are based on market valuations but there are assump-
tions that are frequently made in the valuation. Compensation for compul-
sory purchase, for instance, ignores the scheme of development for which
the purchase is made.

Examples of non-statutory valuations are:

e Valuations for buying and selling property: Here the valuation can be
shown to be correct by the actual price achieved in the market.

e Valuations for rental: On letting a property or taking a lease or tenancy.

e Valuations for fire insurance: Based on the cost of reinstatement, that
is the cost of rebuilding the property.

¢ Mortgage valuation: Where a loan or mortgage is being granted to buy
the property or where the property is being used as security for another
transaction.

e Valuation for company accounts.

A summary of the types of valuation is shown in Figure 4.1.
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Types of valuation

Statutory

Non-statutory

e Rating

e Taxation
e Fair rents

lessees

o Compulsory purchase

e Purchase of freehold of
residential premises by

Buying or selling a
property

Rental value

Fire insurance
Mortgage valuation

Valuation for
company accounts

Figure 4.1 Types of valuation

Open market value

Open market value in the UK is basically:

the best price at which an interest in a property might reasonably
be expected to be sold by private treaty at the date of valuation,

assuming:

a) a willing seller (same as compulsory purchase assumptions);

b) a reasonable period within which to negotiate, taking into account
the nature of the property and the state of the market;

¢) that values remain static through the period in b);

d) the property will be freely exposed to the market (i.e. marketed

and advertised);

e) no account be taken of any additional bid by a special purchase

[RICS, 1992]

(e.g. neighbour’s bid).
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The application of valuation methodology requires the definitions to be
clear. The distinction between market price, valuation and worth must be
clarified in this context.

Definitions

e Market price is the recorded consideration paid for a property.

e Valuation is the estimate of the most likely selling price, the assessment
of which is the most common objective of the valuer. This ‘most likely
selling price’ is commonly termed ‘open market value’ in the UK but is
different from the concept of worth.

e Worth is the underlying investment value and consists of two aspects.
Firstly, individual worth is the maximum bid price of an individual pur-
chaser. Such a bid would take into account the appropriate use of all
available data relating to the individual, the property and the market. Sec-
ondly, market worth is the price at which an investment would trade on
a market where buyers and sellers were using all available information in
an efficient manner.

The RICS (Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) Appraisal and Valua-
tion Manual (the ‘Red Book’) (RICS, 1995) uses a number of definitions
in this context including:

e Appraisal: The written provision of a valuation, combined with profes-
sional opinion or advice on the suitability of the subject property for a
defined purpose.

e Estimation of worth: The provision of a written estimate of the net
monetary worth of the subject property to the client.

¢ Valuation: The provision of a written opinion as to the price or value of
the subject property on any given basis. It is specifically not a forecast.

e Forecast: The prediction of the likely value on a stated basis at a future
specified date.

These valuation bases are agreed with the client prior to the valuation and
should be appropriate to the client’s needs but cannot override statutory
definitions.

Asset valuation

Valuers are required to produce valuations for company purposes. These
purposes are firstly, for asset values to be incorporated in the financial
accounts of the company. Under the Companies Act, the company must
produce, at the end of the accounting year, a balance sheet, a profit and
loss account and a Directors’ report. Secondly, the valuer can be required
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to value a company’s assets for incorporation into a prospectus when a
company is going public, that is selling shares to the public. This is a rule
of admission of the company to the Stock Exchange, through which the
public flotation takes place. Thirdly, the valuer can be required to value a
company when subject to a take-over bid. Finally, to value assets for prop-
erty bonds and trusts and general investment purposes.

Up until 1974 there were no guidelines on these valuations but in 1974
the RICS set up the Asset Valuation Standards Committee and in 1976 it
issued its Asset Valuation Guidance Notes. The Asset Valuation Guid-
ance Notes rejected the use of a going concern valuation. This is the idea
that the assets of the company are more valuable to the company as a going
concern than in the open market, because of the elements of goodwill that
are attached to the assets. The basis of valuation is thus open market value
(see Guidance Note A2). Open market value as defined in Guidance Note
D1 has been set out earlier (RICS, 1992).

The definitions of open market value have been revised in the new ‘Red
Book’ issued by the RICS (1995) and this will be discussed later in the
chapter. Practice Statement P5 of the RICS’ guidelines concern valuation
for company accounts and financial statements. The Accounting Standards
Board advocates the use of a ‘value to the business’ model in determining
values in the balance sheet. Value to the business of an asset is the lower
of its net current replacement cost and its recoverable amount. The recov-
erable amount is the higher of ‘value in use’ and ‘net realisable value’. The
net current replacement cost is the cost of purchasing, at the least cost, the
remaining service potential of the asset at the balance sheet date. Value in
use is the maximum amount recoverable from continuing ownership and
ultimate disposal of the asset. Net realisable value is the estimated proceeds
of sale of an asset less the selling cost. Continuing enterprises would nor-
mally have their assets valued to net current replacement cost (RICS, 1995).
So:

e value to business = lower of net current replacement cost or recoverable
amount;
¢ recoverable amount = higher of value in use or net realisable value.

4.3 MARKET VALUATION AND THE ‘RED BOOK’

A revised definition of market value came into effect from 1 June 1992;
the principal change is that the ‘reasonable period’ for marketing the inter-
est is now assumed to have taken place before the valuation date. The
valuation date in turn is assumed to coincide with the date of completion
of the sale. To meet the point that, in practice, a purchase price is usually
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fixed not on the date of completion of the sale, but on an earlier date when
unconditional contracts were exchanged, the valuer is required to assume
that circumstances, values and market conditions at the date of contract
were the same as those prevailing at the date of completion (i.e. the date
of valuation). Thus there can no longer be an assumed marketing period
following the date of valuation and so the provision that ‘values will remain
static’ disappears. The ‘reasonable period’ in normal circumstances should
not exceed a few months. The sale of an interest is assumed to have been
completed unconditionally for a cash consideration. The valuer may not
assume deferred completion, stage payments or consideration in terms of
shares or an exchange of land. ‘Proper marketing’ means the most appro-
priate method to effect a disposal at the best price.

There has been some debate recently over the role of the mortgage
valuation. It is generally accepted by the RICS guidance notes for valuers
that the valuer should not make a recommendation as to the amount or the
percentage of mortgage advance or as to the length of the mortgage term.
The mortgage valuation has been the subject of debate in two areas. Firstly,
in new house valuation where new house premiums may be taken into
account. The premium relates to the fact that, as soon as the property is
sold second-hand, there is likely to be a discount. A solution has been sug-
gested that the valuations be carried out on the basis of a new house with
the premium, provided it is stated that on immediate resale, the value will
be reduced by a certain amount. The second debate on mortgage valuation
relates to whether a warning should be given to the lender when valuing in
a falling market. This would be especially important when valuing a prop-
erty in the process of construction when only a small amount of building
work had been carried out.

Recent criticisms and court cases reflecting the alleged negligence of pro-
fessional valuers has led to some reconsideration of the advice given to pur-
chasers. The problem may, of course, relate to a decline in the market
whereby mistakes related to the calculation of market value at the time of
transaction are not upheld by subsequent evidence. The Mallinson Report
commissioned by the RICS and properly called the President’s Working
Party on Commercial Property Valuations reported in March 1994 (RICS,
1994). The Chairman suggested that there were four key areas that are
described as needs or requirements of the valuer undertaking commercial
property valuations. These needs are:

(i) Valuers need to be able to demonstrate to clients that, although there
are many valuers who would make different judgements, all work is
within a common body of knowledge, application and expression. Dif-
ferences will therefore be as narrow as possible, and where they occur
they will be reasonable and explicable, not perverse or chaotic.
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(i) Valuers need to demonstrate that the profession is regulated, not in a
purely bureaucratic sense, but that valuers perform their task in an
organised manner, not in a maverick or inspirational way, that they take
care to educate themselves, and that they are subject to discipline.

(iii) Valuers need to be able to express more clearly what they do and what
they do not do. It is not possible to ‘make clients understand’, nor is it
tenable to urge that ‘clients should be educated’. Care and precision in
explanation will do much to achieve both ends.

(iv) Valuers need to improve the technical element of their skill, updating
and extending their mathematical models, their access to and use of
data, and their expression of the relativities of their judgement. They
should not assume their task to be limited to the production, as if from
a hat, of a final figure.

The main proposals of the Mallinson Report are that there be a greater dia-
logue between valuers and their clients leading to clearer instructions, a
summary of which would accompany the valuation figure. A second pro-
posal is the right for valuers to ensure that shareholders receive the state-
ment explaining property valuations in company accounts. In addition, the
report proposed closer liaison between valuers and auditors, with direct
access to audit committees. In addition, the report proposes that there be
increased investigatory powers for the RICS in cases of public concern or
at the client’s request. The report recommends that valuations need to
contain more comment on valuation risk factors, price trends and economic
factors. Refined discounted cash flow techniques and research on concepts
of ‘worth’ need to be developed. Finally, the report also suggests that there
be a wider availability of data, which is necessary for valuations, and that
the definition of open market value should be retained but its title changed
to ‘defined value’ or ‘defined notional price’. The report embraced open
market value (OMV) and estimated realisation price (ERP) and suggested a
new possible basis of defined accounting value (DAV); however, this latter
definition was rejected by the RICS group who prepared the new ‘Red
Book’ although both concepts of OMV and ERP are embraced (Rich, 1994).
It is hoped that these proposals would go some way towards dealing with
the disquiet which has arisen over a number of cases. It is to be noted that
this is not just a problem of valuation in the UK, as can be noted from the
collapse of the Jurgen Schneider Property Group in Germany in 1994.
This collapse is likely to have a lasting effect on the German property
market because of the magnitude of the losses. Some of the blame relat-
ing to this collapse has been put on the poorly trained and organised
German valuers whose valuation methods and education were suggested to
be below those of the international standard. A German society of valua-
tion surveyors has been formed to correct this.



48 Property Valuation Principles

The Mallinson Committee report advised that the previous ‘Red Book’
(guidelines used for valuing assets) and the ‘White Book’ (guidelines used
for mortgage valuation and other specialist areas) should be merged. In Sep-
tember 1995 the Rovyal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ Appraisal and
Valuation Manual was published (RICS, 1995). This manual provides the
minimum required standards expected of professionals in practice and is
mandatory from January 1996 onwards for members of the appropriate
valuation institutions (the RICS and the Institute of Revenue Rating). The
new ‘Red Book’ is in two parts: the Practice Statements and the Guidance
Notes, The Practice Statements apply to all types of valuation and are
mandatory, along with the appendices. The Guidance Notes are not manda-
tory but provide information on good practice. The ‘Red Book’ contains a
number of definitions, previously discussed, including:

e Appraisal: The written provision of a valuation, combined with profes-
sional opinion or advice on the suitability of the subject property for a
defined purpose.

e Estimation of worth: The provision of a written estimate of the net
monetary worth of the subject property to the client.

e Valuation: The provision of a written opinion as to the price or value of
the subject property on any given basis. It is specifically not a forecast,
which in turn is defined as the prediction of the likely value on a stated
basis at a future specified date. The complexity of the number of valua-
tion definitions now being used is shown in Table 4.1.

These valuation bases are agreed with the client prior to the valuation and
should be appropriate to the client’s needs but cannot override statutory
definitions. If ERP is required it is also necessary to provide market value
or open market value. The calculation of worth is distinguished from cal-
culations for market value or open market value. Open market value starts
from the assumption that parties to the transaction acted knowledgeably,
prudently and without compulsion. Market value appears to be the same as
open market value but is given the definition used by the International
Valuation Standing Committee (Estates Gazette, 1996). The ‘Red Book’
defined open market value as:

An opinion of the best practice at which the sale of an interest in
property would have been completed unconditionally for cash con-
sideration on the date of valuation, assuming:

(a) a willing seller;

(b) that, prior to the date of valuation, there had been a reasonable
period (having regard to the nature of the property and the state
of the market for the proper marketing of the interest) for the
agreement of the price and terms and for the completion of the
sale;



Table 4.1 Valuation bases under the ‘Red Book’

Base Definition

Application of Valuation Bases

Rental Value

Plant and Machinery

Other

Market value (MV)
Open market value

(OMV)

Existing use value
(EUV), which is OMV
subject to additional
assumptions as to use

Estimated realisation
price (ERP) (3)

Estimated restricted
realisation price

(ERRP) (4)

Depreciated

replacement cost (DRC)

Open market rental value
(OMRV) (1). Valuer
assumes the grant of a
new lease, not a renewal

Estimated future rental
value (EPRV) (1)

Open market value for
plant and machinery
(OMVPM)

Valuation of plant and
machinery to the
business (VPMB) (2)

Estimated realisation
price of plant and
machinery (ERPPM)

Estimated restricted
realisation price of plant
and machinery
(ERRPPM)

Existing use value for
registered housing associations
(EUVRHA)

Estimated restricted realisation
price for the existing use as
an operational entity having
regard to trading potential
(ERRPEU)

Notes:

(1) New valuation bases.

(2) Value of plant and machinery to the business is approximately the same as EUV.
(3) Estimated realisation price requires the valuer to consider what changes are likely to occur in the market for the prop-
erty during the marketing period; this includes external factors such as quality of the location etc. It is the open market
value but with completion assumed after the date of valuation and where the valuer is required to specify an appropri-

ate marketing period.

(4) Estimated restricted realisation price is not forced sale value (which should not be used in any circumstances) but is where
the estimate is subject to a marketing period defined by the client and which does not allow for proper marketing.
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(c) that the state of the market, level of values and other circum-
stances were, on any earlier assumed date of exchange of con-
tracts, the same as on the date of valuation;

(d) that no account is taken of any additional bid by a prospective
purchaser with a special interest; and

(e) that both parties to the transaction had acted knowledgeably pru-
dently and without compulsion.

[RICS (1995), Practice Statement 4.2.1, p.4]

The ‘Red Book’ is divided into Practice Statements and Guidance Notes.
Practice Statement 1 covers appraisal and valuations for all purposes includ-
ing Home Buyers Reports and mortgage valuations. Practice Statement 2
relates to the requirement to understand the needs of the client and sets
down the basic criteria that the valuer would need to identify. These cri-
teria are the basis of valuation; the subject property; the purpose of the
valuation; any assumptions to be made; and the date of the valuation. In
addition, it should be clear firstly, whether information will be required from
the client for the valuation to be made; secondly, the currency of the report;
and, thirdly, the limitations to third party use and restrictions on publica-
tion. Practice Notes 5-7 go on to examine special circumstances related to
the report, the database of comparables, the record of analysis and, finally,
the minimum requirements of the reports (for instance, the need to check
whether the valuation report being provided will be included in the company
accounts). Statements 8-22 list special requirements for reports if these
conflict with general guidance given.

There is a continuing debate about estimated realisation price (ERP) and
whether it will resolve or compound problems of credibility which gave rise
to the need for the Mallinson Report in the first place. A view is that need
for the valuer to look forward in providing valuation advice has been
imposed on the profession by lending institutions and could result in more,
rather than fewer, claims for negligence against valuers. The change for the
profession relates to the way the old ‘Red Book’ referred to relevant ex-
perience, while the concentration in the new ‘Red Book’ is on knowledge,
understanding and skills (Estates Gazette, 1996). The new definition of ERP
was needed following pressure from secured lenders who believed that the
existing definition of open market value required the marketing period to
be retrospective, ending at the date of valuation and expecting the valuer
to look backwards. The valuer was therefore telling the lender only what,
in effect, he already knew and did not supply what he wanted to know,
which was an assessment of the security provided by the property in the
future. The key differences are indicated in Figure 4.2 and Table 4.2. It is
apparent in the market that some valuers are looking to forecast in situa-
tions where they may not have the skills and knowledge to do so.
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Concepts of OMYV and ERP

Open Market
Valuation Transaction takes place
) . . Market
ERP tries to estimate price at .
completion and length of time price

to sell

v

Time period

Figure 4.2 Concepts of OMV and ERP

Table 4.2 A comparison of open market value and revised ERP
(source: Law and Gershinson, 1995)

Open market value Revised ERP (from 1 January
1996)

Sale . .. completed . . . at the date Opinion as to . . . consideration on

of valuation the date of valuation . . .

plus Completion of sale on a future

proper marketing, agreement of date specified . . . following the

price etc. prior to the date of period of marketing

valuation

Both parties had acted Both parties will act

knowledgeably, prudently and knowledgeably, prudently and

without compulsion (with effect without compulsion

from 1 January 1996)

Law and Gershinson (1995) suggest that a valuation report should be an
appraisal with emphasis on the risks attached to the performance of the
property during the period of a loan granted as a result of the valuation.
However one has to assume a static market unless the valuer or market as
a whole is aware of factors which may affect the market, and if this is so
then surely the market would have taken this into account. There may be
concern that some valuers are forecasting valuation figures in the future,
making assumptions regarding changes in the market that did not reflect
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the worth of the property at the date of valuation. The advice concerning
the new ERP is to respond to the question of how much do you think the
property can be sold for, commencing the selling process at the date of
valuation, while indicating how long it will take.

In the light of the new regulations, the Appraisal and Valuations Board
of the RICS suggested the following vital questions for the professional
valuers to ask themselves before proceeding with an instruction:

¢ Do I know whether the mandatory requirements of the manual apply to
the sorts of valuations 1 do?

e If [ work regularly for the same client, do I have standard conditions of
engagement which comply with Practice Statement 2?

e Have I prepared revised standard terms of business?

¢ Am I satisfied that [ meet the qualification requirements in Practice State-
ment 57

¢ Am I aware of the valuation bases to be adopted, and of the changes in
some of the titles and the definitions? Have I put in hand amendments
to my software?

¢ If my reports are to be referred to in published documents, am I ready
to provide a draft statement for the purposes with my report, in accor-
dance with Practice Statement 7.107?

¢ Do I know what service my client requires of me (see Practice Statement
2.1)? [CSM, 1995b)].

A recent joint study between the City University Business School and the
Universities of Reading and Western Sydney was carried out on valuation
reports, their format and the information provided. The study concluded
that UK clients were generally satisfied with the quality of valuation reports
received from external valuers but a common criticism was that valuers do
not provide sufficient information on valuation methodology and the state
of property and wider markets. The research noted that, in respect of the
response from bankers, 77 per cent wanted more professional/industrial
guidelines, this despite the introduction of Valuation Guidance Note 12
(VGN 12) in the new ‘Red Book’, already discussed, which gives detailed
guidance to valuers on loan valuations (CSM, 1996).

4.4 SOURCES OF INFORMATION FOR THE
VALUER ON THE WEB

There are a number of useful Websites for valuers; some of these are listed
below. Chartered Surveyor Monthly provides details of some of these sites
from which the information has been obtained (CSM, 2000):
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EGi (www.egi.co.uk) A subscription service of the Estates Gazette. Sub-
scribers are given access to news stories from1995.

RICS (www.rics.org.uk) The Website of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors which gives detail of the profession and research.

Property mall (www.propertymall.co.uk) A site with useful links to
matters of property interest.

BCIS (www.bcis.org.uk) The site of the Building Cost Information Service
providing details of construction costs.

HM Land Registry (www.landreg.gov.uk) Shows the work of the Registry
and also has residential property price reports from 1995.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter has examined the role of the valuer and has looked at:

¢ The process of valuation.
e Types of valuation: statutory and non-statutory, open market value.
e The 'Red Book’ of the RICS - the Valuation and Appraisal Manual.
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5 The Methods of Valuation

5.1 The five methods
5.2 The profits method
5.3 The contractor's method

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter introduces the basic methods of property valuation: the
five methods of valuation. The five methods are described and the
profits and contractor’'s methods are dealt with in detail.

Key terms

Profits method — valuation based on the profits of an enterprise.
Contractor’'s method — valuation based on the cost of construction
rather than value.

5.1 THE FIVE METHODS

The five traditional methods of valuation are the comparison method, the
profits method, the contractor’s method, the investment method and the
residual method. The first three are dealt with further in this chapter, but
the investment and residual methods are important enough for each to
have a separate chapter of its own (see Chapters 6 and 7). The investment
method forms the basis of the investment appraisal, a more general term
for the whole range of valuation and analysis that a property professional
might undertake. The residual valuation in the same way represents the
core of the development appraisal. The methods can be distinguished as
follows:

e The comparison method compares the capital values and rents of prop-
erties that have recently been sold or let with the subject property.

¢ The profits method is based on the assumption that the value of a prop-
erty is based on the profit produced and is used in hotels for instance.

57
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¢ The contractor’s method is based on the cost of construction and is used
where there is no market.

e The investment method is used to value capital investments in property;
the approach to this form of valuation including the use of the Year’s
Purchase to capitalise rental figures has been examined earlier.

e The residual method is used in development situations and is based on
value less cost and profit, and gives a balance to purchase the land.

The bases of the valuation methods

There are three bases to the valuation methods:

VALUE COST PROFIT

Based on: Based on: Based on:

e Valuation of the e Cost of contruction e Profit from
property ¢ Value on the basis accounts

¢ Capital value or of cost e Value on the basis
capitalised from a Use- of profits
rental income Contractor’s method Use:

Use:

Comparison method
Investment method
Residual method

Profits method

The use of valuations will differ according to whether they are being applied
to existing property or new development, and the methods used in each
case will differ too, as shown in the following:

For existing property

For new development

Use:
Comparison method
Investment method

Use:
Comparison method
Investment method

Or use Value less Cost = Residual method

The comparison method

The comparison method will give rent and capital value; the investment and
residual valuations will give capital value. Comparison is done by the analy-
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sis of transactions in the market; in the user market the aim will be to derive
a market rental per m? and in the investment market a capital value could
be derived. The art of the comparison method is the discovery of relevant
data and the subsequent analysis. As property is unique, the problem lies
in the adjustment to be made to the comparable to fit the property being
valued.

5.2 THE PROFITS METHOD

The profits method is used where a premises’ value is based on the profit
produced by the business operating in the premises. The profits generated
by the business will be contained in the company accounts, which will need
to be analysed to produce the figures for the calculation. The accounts are
an important means of assessing the performance of the business occupier
and this performance would be crucial in the valuation. This approach
underlines the importance of understanding company accounts which,
besides being used in this method, are also important to the property pro-
fessional in a number of different ways, for example:

¢ assessing the financial standing of a partner in a property development
scheme;

¢ assessing the quality of a prospective tenant for letting purposes;

e assessing, for property management purposes, the standards of a con-
tractor who would carry out works and provide services;

e assessing the security of a borrower in a property loan situation;

e assessing the standing of a company in which you propose to invest;

¢ assessing the standing of rival firms in the market with whom you, as a
professional practice or company, may wish to take over, to be taken
over by, or to merge with.

So, as one can see, there is a great need to understand the basic company
accounts, and this analysis is covered in Chapter 15. The analysis of the
accounts will show:

1. How well the business is performing relative to its costs (indicated by
the profit margin).

2. How well it keeps its costs down (indicated by its productivity).

3. How well it competes with other firms (indicated by its profitability).

4. How well it is doing compared to other competing investments (indi-
cated by the return on capital).

The calculation is shown in Example 5.1.
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Example 5.1: The profits method

Gross earnings

Less cost of purchases (direct costs)

Gross profit

Less expenses (indirect/overhead costs)
Net profit

Less return on capital for business

Annual rental value

Times multiplier

Capital value

Notes:

1. The net profit can be divided between the business and the prop-
erty. The business part represents the goodwill of the business;
the property part represents the rental.

2. The goodwill of a business is attached to the business, not the
property, and represents the value of the existing trade and name
of the company which is a product of public attitude and ongoing
customer loyalty.

3. Note that goodwill is an intangible asset of the company as
opposed to the building, plant and machinery, which are tangible
assets. Other examples of intangible assets are patents or royalties.

4. The capital value of the business, as separate from the property, is
assessed by adding the goodwill to business capital invested (stock,
fittings and cash). This is the going concern value of the business.

The profits method is often used where there is an element of mo-
nopoly and the clear application of this method is shown where it is the
operation that has the value itself, rather than the premises occupied. Some
examples should clarify this; for instance, a fairground and racecourse are
examples where the operation generates the income and land values other-
wise could be low in their existing uses. Other examples are derived from
good locations, which means that an operation could dominate that type
of activity in the particular area concerned. A town may have only one
cinema or bowling complex for instance. Certain locations may only have
a single petrol filling station. Motorway locations offer monopolistic trading
for filling stations, restaurants and other facilities, as do railway stations for
newsagents. Monopoly may be a legal one or subject to a licence or fran-
chise, hence one post office per village or one licence for a public bar or
nightclub in a certain location. Statutory monopolies which generate income
might also be valued in this way, but with public sector buildings we would
probably be looking to a cost approach, discussed later, as there is unlikely
to be a market for the property in the existing use.
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The accounts need to be analysed and thus should be accurate, with
appropriate auditing procedures having been carried out. The accounts
need to be reviewed for the last 3-5 years to investigate any aberrations or
extraordinary items. The analysis of the accounts should give a picture as
to whether the business is being run efficiently, and comparisons can then
be made on a local and regional basis for the activity; for instance, is the
profit made per hotel room comparable to the industry benchmark in that
locality? At the same time the opportunity cost of the activity should also
be looked at, this being the cost of not getting a return, say, by investing
in traditional investments. If you can obtain say 5 per cent in a building
society, then why is a restaurant only earning 4 per cent? In this case, is
the activity worth doing or is the situation one where the business is a start-
up with low returns initially but the potential hopefully for greater earnings?
The analysis of the accounts will provide key ratios for comparison and
analysis. This is discussed in more detail in later chapters but essentially the
analysis is shown in Box 5.1.

The return on the capital investment gives a clear indication of the
performance of the company and in turn this is made up of two key ratios
analysed from the accounts. This relationship is shown in Box 5.2.

BOX 5.1: THE KEY RATIOS

The key ratios used to analyse the profitability of an enterprise

(i) Trading profit as a percentage of turnover.

(i) Profit before interest and tax as a percentage of average capital employed.

(iii) Earnings per share, either basic (based on issued share capital) or fully
diluted (based on authorised share capital, which is the total share capital
that can be issued).

(iv) Dividend per share.

(v) Number of times covered — that is, the number of times a dividend is
covered by earnings. This is also a measure used by property managers
to assess the security of a tenant by calculating the number of times the
rent is covered by the net profit of the tenant company.

(vi) Assets per share — the asset backing of shares based on the value of the
net assets divided by the number of shares. There has been much dis-
cussion in this area in relation to the share price of property investment
companies, as one would expect the asset value per share to relate to
the market price of the share. However, traditionally the market has dis-
counted the net asset values of property investment companies histori-
cally by an average of approximately 20 per cent. The discount is
measured by:

Share price — Net asset value per share
Net asset value per share

[Isaac and Woodroffe, 1995]

x 100%
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Example 5.2: A detailed calculation using the profits method

Al B C D E B G H
2 This calculation has been done on a spreadsheet, the equations used in key
3 cells (boxes) are shown in column H.
4 £ pa
5 Sales turnover 500,000
6 Less purchases 300,000 Gross
7 Gross profit 200,000 margin = 40% E7 = D5 - D6
8 Less running costs (sales/gross profit)
9 Wages
10 Repairs
11 Insurance
12 Rates (property taxes)
13 Heating and lighting
14 Insurance
15 Vehicle expenses
16 Stationery and postage
17 Telephone charges
18 Total 100,000 Net
19 Net profit 100,000 margin = 20% E19 = E7 - E18
20 Less owner’s salary 20,000 (sales/net profit)
21 Less return on capital invested 80,000 E21 =E19 - E20
22 Fixtures 80,000
23 Stock 40,000
24 Cash 5,000
25 Total 125,000 E25 = SUM(D22 : D24)
26 Return @ 8% 0.08 * * cost of borrowing
27 Return 10,000 E27 = D25*D26
28 Adjusted net profit 70,000 E28 = E21 - E27
29 Allocate 50% to property 50% to business E29 =1 - C29
30
31 Property: annual rental value 35,000 E31 = E28*C29
32 x multiplier 10
33 capital value of 350,000 F33 = E31*E32
property
34
35 Business profit 35,000
36 x multiplier 2
37 value of goodwill 70,000
38
39 Going concern value
40 Property 350,000
41 Goodwill 70,000
42 Fixtures 80,000
43 Stock 40,000

44 Going concern value 540,000 E44 = SUM(F40 : F43)




The Methods of Valuation 63

BOX 5.2: RETURN ON INVESTMENT

Return on investment
This is defined as:

Profit

100%
Assets % 0

Thus profit is looked at as a percentage of capital, and this is further influ-
enced by two further ratios comprising the profit margin (profit as a per-
centage of sales) and the rate of asset turnover (sales dividend by assets).
Profit _ Profit o Sales
Assets Sales  Assets

or: Return on capital = Profit margin x Turnover.

Notes on profits method

This method, as mentioned earlier, is essentially used for monopoly situa-
tions, the usual types of monopoly being by location, a racecourse for
instance, or by a legal monopoly. In a legal monopoly, the business may
only be able to operate with a licence or franchise.

Gross profit

The profits used in this calculation should be those that a tenant of rea-
sonable competence could make from occupation of the property.

Expenses

The expenses should include overheads, and the usual charges and will
include any depreciation allowance for fixtures, fittings and equipment. The
usual expenses would include wages, heating, lighting, insurance, telephone
charges and cleaning, advertising, printing, postage and stationery costs.
The expenses will not include rent, as the calculation of the profits method
is working the appropriate rental value out. This deduction must not be
made and if it has, for any reason, then it must be added back. Also ground
rents would not be deducted nor any loan costs.

Tenants share of rental

The interest on the business owner’s own capital in business is based on
fixtures and fittings, equipment, furnishings, stock and cash. The business
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owner will also include remuneration for the time and effort in running the
business.

RICS Guidance Notes on the profits method

The RICS in Guidance Note 7 ‘Trade Related Valuations and Goodwill’ gives
the following guidance for the use of the profits method:

¢ the accounts need to be analysed, both current accounts and previous
years’ accounts, and projections need to be made for future years;

e the analysis needs to consider a maintainable level of trade and future
profit;

¢ the analysis needs to identify potential purchasers.

Thus the valuation needs to be on the basis of recent current performance
and future trading potential. The basis of valuation needs to be defined. The
market, when using the profits method, needs to be analysed closely and,
because of the specialist nature of the market, this analysis needs to look
in detail at the behaviour of buyers and sellers in the market. The approach
requires investigation of the most probable type or class of purchaser having
regard to the nature of the business, its size and type of operation. The
most appropriate calculation techniques need to be adopted in the light of
these variables.

5.3 THE CONTRACTOR’S METHOD

The contractor’s method or contractor’s test is a cost-based approach to
valuation used in rating and compulsory purchase; it is not generally used
in the UK but is used in other countries in situations where there is no
market. There are complex statutory arrangements in the People’s Repub-
lic of China, for instance, in the implementation of their cost-based
approach to the valuation of their real estate. In the application of this
method, no account is taken of the development potential and the method
is applied to property that rarely comes onto the market. Examples of where
you would apply this approach include hospitals, schools, churches and
power stations.

The valuation is based on the cost of building less obsolescence and
depreciation plus the site value. The approach recognises the value of the
site for the particular use, but as there is no market then it is the cost of
the building that is taken into account. This produces a value for a new
building; older building costs will require an adjustment to represent depre-
ciation (the wearing out of the building fabric) and obsolescence (the inabil-
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ity of older building to facilitate optimum performance, as expected by
current standards of design and technology and the present-day economics
of location and use). The valuation is shown in Example 5.3.

Example 5.3: The contractor’s method

Contractor’s method
Building size 100,000m? @ £200/m?

replacement cost = £20,000,000
Less Obsolescence @ 50%* £10,000,000
Building value £10,000,000
Plus Site value estimated at £1,000,000
Value of property £11,000,000

* Rate of depreciation/obsolescence is commonly in the range
10-60 per cent.

The method is used for certain types of building or uses where the prop-
erties rarely change hands in the market, or the properties may form part
of a larger commercial transaction where the property element is only a
small part. In these circumstances, analysis of prices in the market will
provide little evidence for a useful valuation. Properties of this type are only
offered on the open market where the building use has expired and the
building or site can then be developed for a different use. The market is
thus for an alternative use for the property, such as the conversion of a
redundant church for residential use.

The examples in this category of valuation are usually public sector build-
ings or very specialist premises:

¢ Quasi-public sector buildings — such as churches, schools, libraries, fire,
ambulance and police stations, army barracks.

e Specialist buildings — such as special manufacturing plants, airports
(operational part, not shopping malls), oil-refining plants, sewage disposal
plants, power stations.

The method is often considered as the method of last resort where other
methods are inapplicable or impractical (Scarrett, 1991). The method esti-
mates the replacement cost of the building together with the value of the
land, and then adjusts the estimated replacement cost to reflect the age and
inadequacy of the building. The use is important in rating valuation, com-
pulsory purchase, as mentioned before, and, critically, in the valuation of
company assets.
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The use of this valuation in asset valuation is covered by a number of
regulations. The Asset Valuation Standards Committee (AVSC) of the RICS
has issued guidance notes related to asset valuation. This covers the issue
of valuations in company accounts, Directors’ Reports and other financial
statements, and also when valuations are used for prospectuses and circu-
lars relating to marketing investment. This approach is also used under the
City Code for take-overs and mergers, and for insurance company pur-
poses. The asset valuation was discussed in Chapter 4.

Fire insurance

The contractor’s method is used to assess the reinstatement value of
premises in case of destruction by fire and other perils. A fire insurance val-
uation is the full reinstatement cost and is determined on a basis of build-
ing cost prevailing at the time of reinstatement. To this value must be added
other incidental costs such as architect’s fees, loss of income to a landlord
during the rebuilding period (if applicable) and the cost of alternative accom-
modation. Typically the property is measured and a cost per m? applied
using a database such as the Building Cost Information Service (see Chapter
7 on the residual valuation). This service analyses current contracts for dif-
ferent uses and can thus offer a typical average cost that will need to be
adjusted for location, quality and the scale of building. A further example
of the contractor’s method is shown in Example 5.4.

Example 5.4: The contractor’s method

An operational premises has just been completed by a public sector
body for its own use; it fulfilled the same purpose as an adjoining build-
ing which is 50 years old. Value the older building.

Value of new building:

Cost of land £500,000
Plus Cost of building £2,000,000
Value on cost basis £2,500,000
Value of older building:

Cost of land £500,000
Plus Cost of building £2,000,000

Less depreciation @ 50%

Depreciated cost £1,000,000

Value on cost basis £1,500,000




The Methods of Valuation 67

In Example 5.4, note that the value is markedly lower for the old prop-
erty but that if we decapitalise the capital value to find an annual equiva-
lent rental (to be used in rating perhaps), the rental values will be more
similar. The reason for this is because we will decapitalise the capital value
for the older property at a high vield to reflect the poorer condition, and
this will reflect in decapitalising using a lower multiplier (see Chapter 6 on
the investment method for more details of the capitalisation calculation).

For instance, for the new building:
Capital value £2,500,000
Decapitalise @ 5% divide by 20*
Annual equivalent rent £125,000p.a.

(*Simply from calculation: £2,500,000 x 5% = £2,500,000 x S

100
3 EZ,SO0,000)
- 20
For older building:
Capital value £1,500,000
Decapitalise @ 10% divide by 107

Annual equivalent rent £150,000p.a.
10
10% =—+
( 0% 100)
The 10 per cent is obtained by grossing up the net yield to reflect the depre-
ciation of 50 per cent. So:

. 1 normal yield, where d is the rate of
Depreciated yield = (1-d) x depreciation (50% or 0.5)
1
= % 5% =10%
05 x 5% =10%

A much simpler way to understand is just to depreciate the multiplier by 50
per cent, thus 20 x 50 per cent = 10.

This shows some of the problems of cost-based calculations because, in
practice, in the open market, the depreciated property would suffer from
both a higher yield and a depreciated rent thus:

Rent of new premises = £125,000
Rent of older premises = £125,000 x 50% = £62,500p.a.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter has introduced the basic methods of valuation and, in
particular, has provided an overview of the five methods of valuation.
It has then concentrated on:
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e The profits method.
¢ The contractor’'s method.
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6 The Investment Method

6.1 The investment method of property
valuation

6.2 The valuation of freehold interests

6.3 The tables used in the investment method

6.4 Exercises in the investment method

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter explains the investment method of valuation and the use
of tables in the calculation. It concludes by providing exercises in the
method.

Key terms

Investment method — the capitalisation of net income using a multiple
called the YP (Year's Purchase) to provide a capital value.

Net income — income less outgoings used in the investment method.
YP — a capitaliser based on the yield of the investment.

6.1 THE INVESTMENT METHOD OF PROPERTY VALUATION

To begin this chapter we must revise the investment method introduced in
Chapter 1. Most investors seek to obtain a return on their invested money
either as an annual income or a capital gain; the investment method of val-
uation is traditionally concerned with the former. Where the investor has a
known sum of money to invest on which a particular return is required, the
income can be readily calculated from:

Income = Capital x L Where i=Rate of return required

10

For example, if £1,000 is to be invested with a required rate of return of
8 per cent, the income will be:

69
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8
Income = £1,000 x 100~ £80 p.a.

In this type of problem, the capital is known and the income is to be cal-
culated. In the case of real property, the income (rent) is known, either from
the actual rent passing under the lease or estimated from the letting of
similar comparable properties and the capital value is usually calculated. The
formula above has to be changed so that the capital becomes the subject:

Capital = Income x m
i

What capital sum should be paid for an investment producing £800 per
annum if a return of 8 per cent is required?

Capital = £800 x % =£10,000

This process is known as ‘capitalising’ the income, in other words con-
verting an annual income into a capital sum. It is essential that the income
capitalised is ‘net’, that is clear of any expenses incurred by the investor
under the lease, so therefore the formula can be modified to:

C=NIx g where C = Capital

NI = Net Income
i = Rate of return
For given rates of return, 100/i will be constant, for example:
Rate of return 100/i

10% 10
8% 12.5
12% 8.33

This constant is known as the Present Value of £1 per annum, or more
commonly in real property valuation, Year’s Purchase (abbreviated to YP).
The formula can thus be finally modified to:

C=NIxYP

where C is the capital value, NI is the net income and YP is the Year’s
Purchase. The YP, calculated by using 100/i, will only apply to incomes
received in perpetuity, which are those received from freehold interests let
at a full market rent or rack rent. Incomes to be received for shorter periods
use a YP that must be calculated using a more complex formula, but tables
of constants are available and Parry’s Valuation and Conversion Tables
(Davidson, 1989) are most commonly used. The traditional approach of
Parry’s Tables was to assume that the rental income was received annually
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in arrears, whereas in practice it is received quarterly in advance; although
the tables have been modified, much traditional valuation uses the original
assumption for simplicity. However, whatever income basis is used, the two
essential elements required to perform the calculation are: the period of
time that the investment is to last in terms of years, and the rate of return
required, usually known as the all-risks yield (ARY).

To summarise, to estimate the capital value of an interest in real prop-
erty using the traditional investment method, three elements are required:

(i) the net income to be received;
(ii) the period for which the net income will be received;
(iii) the required vield.

(i) and (ii) will be obtained from the lease of the subject property or, if the
property is unlet, an estimate of the rental value will be obtained from let-
tings of comparable properties. (iii) will be obtained from analysis of sales
of comparable investments. A valuer must therefore have knowledge of two
separate markets: the letting and investment markets.

Example 6.1: An investment method calculation

Assume an industrial premises on the M25 London Orbital Road has
a vield of 5 per cent. The net rental from the premises has been
recently agreed at £100,000p.a. How much would you pay for the
freehold interest?

Net income £100,000p.a.
Year’s Purchase @ 5% in perpetuity X 20YP*
Capital value £2,000,000
wyp_ 100 _100 _

YP= Yield 5 20

In an investment valuation, some important factors should be noted.
Firstly, even in owner-occupied property, a notional rent equivalent to a
market rent is assumed to be passing, thus a rental value can still be assessed
even if no rent is passing. Secondly, the full rental value is also termed a
rack rental, which is the maximum rent for which a property can be let on
the open market for a given set of letting terms; the more usual term is
now either FRV (full rental value) or ERV (estimated rental value). Thirdly,
the letting terms are an important consideration for the valuation; if a tenant
is responsible for all repairs and insurance then the rent will be less than if
the landlord is responsible. The usual situation is that tenants enter into

)

lease where they have (in the terminology: ‘they covenant to . ..’) to pay
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for repairs and insurance. So the tenant covers all outgoings and this is
called a fully repairing and insuring lease (a FRI lease). The landlord there-
fore does not have any outgoings and the rent is the net income. The rack
rental on FRI terms is called the net rack rent.

The comparison method will give rent and capital value, while the invest-
ment and residual valuations will give capital value. The investment method
thus converts the income from a property into a capital sum:

Income x Year’s Purchase (YP) = Capital value
Income/Capital value = Yield
Yield = 1/YP

Letting terms

Here is an example of a lease on full repairing and insuring (FRI) terms:

Rent £10,000p.a. (open market rental)
Repairs @ 15% £1,500p.a. (estimate of repair cost p.a.)
Insurance @ 2.5% £250p.a. (estimate)

Outgoings £11,750p.a.

Therefore the tenant’s outgoings are £11,750p.a. Other outgoings are
property taxes (rates) and water rates, for which the tenant is usually respon-
sible except in multiple letting situations where the landlord pays, appor-
tions the cost between tenants and recovers the apportionment. Example
6.2 is of a lease on internal repairing terms (so the landlord is responsible
for external repairs and insurance, and the tenant is responsible for inter-
nal repairs). The example shows the rent that the landlord would expect in
these circumstances to put him in the same position as a FRI lease.

Example 6.2: Internal repairing lease
Expected rent on internal repairing terms:

Net income (net rent) £10,000p.a. (rack rent)

Repairs allowance £1,500p.a. (estimate of repair cost p.a.)

Insurance @ 2.5% £250p.a. (estimate)

Management fee £1,175p.a. (10% gross rent which
includes repairs and
insurance)

Expected rent £12,925p.a.
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Rental terms

The open market rent is the rent at review and is also called the rack rent,
full rental value (FRV) or estimated rental value (ERV). We will use full rental
value from now on, but it is important for the reader to recognise the full
range of terminology in use, and the other terms are also introduced
depending on the source and purpose of the material. We need to distin-
guish between situations where the rent is historic and has been agreed
some time ago. In an environment where there is economic growth and/or
inflation, we may expect the rental to rise. Thus at the rent review, this his-
toric rent will be reviewed to the full rental value (FRV). This known as a
reversion. Traditional valuations do not explicitly calculate growth rate but
base the valuation on the current open market rental, so the basis of the
calculations is the FRV and in a reversionary situation would be called a
reversionary rent; the rent before reversion is called the term rent. This is
shown in Figure 6.1.

So, at stages during the lease, the rent could be reviewed. The normal
lease is a 20- or 25-year lease with 5-year reviews, but reviews could be 3,
5, 7 or 25 yearly. The longer the review period, the higher the rent at
review (because you have to wait a long time before you can review it again).
To work out the rental value you need to compare the property you are
working on with a comparable property using the comparison method. To
compare properly you need to assess on a unit of comparison. The unit of
comparison for most commercial properties is per square metre of space
that is lettable space; for shops it could be per metre frontage and for land
it could be per hectare. In the assessment of rental it is important to arrive

Rental Actual market rent
Value
£

Reversionary

rent

Term rent
Rent review
Term of
0 Pp  years

Figure 6.1 Term and reversion rents
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at a net figure. In valuing an interest we are interested only in the net income
(the income after outgoings have been paid) to the landlord. If rent contains
amounts for outgoings, they should be deducted. So, rent less outgoings
equals net income.

Outgoings

Outgoings are repairs, insurance premiums, general rates, water rates,
general services and management costs, all of which need to be deducted
from the gross rent to enable calculation of the net income used in invest-
ment valuation. In modern leases, the rent will already be net (FRI terms),
as discussed earlier.

Repairs

Usually the landlord will get the tenant to do all the repairs. If the landlord
is responsible, he may only have to deal with structural or external repairs.
Repair costs should be costed but can be assessed as a percentage of rack
rent as shown in Table 6.1.

Insurance

The property has to be insured for fire insurance which is based on the cost
of the building (the reinstatement cost is based on the area of the building
x the cost of construction per m?. The premium is a percentage of the
reinstatement cost but a rough approximation is 2.5 per cent of rack rent.

Rates

Rates are usually the liability of the tenant. The rates payable are the rate-
able value (RV) of the property times the rate in the £.

Management charges

These are made when there is a need to have a rent collector and to check
that the tenant is in occupation under the terms of the lease (i.e. is abiding

Table 6.1 Examples of repair costs

External % Internal %
Offices and commercial 10 5
Shops 5 5

Residential 30 10
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by the terms). If a net income is being received by the landlord (i.e. on a
FRI lease), sometimes a deduction for management is not made. The charge
is 10 per cent of the rack rent but this may be reduced to 7.5 per cent on
property that is easy to manage.

6.2 THE VALUATION OF FREEHOLD INTERESTS

The freehold interest is perpetual. The leasehold interest is for a number
of years during which the lessee or tenant has a right to occupy and enjoy
the property. This method used is the investment method as set out earlier
where:

¢ Capital value = Net income per annum X Year’s purchase
¢ Net income = Rent received per annum less Outgoings

¢ Year’s Purchase = (as a decimal)

Yield

Table 6.2 shows examples of historic ranges of yields; compare them with
the yields in 1996 shown in Figure 6.2. Although the yields do not appear
to vary widely, there is a range of values according to the type, location
and other factors of the property. This is an important lesson in obtaining
up-to-date information from the market: never rely on textbooks or out-of-

Table 6.2 Examples of yield for different sectors (vields for freehold
interests let on a full rental basis) (Millington, 1984)

Sector Range of vields (%)

Houses, poor 10 12
Houses, good 8 10
Flats 5 8
Factories/warehouses 6 14
Offices 4 9
Shops 4 9
Agricultural land 3 6
Ground rents with reviews 5 7
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Figure 6.2 Yields at April 1996

Table 6.3 IPD initial vields (per cent)

Year/Sector Retail Office Industrial
1995 7.1 8.3 9.5
1996 6.8 8.4 9.5
1997 6.3 7.7 8.7
1998 6.1 7.4 8.4
1999 5.8 7.0 7.8

date information but get up-to-date comparable evidence from the market
to analyse.
The IPD (Investment Property Databank) UK annual index for 1999 (IPD,
2000) shows the initial yields given in Table 6.3 for the period 1995-99.
These vields are derived from the mean of the sample taken and thus
the construction and scope of the sample are extremely important and are
a critical part of the valuation exercise. As an example, the Valuation Office
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in the UK provides detailed data on transactions of which they are notified.
Their Property Market Report provides these details. For instance, in the
6 month period to September 1998 it was notified of 159 transactions in
shop properties in Britain: this sample was analysed to provide an average
vield of 7.6, although the range was between 4 and 16.1 per cent (Valua-
tion Office, 1998).

The basic valuation tables used in calculation are from Parry’s Tables
(Davidson, 1989) as explained earlier. The ones generally in valuations are
summarised as:

(i) Year’s Purchase single rate — used for the capitalisation of income into
capital values.
(ii) Present value of £1 — used to estimate the present capital value of a
future capital sum.
(iii) Year's purchase of a reversion in perpetuity — capitalisation of and
income which is to be received in the future, commonly where a term
and reversion situation exists (see earlier explanation).

The chosen method of valuation depends on whether the income is per-
petual, variable or deferred. A perpetual income occurs where a freehold
property is let at the full rental value. If we take a freehold shop let on full
repairing and insuring terms at a rack rent of £5,000p.a., the net income
is £5,000p.a., and this is already net because the tenant does all the repairs
and pays the insurance. The income is received in perpetuity. The yield is
assumed to be 7 per cent. The lease will not have rent reviews but we do
not need to take into account rent growth if rent is at the full rental value
as the yield allows for the growth:

Net income £5,000p.a.

YP in perpetuity @ 7% 14.286

Capital value £74,430
say £75,000

Zoning of shops

Zoning is a valuation procedure usually adopted in shops. The value reflects
the different areas of activity in the shop, which thus earn more and are of
more value. The front of the shop attracts customers into the shop and a
lot of activity is carried on here, whereas to the rear of the shop the space
may be used for storage and few customers may venture that far. This means
that it may be a more effective valuation method to relate values to differ-
ent areas, and to take a valuation for an area overall could be more correct.
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Where shops are of equal depth in a shopping centre for instance, a valu-
ation is based on a value per metre frontage of the shop. Usually however
the zoning approach will be based on zones of 6 metre depth (although this
may vary, traditionally it was on the basis of a 20ft depth). Zone A is the
front area of the shop and the values are halved back, usually to a zone B
and then the remainder of the shop.

Corner shops with a return frontage may be valued at a higher-than-
zone-A rent, depending on evidence. Large retail units with good circula-
tion may not be considered appropriate for the zoning approach.

Example 6.3: Zoning

A shop has recently been let in a High Street for £5,000p.a.; it has
a frontage of 7 metres and a depth of 20 metres. You are asked to
assess the rent on an adjoining unit that has a frontage of 8 metres
and a depth of 18 metres.

Approach:
Valuation of comparable property:
Let zone A rental = x

Valuation i3
Zone A: 7mx 6m =42m? @ £x/m? =42x
Zone B: 7mx 6m =42m? @ £0.5x/m? =21x
Zone rest: 7mx8m  =56m? @ £0.25x/m” = 14x
Total: depth 20m rent 77x

This rental = £77x = £5,000p.a., therefore x = say £65/m?

Valuation of subject property:
Zone A rental = £70/m? from comparable

Valuation i3
Zone A: 8m x 6m =48m® @ £65/m? = 3,120
Zone B: 8m x 6m =48m® @ £32/m? = 1,536
Zone rest: 8m x 6m =48m® @ £16/m? = 768

Total: depth 18m rent £5,424
This rental value of the subject property is £5,424 p.a.

Examples of the investment method in use are shown in Examples 6.4

and 6.5.
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Example 6.4: An investment valuation

Value the freehold interest in an office block of 50m? at 1 High Street,
which is vacant. 2 High Street is a block of offices of 100 m?, just let
at £10,000p.a. on internal repairing terms. (The landlord is respon-
sible for external repairs and insurance.)

Assumptions: office vield 7 per cent
lease to be on FRI terms

Approach:

Step 1: Capital value = Net income x YP; we know Yield, so we can
calculate the YP (1/vield).

Step 2: We need to find the net income; the offices are not let, so this
will be based on the rental of the adjoining property.

Step 3: Analyse comparable, and find rent per m? on FRI basis (net
income).

Step 4: Do valuation.

Analysis of comparable 2 High Street:

£ £
Rent received 10,000p.a.
less:
external repairs @ 10% 1,000p.a.
insurance @ 2.5% 250p.a.
management fee @ 5% 500p.a.
total outgoings 1,750p.a.
net income 8,250p.a.
net income per m? /100 m?
net income 82.5 per m?
Valuation of 1 High Street:
Net income: £
£82.5 x 50m? 4,125p.a.
YP in perpetuity @ 7% 14.286
Capital value 58,929
say £59,000

If 2 High Street had been sold at £137,500, then this would alter the
valuation because the analysis would show that:

£
Net income: 8,250p.a.
YP in perpetuity X
Capital value 137,500
137,500
YP (X) = W =16.76

Yield = 1/YP = 6%
The valuation would then be redone at a 6 per cent yield.
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Example 6.5: An investment valuation

An office block of 2,000m? lettable area, let on fully repairing and
insuring terms (FRI) and recently let at £200,000p.a. has been sold
for £2.8 million. You have been asked to value the freehold interest in
a nearby office block that is to be let on internal repairing terms.

Approach:

Step 1: Analyse the comparable to work out the full rental value
per m? and the vield.

Step 2: Value the subject property using the rent per m? and yield from
the comparable. Adjust the rent for the different lease terms.

Analysis of comparable:

Rent per m? = % =£100 per m?
Net income £200,000p.a.
Yield = ot IDCOME 49 = =222 00PR. 304 _ oy 70
teld = = pital valve * 109" = "£2 800,000 *100% =sav 7%

Adjustments for subject property

Yield assumed to be 7.5 per cent (lease terms not so good as com-
parable because of repairing obligations).

Rent is 10,000m? x £100 per m? (from comparable) = £100,000p.a.
= net full rental value.

Gross rent will need to include repairs (£10,000p.a.), insurance
(£2,500p.a.) and management (£5,000p.a.); these costs are
assumed.

Valuation:
Gross income: £ £
(rent charged on an internal
repairing lease) 117,500p.a.
less: repairs 10,000
insurance 2,500
management 5,000
Total outgoings 17,500p.a.
Net income 100,000p.a.
YP in perp. @ 7.5% 13.33

Capital value £1,333,000
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6.3 THE TABLES USED IN THE INVESTMENT METHOD

In Chapter 1 we looked at the constant known as the Present Value of £1
per annum, or more commonly in real property valuation, the Year’s Pur-
chase (abbreviated to YP). The formula was given as:

C=NIxYP

where C is the capital value, NI is the net income and YP is the Year’s Pur-
chase. The YP was calculated by using 100/i and only applied to incomes
received in perpetuity, which are those received from freehold interests let
at a full market rent or rack rent. Incomes to be received for shorter periods
use a YP that must be calculated using a more complex formula, but tables
of constants are available and Parry’s Valuation and Conversion Tables
(Davidson, 1989) are most commonly used. In order to understand the
basis of the traditional method and the calculation of compounding and
discounting factors in investment calculations, we need to consider the
tables that underpin the appraisals. In dealing with investment situa-
tions, we are considering the purchase of an asset to generate an income
stream over a period of time. Thus we are converting the value of an income
stream in the future into a present capital sum. The basis of the traditional
approaches, the tables used in Parry’s Tables, is about the conversion
of present and future sums and the conversions of capital and income
streams. The tables deal with the process of compounding and discount-
ing; for instance, the Amount of £1 table will add compound interest to an
initial sum to give a future capital sum. The six main options of conversion
are:

¢ Capital to income and vice versa.

¢ Present sums to future sums and vice versa.

¢ The compounding of sums into the future, and discounting back to the
present.

Summary of the valuation tables

Amount of £1

This table provides the amount £1 will accumulate to over n years at an
interest rate of i per cent p.a. It thus compounds up from a present capital
sum to a future capital sum. The approach is commonly known as com-
pound interest and the formula is A (Amount of £1) = (1 + i)".
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Present value (PV) of £1

The present value of £1 gives the sum which needs to be invested at the
interest rate i to accumulate to £1 in n years. i discounts a future capital
sum to a present capital sum; it is the process of the Amount of £1 in
reverse and the formula is 1/A.

Amount of £1p.a.

This is the amount to which £1 invested annually will accumulate to in n
years. It is thus compounding a present income stream to a future capital
sum and the formula is (A — 1)/i.

Annual sinking fund (ASF) to produce £1

This is the amount which needs to be invested annually to accumulate to
£1 in n years at an interest rate i per cent. It thus discounts back the future
capital sum to a present income stream. The formula is i/(A — 1).

Annuity £1 will purchase

This is the income stream that will be generated over n years by an origi-
nal investment of £1. The income produced will be consumed as part capital
and part interest on capital. Assuming the rates of consumption are the
same, a single rate approach gives an equation i/(1 — PV). If the rates differ,
then the formula (i + s) needs to be used, where s is the annual sinking fund
formula above at a different interest rate from i. Note that this is the way
a mortgage is calculated: the Building Society provides the initial capital
sum and expects repayments of equal amounts throughout the loan period
(assuming fixed rate money), but the repayments consist of interest and
capital (that is, the sinking fund).

Present value (PV) of £1p.a.

The present value of £1p.a. is the present value of the right to receive
£1p.a. over n years. The future income stream is discounted back to the
present value and is the opposite of the annuity calculation. Thus the for-
mulation for a single rate is (1 — PV)/i or for the dual rate, 1/(i + s), where
s is the annual sinking fund at the sinking fund rate. This approach is com-
monly known as the Year’s Purchase and gives the present value of a future
stream of rental income.
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Option Cash flow Formula

Now Future
Amount of £1 (A) Capital sum Capital sum A=1+i)

compounding ——»
PV of £1 (PV) Capital sum Capital sum PV =%

discounting ~—<€*———

. A-1
Amount of £1p.a. Income Capital sum —_—
1

compounding ———»

ASF to produce £1  Income Capital sum ASF=——
-1

(ASF) . .

discounting -€*———

i

Annuity £1 will Capital sum Income 1-pv)
purchase )

compounding ————»

. (1-PV)
PV of £1p.a. (YP)  Capital sum Income YP="——+
1
discounting -€*——— (single rate)

As a summary, we can see that the valuation tables may have a number of
different uses in the analysis of investments, for instance:

Capitalising an income
As in the investment method of valuation:

Income x YP = Capital value

i.e. i =10%, n = 10 years, income = £10p.a.
YP = 10 years @ 10% = 6.1446

£10 x 6.1446 = £61.46

YP compounds then discounts

i,e. PVof £1p.a. =

Amt of £1p.a. in 10 years @ 10% £15.9374
x PV £1 in 10 years @ 10% x 0.3855

£6.1439
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Discounting costs
Cost £100

PV £1in 10 years @ 10% 0.3855
Amount to be invested now £38.55

Sinking funds

Estimating the contingency to be put away each year to pay for a future
cost:

Future cost £100
ASF 10 years @ 10% 0.0627
Annual sinking fund (ASF) £6.27p.a.

Mortgage instalments

The mortgage tables are based on the annuity that £1 will purchase. The
annuity represents mortgage payments that are made up of instalments of
interest and capital.

Discounted cash flow

These tables are used in investment analysis as already discussed:

e PV of £1 is used to discount capital sums.
e PV of £1p.a. is used to discount incomes.

Annual equivalents

The tables can also be used for working out annual equivalents of capital
sums, either capital costs or capital receipts (premiums).
A summary of the uses of the valuation tables is shown in Box 6.1.

6.4 EXERCISES IN THE INVESTMENT METHOD

Exercises in the use of the valuation tables and the investment method are
set out below:

Valuation tables exercise

1. If £500 is invested at 9 per cent p.a., how much will have accumulated
after 12 years?

2. How much would you pay today for the right to receive £7,000 in 6
years, using a discount rate of 11 per cent p.a.?

3. If £500 is invested each year at 9 per cent p.a., how much will have
been accumulated after 12 years?
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BOX 6.1: USES OF THE VALUATION TABLES -
A SUMMARY

The tables used in the calculations have underlying formulae that have been
given above. Any calculation can be carried out by a number of methods:

e Using the tables to look up the relevant multipliers.

¢ Using the equation which underpins the multiplier and using a calculator
to do the arithmetic (a financial calculator is best, but essentially the cal-
culator must have a facility to raise a number to a power as the basis com-
pound interest calculation requires this: A = (1 + i)"). The calculations will
thus use a function denoted x¥.

e Using a computer spreadsheet, such as Excel, to input the equations and
do the calculation. The spreadsheet has a number of functions that can be
utilised to make the input easier.

¢ Using a computer program that will carry out these functions; this will have
been programmed professionally.

. If a freehold property has a rental value of £2,000p.a. and the yield for

this investment is 8 per cent, what is:
(i) the Year’s Purchase and,
(ii) the capital value?

Answers

1

This is calculating the amount of £500 in the future.
The formula for the amount of £1 is (1 + i)” where i=0.09 n=12
Amount of £500 = £500 x (1 + 0.09)!? = £1,406

This is calculating the present value.
The formula for the present value of £1 is 1/(1 + i)* where i=0.11
n==6
Present value of £7,000 = £7,000 x ;6 =£3,742
(1+0.11)
This is calculating the amount of £1p.a.

The formula for the amount of £1p.a. is (1 + i) — 1)/i where
i=0.09 n=12

Amount of £500p.a. = £500 x M =£10,070

1
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(i) Year’s Purchase for a freehold is 1= L =12.5
i 0.08

(ii) Capital value = Net income x Year’s Purchase
=£2,000 x 12.5 = £25,000

Investment method exercise

1.

The net income from an investment is £500 p.a. in perpetuity. Investors
in this type of investment expect a 6 per cent return. How much will
the investor pay for the right to receive this income?

. An investor has paid £25,000 for the freehold interest in a shop. The

rent is equivalent to a 9 per cent yield on the capital invested. Calculate
the rent.

. An investor paid £15,000 for a shop. The net rental is £1,000 p.a. What

is the vield on the investment?

The net income is £37,000p.a. in perpetuity. Investors require a 9 per
cent return. How much will an investor pay for the right to receive this
income?

Explain what a YP is.

Answers

1

The net income does not require deductions for outgoings like repairs,
management and insurance.
The return is 6 per cent and the income is in perpetuity, therefore:

1 100
YP = 006 6 =16.667 YP
Valuation:
Net income £500p.a.
YP in perp. @ 6% 16.667YP
Capital value £8,334

Price paid is the capital value = £25,000
Shop is freehold so the rent is received in perpetuity. Yield is 9%.
9% of £25,000 = £2,250p.a. = rent

Or in valuation format:

Net income call £x
YP in perp. @ 9% 111 ~

Capital value £25,000 (= 1/0.09)
Therefore net income x = £25,000 = £2.250p.a.

11.1
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Note rent is net of outgoings. Any liability to repair, manage, insure or
pay out costs would need to be added to get to an appropriate gross
income:

Net income £2,250p.a.
add repairs @ 10% £225p.a.
insurance @ 5% £113p.a.
management fees @ 10% £225p.a.
Gross income required £2,813p.a.
3 Capital value £15,000
Net rental income £1,000p.a.
.., £1,000 o 0
Yield ——£15,000 x100% =6.67%
Valuation:
Net income £1,000
YP in perp. @ x% Y
Capital value £15,000
£15,000
YPW="51000 ~1°
i 1 1 0
Yield = YP=-15° 0.0667 =6.67%

4 Net income is £37,000 in perpetuity so property is freehold.
9 per cent return is the yield on the capital cost.
Need to find the capital value.

Valuation:

Net income £37,000
YP in perp. @ 9% 11.1
Capital value £410,700

This is the price an investor will pay for the income.

5 A YP is a capitalising factor which converts a future stream of income
to a present capital sum.
It is the present value of an income of £1p.a. discounted on a year-to-
year basis at the yield rate.
(Strictly, it is the income per period discounted on a period-to-period
basis, so the same approach can be used so long as the income per
period ties in with the number of periods used.)

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

¢ This chapter has developed the investment method of valuation.
¢ |t has explained the use of valuation tables.
¢ [t has given examples of, and exercises in, the investment method.
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7  The Residual Method

7.1 Introduction

7.2 The residual valuation

7.3 The decision to redevelop or refurbish
7.4 Costs-in-use

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter sets out the residual valuation and its various components.
The chapter also considers the decision to redevelop or refurbish and
summarises the cost-in-use calculation.

Key terms

Residual valuation — method used to derive the site value or
developer's profit in a development appraisal.

Cost-in-use — cost calculation which includes on-going expenditure as
well as the costs of installation.

7.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter will outline the development method of valuation called the
residual method. Before explaining the method, a number of initial points
need to be made:

1. The residual valuation is a calculation that estimates the completed devel-
opment value and deducts costs and profit to arrive at a residual land
value.

2. Such a method is prone to error and can result in a wide range of
answers depending on the assumptions made, the quality of inputs and
the nature of the calculation carried out.

3. A more suitable approach would be the use of a direct comparison
method but the problem with this relates to the fact that the end value
of the development will determine the land value. In practice, develop-
ers will envisage different development proposals and thus the end values

89
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will vary, making direct comparison of projects and thus land values
difficult.

The residual valuation can be used in cases where existing buildings or
sites are redeveloped. In these cases, any buildings or substructures may
require demolition. The valuation method can also be used for the cal-
culation involving the refurbishment of buildings.

. The basic calculation involves the deduction of all costs (except the land

cost but including a required profit) from the development value to obtain
the residual land value. If the land value is known or estimated, then the
inclusion of this in the costs, once deducted from the development value,
will provide the profit arising on the project. This profit in this calcula-
tion is called the developer’s profit.

More sophisticated analysis, taking into account changes in the revenues
and costs over the development period, can produce more realistic
answers.

There is, however, a major problem with the residual valuation — this is
the time element. Normal transactions in property could take up to 6
months to complete but there may be very long time-horizons involved
in development projects. This long time-frame is a result of the time
taken to: assemble the land for the development site; obtain possession
of existing premises and demolish them; obtain planning permission;
construct the building; and let or sell the completed building. These
stages are the critical steps on the path of the development project, all
demanding particular knowledge of technical and managerial expertise.
Other activities, such as obtaining finance for the development and mar-
keting the completed building, all take time and resources but could run
in parallel with the critical activities.

There is a major error in calculating the finance rates used in the
calculation. These finance rates are based on short-term market rates
and include the element of inflation/growth. However inflation and
growth are not built into the elements of the calculation, but generally
values are conservatively calculated at the commencement of the project,
as are costs. Inflation and growth can be built into the calculation but
may cause greater inaccuracy.

A second problem of the financial side relates to the nature of the finance
rate used. This is a loan rate and thus assumes 100 per cent borrow-
ing. This assumption is conservative and puts a high price on the finance
costs, which is not realistic. Any project needs to be funded by both
debt (borrowed money) and equity (buyer’s own money or shareholders’
money). Commonly, as seen in house purchase, 30 per cent of the
money is provided by equity and 70 per cent by debt. The point of this
is that the rate charged on equity may be less than that of the debt, and
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thus the overall rate (known as the weighted cost of capital) is less than
the market rate for the debt money (Isaac, 1996).

Property development is, as indicated earlier, the process by which build-
ings are erected for occupation or for sale/investment. Owners may build
premises for their own occupation, for example major retailers may erect
supermarkets, alternatively property developers may construct the same
type of buildings for lease or sale. The process may be the same although
some aspects of the financial appraisal may be different. A building offered
for sale or investment is driven by a profit motive, a building for owner
occupation may be related to the profitability of the enterprise within the
building and thus profit motivation may be redirected or constrained. Prop-
erty development is much like any other economic activity, satisfying wants
with the application of scarce resources. In the case of property develop-
ment, the wants are for space to work in, sell from, live in and enjoy rec-
reational activities in. The process by which buildings are erected to provide
space employs the key factors of production. This involves land for the site,
capital for purchase of the land and materials, labour to erect a building and
manage the process, and the entrepreneurial talent of the property devel-
oper to initiate the process and bring the pieces together.

A simplified approach to property development from inception to com-
pletion would involve a number of stages. In the first case there would
have to be a need for the space, either a direct demand from a potential
owner—occupier or indirect demand as assessed in market conditions
(demand outstripping supply and driving the price of space upwards). If a
developer intends to develop a site then there would need to be a situation
where the sale price or completed value exceeds the costs of development
involved for the process to be initiated. This surplus profit, arising from the
profit in the development and also the size of the profit, will need to reflect
the efforts and risk of the developer as entrepreneur. If market research
carried out on a proposed development shows sufficient demand exists, then
the developer’s architect can produce sketch plans for the proposals, as
these will need to be discussed with the planning authority. In the UK, as in
most countries, development of land is subject to restriction under planning
regulations and this is the first hurdle in the development process. Generally,
an informed planning consultant will be invaluable at this stage, by knowing
the type and scale of development that may be acceptable to the local author-
ity, and the consultant may also be able to negotiate the most advantageous
bargaining position. In parallel with these sketch plans, an initial develop-
ment appraisal is drawn up. On the basis of the scale and type of develop-
ment, a value can be assessed and rough costs calculated, which would
indicate a level of profit and whether it is worth continuing further.
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This calculation is called a residual valuation. The costs of construction
are usually assessed by comparison. There are databases and source books
that analyse recent building contracts in different locations for different types
of buildings. A cost per square metre can thus be calculated and applied to
the gross internal floor area of the building (measured between the internal
faces of external walls).

Further informal discussion with the planning authority will lead to a
formal application to the planning authority. This application may be for
outline permission (a permission indicating the type and density of the devel-
opment) and subsequently for detailed permission. Once the detail of the
scheme is known, then a detailed appraisal can be carried out. The plan-
ning application would require detailed drawings and these would now be
complemented by additional drawings from the architect. In a traditional
approach, the drawings are costed in a bill of quantities by the quantity
surveyor. In the early stages of the design process, the quantity surveyor
will prepare a preliminary estimate, probably using one of the methods
described by Seeley (1996) (these methods include unit, floor area, cube,
approximate quantities, elemental comparative or interpolation). The valuer
will provide updated values, and rents and funds will be raised to purchase
the site (if not in ownership) and also for the costs of construction and ancil-
lary costs.

With finance provided, a building contract can be entered into and the
building erected. At the same time, the valuer or agent will be advising on
a marketing strategy and seeking possible purchasers or occupiers so that
once the building is completed there will be a minimal period when the
property is empty and not providing a return. The return will be an income
if the property is let and retained as an investment, or as a capital sum if
the building is sold. If the building is built and occupied by the owner as
developer, then a notional rent can be assumed to be passing.

Development and value

Key terms

Gross development value (GDV) - value of completed
development.

Existing use value (EUV) or current use value — existing use value
before development.

Development value exists where land or buildings can increase in value by
the application of capital. It may be that this arises from a change of use
of the land permitted by planning permission but the property development
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process usually implies the application of capital in the form of works to
the land. The residual valuation, one of a number of techniques of prop-
erty appraisal that assess the profitability of the proposals, calculates the
increased capital value of the land because of the proposals. From this value,
the calculation deducts the costs of works and the original value of the land
and buildings. In an economic sense, costs should include a ‘normal’ profit
that reflects the risk and commitment of the developer, however, depend-
ing on the price paid for the land, an ‘abnormal’ profit may arise because
of the particular circumstances. The analysis can be summarised thus:

Basically: value - cost = profit

However, the residual valuation differentiates between the cost of construc-
tion and the cost of the existing land/building — the existing use value (EUV).
The value of the completed development is termed the gross development
value (GDV).

Thus: GDV - (building costs + EUV) = profit

If the land value is known because it has been agreed as a purchase price,
then this equation provides the calculation of the profit. However the general
case is that the land cost is not known and thus the equation is rearranged:

GDV - (building costs + profit) = EUV

The EUV, being the existing value of land and buildings on the site, will
thus determine whether or not a normal profit is earned. For instance, if
the actual land cost negotiated is lower than the EUV determined by the
above calculation, then the profit increases, assuming the other costs to be
static, and an abnormal profit is achieved. The need to use a residual
valuation approach arises because of the uniqueness of land and property
as an asset class. This is reinforced by the uniqueness, in most situations,
of development proposals for each site. If equal-sized plots were being sold
in the same location with the same density and type of development, then
a form of comparative analysis could be applied, a price per hectare for
instance. In these cases, adjustments would need to be made in the com-
parison and these adjustments, depending on their scale and complexity,
could easily undermine the use of comparable valuation. The residual
method has been criticised by the Lands Tribunal (the highest court for
dealing with property valuation and compensation issues in the UK) because
of the number of variables in the calculation, and the assumptions and
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variances underlying the calculations used as inputs to the valuation. The
residual valuation has to be used in practice in most cases, as we have said,
because the components of the development value and the profitability of
each project will differ dramatically depending on the type and scale of the
development proposals. The main variables in the calculation are:

Value of the site:
Depends on location, use (under planning law), topography, legal con-
straints, ground conditions, services and access (for example).

Value of the proposed development:
Depends on demand, use, density, design, layout and infrastructure.

Cost of construction:
Depends on size, shape and height, design, type of buildings, planning
constraints on buildings and landscaping, site conditions, provision of ser-
vices and access.

The extent of the variations in these factors means that each site may
be unique and thus the calculation for the site value is a residual based on
what can be achieved as development on the site. To summarise, there are
two approaches to valuing the development potential of a site:

(i) A comparative approach
This is useful if there are direct comparables of sales but this is unlikely
in a complex development situation where each development and thus
the potential of each site will be unique.

(ii) A residual valuation
Here the gross development value is assessed either by a capital com-
parison approach or by the investment method (the capitalisation of an
estimated future income flow using an appropriate multiplier). The net
value from the site is calculated by deduction of the costs of building and
a profit figure from the gross development value; this is thus a residual
calculation.

As considered earlier, the traditional methods used in valuation are tradi-
tionally called the five methods:
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the investment method;

the comparison method,;

the contractor’s method (a cost-based method);
the profits method; and

the residual valuation.

The residual valuation, as we have already seen, is used in development
situations but, in fact, this valuation may rely heavily on the other methods.
It may use the investment method to determine the gross development value
of the proposed development. It may use the comparison method to
compare capital values or site values calculated with examples from the
market. The costs calculated for building works are a form of the contrac-
tor’s method approach. Depending on the type of property, the profits
method may also be used to determine the gross development value.

Summary

A final point to be made, as discussed earlier, about the valuation of the
site is that the value of land is determined by its use and intensity of use.
Land may have development potential but it will require planning permis-
sion for any form of development except for some minor works and some
changes of use. The Town and Country Planning Acts determine this
process of granting permission to develop. The Town and Country Plan-
ning Act 1990 basically defines development as:

the carrying out of building and other operations on, under or over

land.

A residual valuation is very sensitive to slight variations in its different ele-
ments such as rent, initial yields, construction costs, finance rate and build-
ing period. Because of this, the Lands Tribunal has regarded this method
as one of the last resort (First Garden City Ltd v. Letchworth Garden City
Group, 1966).
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7.2 THE RESIDUAL VALUATION

Simplified residual calculation

The basis of calculation is:

value of completed development

less cost of carrying out development
equals amount available to pay for the land.

This basis of calculation is shown in Example 7.1.

Example 7.1: A simplified residual valuation

Proposed office development: city centre site

Project details

Gross area 10,000 m? Net lettable area, say 80%
Rental value £200/m?

Building cost ~ £700/m?

Profit as a percentage of cost  20%

Appraisal £ £
1. Gross development value:
Net lettable area 8,000
Rental value/m? 200
Rental income 1,600,000
Yield (%) 10 10 YP
Capital Value 16,000,000

2. Development costs:
Building costs:

10,000m? @ £700/m? 7,000,000

Fees, say 1,000,000

Interest on costs, say 3,000,000

Total cost 11,000,000

Profit @ 20% cost 2,200,000

Total cost plus profit 13,200,000
3. Amount left for land purchase £2,800,000

This calculation has been redone to show the formulae which need to be
used on a spreadsheet:
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Spreadsheet example

A B c D E F G

1 Proposed office development: city centre site

2 |

3 Project details

4 Gross area ‘ 10,000 m? Net lettable, area say 80%

5 Rental value 200/m?

6 Profit as a % of cost 20.00%

7

8 Appraisal £ FORMULA USED

9 Gross development value:
10 Net lettable area 8,000 C4*G4
11 Rental value/m? 200 Cc5
12 Rental income 1,600,000 E10*E11
13 Yield @ 10% 10|YP 1/C13
14 16,000,000/ E12*E13
15 Development costs
16 Building costs
17 10,000 m? | @ £700.00 7,000,000 B17*D17
18 Fees, say 1,000,000
19 Interest on costs, say 3,000,000
20 Total cost 11,000,000 SUM(E17:E19)
21 Profit @ 20% 2,200,000 E20*C21
22 Total cost plus profit 13,200,000| E20+E211
23 Amount left for land purchase 2,800,000\ F14-F22
Notes:

Cells C13, G4, C21 are formatted as decimals and will calculate as a decimal not a percentage so in G13 the
formula is 1/C13 not 100/C13.

The costs in a residual valuation, which have to be deducted from the gross
development value include:

building costs and fees;

fees on letting and advertising;

interest on costs;

contingencies;

purchase costs of land (not the land value, as this is the residual). Pur-
chase costs would include fees on purchase and compensation for tenants
to obtain vacant possession.

These elements are discussed in more detail in the following sections,
showing examples of costs and other elements of the valuation:
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Table 7.1 Building costs (BCIS, 1999a)

£/m?

Offices, general 792
Offices, with air conditioning 904
Offices, 6+ storey 1049
Shops, general 488
Shopping centres 508
Hypermarkets, supermarkets up to 1,000 m? 408
1,000-7,000m? 660

Warehouse 354
Retail warehouses 332
Factories, general 370

1. Building costs

Building cost figures are averaged out from recent contracts involving work
of the same type. The figures can be obtained from the Building Cost Infor-
mation Service (BCIS). These are mean UK figures from the Quarterly
Review of Building Prices (BCIS, 1999a) and are shown in Table 7.1.
BCIS online provides continuous updated cost data in the UK to
subscribers.

Costs per square metre are the national average tender prices for con-
struction works (exclusive of external works, contingencies, professional
fees and VAT) divided by the gross internal floor area of the project. The
regional variation of costs for London was around +18 per cent in March
1999. VAT (Value Added Tax) is payable on new contracts, except housing,
and on refurbishment contracts at 17.5 per cent but can be recovered where
developers/builders are registered for VAT.

Gross internal areas are the gross areas measured from the inside of
external walls — see the definition in Box 7.1. This measurement contrasts
with other measures used in the development process. Planning matters are
dealt with on gross external areas while rentals are sometimes dealt with
on a net internal basis where common parts and services and access-ways
are excluded. Rule-of-thumb guidelines for converting gross to net may be
0 per cent for new industrial/warehouses, 10 per cent for industrial prop-
erty generally, and 20 per cent for shops and offices and older industrial
units.

2. Fees
The fees are assessed at 12.5 per cent of costs to include architects’, struc-
tural engineers’ and quantity surveyors’ fees.
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BOX 7.1: DEFINITION OF GROSS INTERNAL FLOOR
AREA FOR COSTING PURPOSES (BCIS, 1999a)

The gross internal floor area is defined as the total of all enclosed spaces ful-
filling the functional requirement of the building measured to the internal struc-
tural face of the enclosing walls. It includes areas occupied by partitions,
columns, chimney breasts, internal structural walls and the like. Also included
are lift plant, tank rooms and the like above the main roof space. Sloping
surfaces such as staircases, galleries, tiered terraces and the like are measured
flat plan.

3. Contingency

This may be between 0 and 3 per cent, depending on the nature of the
project, the contract for construction and possible risk of variation of cost.
It is based on the total cost of building, including external works, fees and
interest charges.

4. Finance charges

An allowance for finance charges is used; it is based on calculating interest
on the total building cost for half the building period. This approximation
represents the fact that not all the money for the contract will be required
at the beginning of the contract but that money will be drawn down as work
proceeds. The total cumulative cost is represented by the S-curve of con-
struction costs over the building period (see Figure 7.1). For the fees, as
these are front-ended in respect of the work done for drawings and cost
estimates, the interest on fees is estimated as being over two-thirds of the
building period.

The builder is paid monthly but the bank may assess interest on out-
standing amounts on a monthly or quarterly basis, thus interest should be
compounded on the same basis. On a simple analysis, simple interest is
used and only compounded if the building period exceeds one year and
then on an annual basis. The interest rate can be assessed as a margin over
the base rate. One may use a margin of, say, 3 per cent to reflect the nature
of the developer and scheme, giving, say, 9 per cent if the base rate is 6
per cent.

5. Letting fees

Generally these are 10 per cent of the initial rents to be received but if there
are joint agents as on a larger scheme, they will operate jointly for a total
fee of 15 per cent of the rents. Advertising, depending on the project, is,
say, a spot figure of 0.5-1.0 per cent of the gross development value.
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Contract value (per cent)
100%
40%
Start 50% 100% Construction period
(per cent)

Figure 7.1 S-curve of building costs

6. Development period

The development period includes the planning period, the building contract
and the void period. The planning period is the time required to get plan-
ning permission, drawings and building costs, assume, say, 6 months as an
example. The void period is the time to let the property, which depends
on circumstances. In this example, 3 months has been allowed, which is
likely to be optimistic. This example assumes 9 months for the building con-
tract. The application of finance to the phases of development is shown in
Figure 7.2. From the figure it can be seen that interest is charged on the
whole cost for the void period.

7. Gross development value
This is an investment valuation based on:

Net income from completed development x Year’s Purchase @ devel-
opment yield = Gross development value

8. Developer’s profit

This is a percentage based on the Gross development value or total cost;
Say, 20 per cent total cost or approximately 17 per cent Gross develop-
ment value. These two figures are interrelated:
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Development periods:
Total development period

<l -

e L
Planning Building Void period Investment
period contract sold or

refinanced
- —l -
- L L
0 6 months 15 months 18 months

Interest charges:

Land purchase costs 18 months

»
Ll
1 building costs and 2/, fees for 9 Total cost and
months fees for 3
months
|- .
» »

Advertising, contingency and
agents’ fees for 3 months

—

Figure 7.2 Application of finance to development periods

Gross development value (GDV) — Total cost (TC) = Profit (P) (equation 1)

If P=0.2 TC, then, rearranging, TC = O_PZ (equation 2)

Inserting the value of TC from equation 2 into equation 1, equation 1
becomes:

GD\/—%:P, thus GDV = p4 == - 0:2P+P _12P .,

0.2 0.2 0.2

thus P = G% ~16.67% GDV
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9. Notes on residual valuation

There are so many variables in the residual valuation that inaccuracy can
easily occur. Changes in the elements, especially the Gross development
value, can dramatically alter the residual land value. Valuers can therefore
alter the variables to determine the outcome as a form of sensitivity analy-
sis; this is discussed later.

The residual calculation can be extended to devise a ground rent calcu-
lation in situations where there are partnerships between developers and
landowners, and the developer takes a lease of the site. Ground rent is the
common term for a rental arising to the owner of land when a lessee has
the right to build upon the site.

7.3 THE DECISION TO REDEVELOP OR REFURBISH

The decision to redevelop or refurbish is thus a difficult one. Assume one
requires a continuity of use then temporary accommodation may be
required if premises require refurbishment or the development of new
premises need to take place in parallel. The key questions that need to be
asked are:

1. What is the total cost of construction?
2. What is the cost of the land?

3. What costs of relocation are there?

4. What values can be realised on sale?

If a building is being refurbished, then the site may already be owned but
due allowance should be made for the value that the building would achieve
if it were to be sold. An approach to this problem is shown in the next
section.

The decision to redevelop/refurbish

Assume an office building requires refurbishment. To compare the cost with
a redevelopment option one needs to consider the following costs:

Refurbishment

¢ Historic cost of premises

e plus Cost of refurbishment
¢ plus Disturbance costs

This can be compared to the development option:
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Table 7.2 Example of the refurbishment decision against
redevelopment

Refurbishment New building

Historic cost 0.1m Cost 1.7m
Unrefurbished value 1m Worth  2m

Cost of refurbishment 0.3m

Refurbished value 2m

Book profit if retained: Book profit on completion:
2m - (Im+ 0.3m + 0.1m) = 0.6m 2m - (1.7m) = 0.3m

Realised profit if disposed of: Pl L sslle = LS

2m —(0.3m + 0.1m) = 1.6m

Development

e Cost of site

¢ plus Cost of construction

¢ plus Cost of relocation

e less Sale of existing building

The two summaries in Table 7.2 give an example of the process. The total
costs involved are shown but now need to be compared with the value of
the premises on the completion of the work (that is, net value of the refur-
bished property compared to the net value of the new development). Value
can be realised on disposal because property assets may appreciate. In this
situation it is important to be careful how assets are accounted for, as assets
are valued at market value.

7.4 COSTS-IN-USE

In the post-construction phase of a development, the valuation tables can
be used for calculations of costs which can then be inserted into investment
appraisals. The cost can be used to calculate an appropriate adjusted value.
Costs and expenses, like income, are time-related and thus the approaches
used to discount are the same. In this case, values are replaced by costs
and are negative rather than positive cash flows. In reality, a net cash flow
would be used in calculation for each time period. Example 7.2 shows a
cost-in-use calculation.
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Example 7.2: A cost-in-use calculation

Data

A client has purchased an industrial building for owner occupation at a price
of £200,000. A building survey has been carried out and its present condi-
tion noted. A schedule of maintenance and repairs has been drawn up with
the following estimates of cost:

¢ The annual repair and maintenance allowance is calculated at £20,000 p.a.
e The roof will require a major overhaul after 5 years at a cost of £30,000.

e The electrical system will require replacement after 2 years at a cost of
£5,000.

Using current cost estimates and a discount rate of 8 per cent, estimate the
total true cost of purchase.

Approach

¢ All costs need to be in terms of a present capital value.

e The purchase cost is a present value so no adjustment is necessary.

e The repair cost is a future annual cost to be adjusted to a present capital
cost (this is the Present Value of £1 p.a. or Year’s Purchase).

¢ The roof and electrical work are future capital costs which need to be dis-
counted to present capital costs (Present Value of £1).

e The true cost is the total of the adjusted cost.

Calculation
The calculations use Parry’s Valuation Tables or the equations shown in
section 6.3.

True cost of purchase:

1. Present costs
Cost of purchase £200,000
2. Future annual costs

Repair and maintenance £20,000
YP in perp. 12.5
£250,000
3. Future capital costs

Roof cost £30,000

PV £1 in 2yrs @ 8% 0.681

Present capital cost £20,430
Electrical cost £5,000

PV £1 in Syrs @ 8% 0.857

Present capital cost £4 285

Total true cost of purchase £474,715
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The calculation is simplified in the sense that in reality the repair cost
would not go on indefinitely without refurbishment or demolition, and also
the client may well move and sell on the property after a period of time. The
calculation does give an approach to the whole cost associated with use of a
building.

Exercise question

Discuss the use and limitations of the residual valuation.

Outline answer

The residual valuation is a method of calculating a residual site value
in a development calculation by deducting the costs of development
(including profit but excluding land costs) from the Gross development
value (GDV). An example of the method is shown earlier in this section.

There are a number of problems with regard to this approach, which
need to be discussed. There are so many variables in the calculation
that errors easily occur. The answer is a residual and small variances
in the major inputs to the calculation can magnify the changes in the
residual. The inputs to the calculation are spot figures whereas ranges
of figures with probabilities may be more appropriate. Finally, the cal-
culation does not cope well with changes over time, in terms of rent
levels, interest rates or the inflation of building costs, for example. This
approach contrasts with a cash flow approach, which can reflect a
stream of income or costs through the project. The cash flows can be
divided into periods and a net inflow of cash or outflow, as the case
may be, can be calculated.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

e This chapter has outlined a valuation approach to assist in
development valuations by introducing the basic residual calculation
and its components.

¢ Development valuations use a residual form of valuation that can be
used to calculate the land value for the development site.

e An alternative, surer approach is to use a comparison approach to
determine the site value. This may be impractical because the
development value that determines the site value may be very
different depending on the type of development envisaged.

¢ The chapter has also examined the economic decision to redevelop
or refurbish and considered costs-in-use.
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8 Discounted Cash Flow
Approaches

8.1 A critique of the traditional methods of
valuation

8.2 Capital appraisal techniques

8.3 Discounted cash flow approaches

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter introduces a discussion of the traditional approaches to
property valuation. It considers various approaches to capital appraisal.
It then goes on to examine discounted cash flow approaches in detail.

Key terms

Discounted cash flow (DCF) — the discounting of future cash flows
back to a present value.

Net present value (NPV) — the net present value of the discounted
future cash flows.

Internal rate of return (IRR) — the discount rate which would give an
NPV = 0.

8.1 A CRITIQUE OF THE TRADITIONAL METHODS
OF VALUATION

The distinction between valuation and analysis

The property crash in the early 1970s focused attention on valuation
methods used in the profession. Over the period since then, there have
been a number of pressures on valuation professionals to improve the
quality and standard of the valuations produced. This has arisen for a
number of reasons. Large-scale investment, for instance, has taken place
in recent years and the investment advisers acting for the institutions and
investors are looking for more analysis in the valuations that have been
carried out. Because of situations that have occurred in the past involving

109
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institutional investors, where actual returns on property investments have
not reflected target returns set out to accord with the price paid, there has
been much debate about the validity of the methods used. There is also
much more awareness in the market now in terms of the responsibilities of
the professional to clients’ demands. Clients are now demanding that the
property professional should not just act as an agent but provide, during
the buying and selling process, some idea to the client of the forecast of
income arising from the investment in the future.

This added awareness and monitoring of valuation procedures has been
a subject of debate in the professional institutions as well as in the market-
place. Recent suggestions by leading members of the RICS are that
valuations should try to reflect a view of the future movement of prices, and
to forecast potential supply-and-demand situations that may affect price
levels. The findings of the Mallinson Report (RICS, 1994) on commercial
property valuation suggested that the valuer should get clearer instructions
from the client and should more clearly explain the valuation of property
in company accounts. In addition, the report suggested that there should
be more comment on valuation risk factors, price trends and economic
factors, and the use of more refined discounted cash flow techniques.
The recent debate and the earlier debates have combined to demand that,
in what has previously been called property valuation, a more extensive
service of property analysis be provided. Generally the approach that should
be taken (see Baum and Crosby, 1995) is that the overall property appraisal
should be clearly divided between property valuation for purchase, that is
the valuation for market price, and the subsequent analysis of performance.
In the first case, this is defined as valuation and in the second case it is
analysis, the overall process being generally termed ‘property appraisal .
Thus the valuation of a property, that is the calculation of the exchange
value of property, is different from the subsequent analysis of the perfor-
mance of the investment, which is the appraisal of its actual worth. Calcu-
lations before and after purchase will not agree because of the lack of
perfect knowledge in the market at the time of the transaction, and the
inability to predict future changes in the cash flow and the risk profile of
the investment accurately. Thus the techniques discussed later on in this
book can be used to anticipate the market value, or else to record
and analyse the progress of the investment subsequent to purchase.
However, it is still important to understand the difference between these
two approaches.

The argument of using discounted cash flow (DCF) approaches against the
traditional ‘Year’s Purchase’ investment method is extensive. Problems arise
because the price paid in the market may not reflect the present worth of
the future cash flows, and these problems relate to the fact that property
appraisal needs to distinguish between the valuation for purchase price and
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the analysis of the worth of an investment. A DCF approach appears to be
the only realistic approach to dealing with over-rented property where exist-
ing contractual rents under a lease that have been agreed in the past are now
higher than those generally evident in the market for equivalent properties.
In the present U.K. market, the use of traditional techniques may no longer
be defended. The traditional methods may not be able to cope with issues
such as rent-free periods, reverse premiums, tenant incentives, bad debts,
negative growth and over-rented properties. So the use of the DCF should
be paramount, although it needs to be applied appropriately; the DCF
approach may be no more consistent than the conventional method, and
both approaches require some modification to be used in a way that is
compatible with basic economic concepts (French and Ward, 1995).

The application of valuation methodology requires the definitions to be
clear and, on the basis of these definitions, the debate between the various
methodologies can be clarified. The distinction between market price,
valuation and worth must be clarified in this context and to a certain extent
we have discussed this in Chapter 4. Baum et al. (1996) suggest the fol-
lowing approach:

e Market price is the recorded consideration paid for a property.

e Valuation is the estimate of the most likely selling price, the assessment
of which is the most common objective of the valuer. This ‘most likely
selling price’ is commonly termed ‘open market value’ in the UK but is
different from the concept of worth.

e Worth is the underlying investment value and consists of two aspects.
Firstly, individual worth is the maximum bid price of an individual pur-
chaser. Such a bid would take into account the appropriate use of all
available data relating to the individual, the property and the market. Sec-
ondly, market worth is the price at which an investment would trade on
a market where buyers and sellers were using all available information in
an efficient manner.

The application of these different concepts leads to adoption of different
valuation approaches, Peto et al. (1996) have suggested that, in terms of
market value, the valuer should adopt a model that gives most help in
adjusting evidence for the inherent differences between one property and
another, and gives the client the level of detail required. In this considera-
tion they adopt a strategy covering the all-risks yield, the short-cut DCF and
the full DCF:

e All-risks yield: In most cases, they argue, the all-risk yield approach
concentrating on the initial yield is still the most acceptable approach.
It is based on comparable evidence and thus, in markets where there
is sufficient evidence, it can give the best indication of market sentiment.
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e Short-cut DCF: For more complicated situations, or as a check on
the all-risks vield approach, a short-cut DCF approach may be appro-
priate. This makes more rational use of comparable evidence, its
most obvious being in reversionary situations, whether over- or under-
rented.

e Full DCF: The full DCF may also be used as a check on traditional
methods. As a valuation method, the DCF is most appropriate for very
complex properties such as shopping centres, where there are many vari-
ables to be taken into account. Having carried out the DCF, the valuer
should check if the resulting initial yield is acceptable and sustainable in
market terms. In assessing worth for investment property, the DCF tech-
nique is the only acceptable method.

8.2 CAPITAL APPRAISAL TECHNIQUES

Investment appraisal systems need a clear criterion on which to measure
the proposals for investment in a project. The appraisal can only deal
with money considerations, it cannot deal with qualitative assumptions; thus
the criterion is measured on a cash yardstick. The method used must
also allow alternative investment projects to be measured against one
another. In this section we look at the development of capital appraisal tech-
niques in the business sector for comparison with methods used in
property. Just as in the property field, there is a comparison of traditional
methods of property valuation with discounted cash flow approaches,
and the development of capital appraisal techniques in business mirrors
this. The traditional methods in business, however, are more basic than
those in the property field. Property valuation methods take into account
the concept of discounting income and costs in the future, which illustrate
the time value of money in the sense that £1 available today is
worth more than £1 in a year’s time, even ignoring an inflation effect. This
is because if £1 is immediately consumed, the benefit is obtained a
year earlier, or the £1 can be invested and earn interest over the year. In
property valuation, the traditional Year’s Purchase approach takes into
account the time value of money whereas, in business valuation, traditional
methods ignore this. The two basic approaches discussed first are the
payback period method and the rate of return on investment method. The
more advanced approaches of discounted cash flow involving net
present value (NPV) and internal rate of return (IRR) are dealt with later in
this chapter.
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Payback period method

This method involves the calculation of the number of years that it takes to
pay back the original investment in a project. The important criterion is the
length of time: the shorter the period, the better the project (see Example
8.1). Thus, on this basis either project A or B could be chosen and there
is no way to distinguish between these in the analysis. Time in this analy-
sis is used in a crude way as it does not take into account the timing of the
cash flows, for instance high cash flows in the early years (in projects B and
C compared to A), and also the cash flow after the payback period (project
C). The advantage of such an approach is in its simplicity and its ability to
recognise the time factor, although in a crude way, but no account is taken
of the timing of the cash flows, and cash flows occurring after the payback
cut-off point, and thus it ignores the overall profitability.

Example 8.1
PROJECTS

A B C
Investment £10,000 £10,000 £10,000
Cash flow (£)
Year 1 £1,000 £7,000 £7,000
Year 2 £9,000 £3,000 0
Year 3 £2,000 £2,000 £3,000
Year 4 0 0 £7,000
Total cash inflow £12,000 £12,000 £17,000
Payback period 2 years 2 years 3 years
Ranking equal 1 equal 1 3

Rate of return method

This approach expresses a rate of profit as a percentage of the cost of an
investment:

Profit

100%
Cost x100%
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The cost figure is calculated by the capital employed in the project. A target
return is set and if the profitability exceeds this figure, then the project
is acceptable. This is a replica of the basic traditional all-risks vield in
perpetuity:

Net.mcome 100%

Capital value
Note, however, that the capital value in this context is the price paid or
cost, and the vield is an initial yield; this appraisal is thus a form of a market
valuation rather than an analysis of the investment. In business finance, the
calculation can be done on various bases including profit before tax, profit
before interest and tax (PBIT), or profit after tax. Profit figures can be for
the first year, the maximum annual figure over the project life, or the
average figure over the project life. The latter is usually considered to be
the most suitable. Interest is the interest outstanding on debt raised by the
company. The capital employed may be shown gross or as an average figure
over the life of the asset, deducting each year for depreciation.

Example 8.2: Rate of return

Investment £8,000
Cash inflows (£)

Year 1 £4,000

Year 2 £6,000

Year 3 £4,000

Year 4 £2,000

Total cash inflow £16,000

Assuming there is no resale or scrap value to the investment, then the
original £8,000 is lost at the end of the investment period and the depre-
ciation on the investment if £8,000. Average profit is:
£16,000 - £8,000
4 years

=£2,000p.a.

Return on the investment before tax and any interest payment is:

£2,000
£8,000

Depreciation in the calculation is taken as a straight-line approach for an
equal amount of the total depreciation per year. The advantage of this
method is that it uses the same criterion related to profitability both for pro-
jects and the overall business. The choice of target rate could be the same
rate as the firm sets for overall profitability. The disadvantage of using this

% 100% = 25%p.a.
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method is that it again ignores the time value of money. The use of a
straight-line approach to depreciation may not realistically reflect the timing
of any negative flows. In answer to the deficiencies of the traditional
approaches in respect of their inability to take into account the time value
of money, business has adopted the discounted cash flow techniques out-
lined in the following section.

Discounted cash flow techniques

Discounted cash flow (DCF) techniques are an important aid in the evalua-
tion of investment proposals. The overriding advantage of the DCF
techniques is that they recognise the time value of money. It should be
remembered that DCF analysis is only as accurate as the data that are put
into the calculation. Where a rate is used in a DCF calculation, it is more
useful as a yardstick than those approaches that use the traditional methods
of payback period and return on investment. The evaluation of capital
investment techniques has two difficulties. Firstly, costs and revenues arise
at different times and this means that they are not directly comparable, this
problem is handled by discounted cash flow analysis. The second problem
is that the future is uncertain and that forecasted cash flows may not arise
as predicted. The discounted cash flow approach appears to give a clear
indication of the accept/reject decision for project appraisal and this works
well when there is only one project being considered in isolation. In reality,
the project will face competition arising from the investor not having suffi-
cient funds to accept all projects indicated as acceptable under the analy-
sis. This is a problem of capital rationing and involves a restriction of choice
when resources are limited. The second problem is where two competing
projects fulfil the same objective and only one is required. These problems
can be investigated by NPV and IRR analysis but the literature shows clearly
that the NPV approach is preferred. This analysis concerns individual pro-
jects but it may also be necessary to consider investment opportunities as
part of a portfolio of investments.

This section has considered the major alternative investment techniques
available in the commercial world and the choices that may be made
between them. It is also necessary to look at investors and investment
companies themselves, because such investigation will bring to light how
capital appraisal techniques are used in the corporate sector and how cash
flows are generated. There are rules governing the generation of the
cash flows, which are related to the accounts of the company. In order to
understand the financial affairs of a company, the appraiser must be aware
of its financial standing and, if advising on investment in property assets,
the appraiser must know about the company’s cost of capital. The cost of
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capital could affect the target discount rate used in discounted cash flow
calculations.

8.3 DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW APPROACHES

Comparison of investments is not so simple when the alternatives being
considered have varying costs and incomes generated over different periods
of time. A technique used to overcome this difficulty is known as ‘dis-
counting’; that is, to bring all future amounts, revenue and expenditure, to
present-day values using a given rate of interest known as the ‘discount
rate’; by so doing, a cash flow becomes a ‘discounted cash flow’ (DCF).
DCEF is a technique developed by financial appraisers as a tool to assess the
overall profitability of a project. Increasingly, the technique is being used by
property valuers and analysts, very largely because as financial institutions
became more involved in property development and investment, they found
the traditional approach of surveyors to be unacceptable on its own. DCF
takes into account that incomes and expenditures vary in amounts and in
time periods (that is, yearly, monthly, or for alternative periods); in other
words, the ‘time value’ of money is taken into consideration. It can also be
used to compare capital projects, but there is some evidence to suggest that
in practice simpler methods are used in business (such as payback).

As stated above, the technique is based on calculating the present worth
of future sums of money, either income or expenditure (a technique not
unknown to valuers who are familiar with using the Present Value of £1
and the Present Value of £1 per annum tables from Parry’s Tables, which
now include DCF tables (Davidson, 1989). Indeed the traditional investment
method estimates the present value of future periodic incomes and there-
fore ‘DCF’ is just what valuers have been doing for years. It is true that the
traditional method and DCF both find the net present value; however, the
important difference lies in the thought processes involved in using the tech-
nique and the variation possible to the inputs of the DCF, particularly the
rate of interest used.

To produce a DCF, the valuer has at least three forms of discount rate
to choose from:

(i) the rate which has to be paid for borrowing capital — the borrowing rate;
(ii) the rate that could be earned if the capital was invested elsewhere — the
opportunity rate;
(iii) the rate of return that the investor requires to compensate for the
risk involved, the loss of immediate consumption and inflation — the
target rate.



Discounted Cash Flow Approaches 117

In investment appraisal and analysis, it is the target rate which is most com-
monly used. The level of the target rate could be related to government
stock rates, which represents the risk-free rate. To this rate would be added
a premium to represent the added risk of the project.

Example 8.3: DCF calculation

Consider an asset A, purchased for £20,000, that will generate the fol-
lowing estimated incomes: year 1, £3,000; year 2, £5,000; year 3,
£6,000; year 4, £3,000; year 5, £6,500; year 6, £5,750; year 7, £3,000.
In year 4, maintenance cost will be £1,000 and at the end of year 7 the
asset will be disposed of for £1,500. If a borrowing rate of 10 per cent per
annum is required, the discounted cash flow will be:

Year Cash flow Present value of £1 DCF
(PV £1 @ 10%)

0 -£20,000 1 —£20,000

1 3,000 0.909 2,727

2 5,000 0.826 4,130

3 6,000 0.751 4,506
4 3,000

-1,000 0.683 1,366

5 6,500 0.621 4,037

6 5,750 0.564 3,243
7 3,000

1,500 0.513 2,309

Net present value @ 10% discount rate £2,318

The DCF calculation gives a positive answer and thus the asset purchase is
worthwhile: at a 10 per cent target threshold it will earn in excess of 10
per cent. At this rate it would provide a £2,318 contribution to profit. The
use of a DCF approach when considering a single project is useful, however
the technique can be invaluable when alternative investments are to be
compared.

There are two forms of DCF used in investment analysis:

¢ Net Present Value (NPV);
¢ Internal Rate of Return (IRR).
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Net Present Value (NPV)

This is the form of DCF demonstrated above, namely the result of dis-
counting to the present day all sums of money, incoming and outgoing, that
the investor incurs.

For single sums, the Present Value of £1 Table can be used, or it can be
calculated by using the formula:

1
(1+i)"

This will be seen to be the inverse of the Amount of £1, or compound inter-
est formula discussed in earlier chapters. Where the same amount is being
received or spent for a series of years, then the Present Value of £1 per
annum can be used; this is more familiarly known as the Year’s Purchase
(YP). It can be seen that it is simply the sum of a series of individual Present
Values. For example, using the rate of 8 per cent.

PVEl 1lyear @ 8%  0.9259
PV £1 2 years @ 8%  0.8573
PV £1 3years @ 8%  0.7938
PVEl 4dyears@ 8%  0.7350
YP 4 years @ 8%  3.3120

As stated above, the discount rate can be: (i) the borrowing rate; (i) the
opportunity rate; or (iii) the target rate. Whichever form of rate is used,
when a positive NPV is obtained then the project will be worthwhile.
However, other criteria may need to be considered.

Internal rate of return (IRR)

NPV is most frequently used in investment appraisal for acquisition pur-
poses, but it can also be used for analysis on a trial-and-error basis. More
often, though, analysts require to know the actual return on capital to be
obtained from an investment. This is the rate generated internally from the
income and expenditure incurred, and therefore it is known as the internal
rate of return (IRR). It is the discount rate at which the NPV of income
equals the NPV of expenditure, or in other words the rate that produces a
nil NPV. In the example discussed earlier, if the target rate had been 10
per cent, and it produced a positive NPV, it means that the asset was gen-
erating returns about the target rate. A negative NPV would have indicated
that the target rate would not have been achieved.
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The IRR may be obtained by use of a computer, programmable calcula-
tor or Parry’s Tables. In the event of none of these being available, then
it can be calculated by use of a formula or graph. Both methods
require the selection of two discount rates by trial and error, one giving a
positive NPV, the other a negative NPV, and then interpolating between
the two.

Example 8.4: Calculation of the IRR
Asset A (from Example 8.3):

Year PV £1 DCF PV £1 DCF
@ 10% @ 14%
0 —-20,000 1 -£20,000 1 —£20,000
1 3,000 0.909 2,727 0.877 2,631
2 5,000 0.826 4,130 0.769 3,845
3 6,000 0.751 4,506 0.675 4,050
4 3,000
-1,000 0.683 1,366 0.592 1,184
5 6,500 0.621 4,037 0.519 3,373
6 5,750 0.564 3,243 0.456 2,622
7 3,000
1,500 0.513 2,308 0.400 1,800
NPV £2,317 NPV —£495
@ 10% @ 14%

As NPV at 10 per cent is positive and at 14 per cent is negative, and the
IRR is the rate at which NPV is zero, then IRR will be at a rate between
10 and 14 per cent. It can be calculated by linear interpolation by using
the formula:

NPV R,
R R, -R
1+[( 2~ R)* pU R, +NPVR1}
where R; = lower rate; NPV R; = NPV lower rate;

R, = higher rate; NPV R, = NPV higher rate;
in both cases, the + or — signs are ignored. Inserting the data from
above:

10+[(14-10) 2317 }

495+ 2,317
IRR =13.3 per cent
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Further examples of discounted cash flow approaches applied to property
investments are set out below.

Example 8.5: NPV calculation

The NPV of a project is to be calculated using a purchase price of £10,000.
The subsequent cash flows are set out below. Assuming a discount rate of
10 per cent calculate the net present value (NPV).

Cash flow (£)

Year 1 2,000
Year 2 5,000
Year 3 4,000
Year 4 2,000
Year Cash flow (£) PV £1 @ 10% Present Value (£)
1 2,000 0.909 1,818
2 5,000 0.826 4,130
3 4,000 0.751 3,004
4 2,000 0.683 1,336
10,318
less outlay 10,000
NPV 318
Notes:

1. Cash flows are best estimates and may be net or gross of tax.

2. The discount rate is a target rate, so the NPV is positive, the profit is
made and the target is reached and passed.

3. The target rate may be based on: the cost of borrowing; the rate of
return on other projects, or the rate on government stock (not equi-
ties, as equity yields are low to take into account future growth and
may have a risk adjustment).

If the NPV is positive than the investment is worthwhile. If a number of
projects are chosen, the one with the highest NPV is chosen, provided
the capital outlay is the same. If the capital outlay differs, one needs to
discounted PV of total benefits .

; that with

calculate the benefit : cost ratio =
discounted PV of total costs

the highest ratio is chosen.
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Example 8.6: IRR calculation

Using the cash flows from the previous example to calculate the internal
rate of return (IRR).

Year Cash PV of £1 Present PV £1 Present
flow (£) @ 11% Value (£) @ 12% | Value (£)
1 2,000 0.901 1,802 0.893 1,786
2 5,000 0.812 4,060 0.797 3,985
3 4,000 0.731 2,924 0.712 2,848
4 2,000 0.639 1,278 0.636 1,272
10,064 9,891
less outlay 10,000 10,000
NPV 64 (109)

At 11 per cent, a positive NPV is produced and at 12 per cent a negative
one, whereas the IRR is that rate which produces a NPV of zero. There-
fore the IRR lies in the range of 11-12 per cent. If the NPVs are plotted
on a graph against discount rates, a curved line results from which may be
read intermediate points to determine the exact IRR. An alternative slightly
inaccurate short-cut is to assume a straight-line relationship in which a
change in discount rate produces an exactly proportional change in NPV.
This is known as linear interpolation, and the IRR may be derived by this
method using the following formula as shown previously:

o NPV R, }
NPV R, + NPV R,

R, +[(R2 ~R)

where R; is the lower rate and R, is the higher rate, and the signs (+
or —) of the NPV are ignored. Thus in the example, the IRR is:

11 +[1 x (64/173)] = 11.37 per cent

Property valuation assesses the advantages and disadvantages of an inter-
est in property and expresses them in money terms. DCF techniques
facilitate comparisons but IRR techniques do not give the value of the
property, only the NPV approach will do this.

Example 8.7: Comparison of YP and PV

Value the income flow for the next four years of £10,000 p.a. payable
in arrears from a freehold property if the property is considered an 8 per
cent risk.
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Net income £10,000 p.a.
YP for 4 years @ 8% 3.3121
Capital value £33,121

YP =PV of £1 p.a. = the addition of PV of £1 for each of the years under
consideration, thus:

First year’s income:

£10,000 x PV £1 in 1 year @ 8% = £10,000 x 0.9259 = £9,259

Second year’s income:

£10,000 x PV £1 in 2 years @ 8% = £10,000 x 0.8573 = £8,573

Third year’s income:
£10,000 x PV £1 in 3 years @ 8% = £10,000 x 0.7938 = £7,938

Fourth year’s income:
£10,000 x PV £1 in 4 years @ 8% = £10,000 x 0.7350 = £7,350

£33,120

In this example the income is broken up into a series of cash flows, the YP
groups cash flows for a number of periods and the DCF enables annual
cash flows to be discerned. The layout usually used in DCF approaches to
property calculations is set out in Example 8.8.

Example 8.8: Calculation of net present value (NPV)

End of | Particulars| Outflow| Inflow Net flow | PV of £1 | Net Net
year + or — @ 12% outflow | inflow
0 Purchase 100,000
price
Purchase 8,000 (108,000)| 1 108,000
costs
1 Rent 11,000 11,000 | 0.8928571 9,821
2 Rent 11,000 11,000 | 0.7871939 8,769
3 Rent 11,000 11,000 | 0.7117802 7,830
4 Rent 11,000
Sale 140,000
proceeds
Sale costs 6,000 145,000 | 0.6355181 92,150
108,000 118,570
NPV 10,570

Target rate +12 per cent, NPV @ target rate = £10,570.
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Example 8.9: Calculation of the internal rate of return (IRR)
End of | Particulars | Outflow | Inflow Net flow | PV of £1 Net Net
year + or — @ 15% outflow | inflow
0 Purchase 100,000
price
Purchase 8,000 (108,000) | 1 108,000
costs
1 Rent 11,000 11,000 | 0.8695652 9,565
2 Rent 11,000 11,000 | 0.7561437 8,318
3 Rent 11,000 11,000 | 0.6575162 7,233
4 Rent 11,000
Sale 140,000
proceeds
Sale costs 6,000 145,000 | 0.6355181 82,904
108,000 | 108,020
NPV 20

Rate at which NPV = 0 is the IRR; here it is approximately 15 per cent,
thus the IRR is approximately 15 per cent.

Example 8.10: Investment valuation using DCF (spreadsheet

approach)

Investment valuation: DCF

Purchase price £ 50,000,000 Sale price £ 72,162,144
Rent passing £ 4,000,000 Est. rent on sale £ 4,329,729
Initial yield % 8 Est. exit yield % 6
Fees on purchase % 2.75 Fees on sale % 2.75
Rental growth % 2
Holding period years 5 NPV @ discount rate £ 8,236,908
Discount rate % 10 IRR % 13.7843
Rent receivable annually in arrears
Period | Income Capital Fees Cash flow DCF
0 0 | -5,000,000 | -1,375,000 | 51,375,000 | -51,375,000
1 4,080,000 4,080,000 3,709,091
2 4,161,600 4,161,600 3,439,339
3 4,244 832 4,244,832 3,189,205
4 4,329,729 4,329,729 2,957,263
5 4,416,323 | 72,162,144 | -1,984,459 | 74,594,008 | 46,317,010

NPV 8,236,908
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SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

e This chapter has discussed a critique of traditional methods.

¢ |t has examined different techniques of capital appraisal.

¢ [t has given examples of the application of discounted cash flow
approaches.
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9 Development of the
Investment Method

9.1 Term and reversion
9.2 Leasehold property
9.3 Hardcore method
9.4 Over-rented property

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter extends knowledge of the investment method into the
area of term and reversion calculations and leasehold valuations. It
examines a different approach to term and reversion calculations by
using the hardcore method. Finally, it examines over-rented property as
a special case.

Key terms

Term and reversion, reversionary — when a property has been let for
some time, the rent will be historic, not at the present market level.
At the next rent review, there will be a reversion to the market rent.
Hardcore — the traditional term and reversion values the income in
different blocks. The hardcore method suggests a layer or slicing
approach that reflects the layers of risk in the income.

Over-rented — this is where an existing historic rent is above the
market level, thus at the next rent review there will not be an increase
in the rent. The rent will be the same or decrease according to the
terms of the lease.

9.1 TERM AND REVERSION

A term and reversion occurs where a freehold is valued subject to a lease
that has a rent agreed previously; this rent is therefore historic and does
not reflect the full rental value. The usual case in a situation of growth and
inflation is that the historic rent would be lower and thus, at the next rent

125
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review, the rent would be reviewed to the full rental value. This uplift is
referred to as the reversion and the period preceding the reversion is the
term, hence the use of term rent and reversionary rent. It might be of
course, if the market has worsened, that at the next review the rent may,
if the lease allows it, go down. This is still a reversion to the full rental value
but this over-rented situation may need different techniques to solve it and
these approaches are discussed later in the chapter.

Let us look at a complex term and reversion that shows a two-step
approach to the reversion.

Example 9.1: Term and reversion

A freehold office building was let 4 years ago on a full repairing and insur-
ing lease for a period of 14 years. The rent agreed for the first 7 years was
£5,000 p.a. and for the second 7 years was £6,000 p.a. The current full
rental value is £7,000 p.a. Value the freehold interest.

Approach
There are three different rents to be capitalised:

1. £5,000 receivable for 3 years only;

2. £6,000 p.a. receivable for 7 years only but deferred for 3 years; and

3. £7,000 p.a. receivable in perpetuity at the reversion but deferred for 10
years.

Diagram
£000 Date of
valuation

T e

S PO

5 ——>

v
0 4 7 14 Y ears

Notes to valuation

1. The rent received under the lease is regarded as being more secure; this
is because it carries less risk as it is below the market value, and less risk
is reflected in the lower vield.
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2. In the second 7-year term, the capital value is obtained by multiplying
the rent p.a. by a deferred Year’s Purchase (YP for 7 years x PV of £1
for the period of the deferment).

3. The freehold vield is assumed to be the yield of the full rental value, say
6 per cent.

Valuation

Unexpired term: 3 years

Net rent received £5,000 p.a.

YP for 3 years @ 5% 2.723  “*rent more secure, so 5%
£13,615

Next 7 vears

Net rent received £6,000
YP for 7 years @ 5% 5.786

x PV £1 in 3 years @ 5% 0.864

YP for 7 years @ 5% defrd. 3 years 4.999

£29,995
Reversion
Net full rental value £7,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 6% defrd. 10 years 9.307
£65,149
Capital value £108,759

In his RICS research, Crosby (1992) suggests that the major criticism of
contemporary approaches is that they do not forecast growth and that
they subjectively choose a discount rate. He suggests that using implied
rental growth rate analysis would reduce the subjectivity. There is a
debate between academics over which type of model makes the best use
of available evidence: the growth implicit model using comparable transac-
tions to assess an implied growth rate after subjectively choosing a discount
rate, or the growth explicit model. The growth explicit model uses the
objectively found equivalent vield from comparable transactions and then
applies it subjectively to properties to be valued. In Baum and Crosby
(1995), the view is that the subjective element in contemporary methods
has less effect on the possible range of solutions than the subjective element
in conventional approaches, but this is still, however, a minor view in
the profession. The market valuation of reversionary freehold property is
generally carried out by conventional growth implicit techniques but
Crosby’s research showed that not all were using the same conventional
approach. Crosby, in his paper, indicates that in the future he perceives a
demise of the traditional term and reversion approach as reversionary
property, valued in a traditional approach, does not use explicit growth.
Crosby discovered that of the reversionary techniques used in practice, the
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traditional term and reversion was not dominant but that the layer approach
(also known as the hardcore method) and equivalent yield were also used.
There was an even spread across these three approaches (Crosby, 1992).
Example 9.2 shows the application of these three methods in a simple
valuation.

Example 9.2: The three approaches

A freehold shop is let at an existing rent of £50,000 net. The estimated
full rental value (ERV) is estimated at £100,000. The capitalisation rate at
full rental value is 5 per cent. There are 3 years left on the lease to run.
Calculate the capital value.

Term and reversion

Term rent £50,000
YP 3 years @ 4% 2.7751
£138,755
Reversion to ERV £100,000
YP in perp. @ 5% x 20.000
PV £1 in 3 years @ 5% 0.8638
£1,727,6.00
Capital value £1,866,355

Note: The yield on the term is reduced to reflect the security of the income.

Hardcore or layer approach

Term rent £50,000
YP in perp. @ 5% 20.000
£1,000,000
Reversion to ERV £100,000
Less Term rent £50,000
Top slice £50,000
YP in perp. @ 6% x 16.667
PV £1 in 3 years @ 6% 0.8396
£699,681
Capital value £1,699,681

Note: The income stream is split horizontally.

Equivalent yield
Term rent £50,000
YP in perp. @ 5% 20.000
£1,000,000
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Reversion to ERV £100,000
Less Hardcore rent £50,000
Top slice £50,000
YP in perp. @ 5% x 20.000
PV £1 in 3 years @ 5% 0.8638
£863,800
Capital value £1,863,800

Note: The income stream may be split vertically as in the traditional term
and reversion, or horizontally as in the layer method. As the yield
rates for the term and reversion are the same in this calculation, this
does not matter.

9.2 LEASEHOLD PROPERTY

Leasehold interests are valued using a dual-rate Year’s Purchase, by means
of the tables or the equation for the Year’s Purchase adjusted for tax (see
below). Thus the calculations in this section use two computations: the
Present Value of £1, which has been covered earlier, and the dual-rate YP
adjusted for tax. A tax rate of 40p in the £1 is used. However, note that
tax rates do change and it may be more practical to use a composite rate
that is weighted to include lower tax rates on lower bands of income. This
is discussed in more detail in Chapter 11 on taxation.

A dual rate is used because it incorporates an annual sinking fund that
is used to replace the capital of the asset on the expiration of the lease.
Leaseholds depreciate as the term of the lease moves toward its end. The
owner of the lease has to put aside capital to replace the asset. It is assumed
that the investor will set aside a sum from income to invest and replace the
asset at the end of the lease. The annual sinking fund is assumed to attract
interest at 3 per cent; this rate is low because it is assumed that the invest-
ment that the sinking fund is put into is relatively risk free. Tax is taken into
account in the leasehold valuation; the sinking fund is grossed up to allow
for tax on the returns, otherwise after tax there will be insufficient in the
sinking fund to replace the depreciating asset.

The idea of these adjustments is to put the leasehold on a par with free-
hold investments so that the yield structure used in the valuation of the
freehold can be adjusted and applied to the leasehold interests. Thus, in tra-
ditional leasehold valuations, the leasehold vield is derived from the free-
hold vield and adjusted for tax, and a sinking fund is provided to replace
the asset on expiration of the lease. There has been much debate about
the relevance of both the sinking fund and the tax adjustment, and critics
have suggested that an appropriate approach would be to value without
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the sinking fund tax adjustment or even without both. Analysis of yield struc-
ture shows that the leasehold yield will, as a rule of thumb, equate to the
freehold vield plus 2 per cent additional risk premium, but a sinking fund
will need to be added to reflect the fact that the lease is a depreciating asset.
The idea of the sinking find is to put the lease back into the same position
as the freehold so that the yield can be compared directly, as seen in the
2 per cent risk addition quoted above. Thus the yield analysis might reveal
the following relationships for leasehold yields:

Details of property type Additional risk | Sinking fund
premium

Prime property 2% 3%

Older property suffering from depreciating | 3-4% 3%

and obsolescence in secondary locations

or risky property

There is an additional risk premium attached to leasehold property
because of a number of reasons:

e there are additional management problems in leaseholds;

¢ an annual sinking fund needs to be accommodated from the net income
(say 3 per cent sinking fund net = 5 per cent gross — see later analysis);

¢ dilapidations need to be accounted for at the end of the lease;

e there could be problems of liquidity, as a lease will be more difficult to
sell than a freehold because of all the problems indicated here, but also
because the lease is a wasting asset;

¢ a lease could be sub-let or given the appropriate lease terms, to further
sub-letting, thus undermining the security of the investment and adding
to the management problems while also undermining the possibility of
immediate total repossession of the property;

¢ redevelopment or refurbishment potential is less for leasehold and this
may decrease the value.

The annual sinking fund used in the calculation has to be ‘grossed-up’
because the sinking fund will be received net of tax and will be less than
required for reinvestment. This means that a sinking fund of 3 per cent
gross may lose 40 per cent in tax and thus only 1.8 per cent net would be
invested. So the sinking fund has to be ‘grossed-up’ to ensure the net
amount available after tax is 3 per cent. The calculation is:

Let t = tax rate as a decimal.
Gross rate x (1 — t) = net rate, and the grossing-up factor is:

gross rate = net rate X

(1-1)
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If t = 40 per cent = 0.04 and net rate required for investment is 3 per cent,
then the gross rate needed to provide this net rate is:
1
0.06

0.03 x =0.05=5%

Net-of-tax calculations are covered in Chapter 11.

Types of leasehold valuation

There are three types of leasehold valuation: rent fixed, rent varying and
rent deferred. The freehold could be let to a lessee and in turn let to a sub-
lessee. There is an important distinction between the situation where a
lessee occupies the premises and where the premises are sub-let. Examples
of the two situations are:

¢ Lessee occupies and pays, say, £100 p.a. to the freeholder. The full rental
value in the market is £500 p.a. The valuation in this case is done on
the basis of the profit rent; this is the market full rental value less the
rent paid, in this case £400 p.a.

e The property is sub-let and the lessee does not occupy any of the
premises. Assume that the property has been sub-let at £300 p.a. Then
in this case the lease is valued on the net income received: the rent
received from the sub-lessee less the rent payable to the freehold, which
is £200 p.a.

Example 9.3: Leasehold valuation

A leasehold interest in a shop is subject to a head rent of £50,000 net.
The estimated full rental value (ERV) is estimated at £100,000. The capi-
talisation rate at full rental value is 5 per cent. There are 3 years left to run
on the lease. Calculate the capital value of the leasehold interest.

Dual rate, with sinking fund tax adjusted

ERV £100,000 p.a.

Less Head rent £50,000 p.a.

Profit rent £50,000 p.a.

YP 3 years @ 6% + 3% (40p tax) 1.6688

Capital value £83,440

Note: The criticisms of this approach relate to: how the leasehold rate is
assessed from the freehold; the tax rate is an individual calculation,
and not a market one; and the remuneration rate used, at 3 per cent,
is low.
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As an alternative, there is an argument to use a single rate:

Single rate

ERV £100,000 p.a.

Less Head rent £50,000 p.a.

Profit rent £50,000 p.a.

YP 3 years @ 6% 2.6730

Capital value £133,650
Profit rent

The profit rent per annum is the full rental value less the rent paid by an
occupying lessee or a sub-lessee. Where a profit rent exists, the occupier
has a saving on the annual expenses because the rent payment is less than
the full rental value. This situation occurs because the lessee or sub-lessee
has been in occupation for a period of time and the rent has not been
reviewed recently, or a premium may have been paid at the commence-
ment or during the period of the lease. If the occupier wishes to sell the
lease or sub-lease, the valuation will capitalise the profit rent to arrive at a
capital value.

Example 9.4: Leasehold valuation

A shop is let on a full repairing and insuring lease; the lease has 12 years
unexpired. The rent being paid is £1,200 p.a. The net rental value is
£1,500 p.a. Assume a yield of 7 per cent and a tax liability of 40p in the
£. Value the leasehold interest. (In this case we are using a sinking fund of
2.5 per cent.)

Valuation

Net full rental value £1,500

less Rent paid £1,200

Profit rent £300

YP for 12 years @ 7% and 2.5% (tax 40p in £) 5.241

Capital value £1,572

Notes to valuation

1. The lessee is in occupation, so the valuation is to profit rent.

2. The annual sinking fund is used to replace the depreciating leasehold
asset to put it on the same comparative footing as a freehold valuation.
The freehold vield here might therefore be, say, 6 per cent with 1 per
cent added for leasehold risks.
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3. If the sinking fund is taxed there will not be enough to put away to
replace the asset at the end of its life. The tax adjustment allows for
more sinking fund to be put away to pay the tax on the 2.5 per cent
interest. So at a tax rate of 40p the net income from £1 will only be
60p. So the sinking fund rate is grossed-up:

100 100
Ele—ElXE—E167

Thus the calculation allows for £1.67 to be put aside instead of £1, and
the net result after tax at 40 per cent will be the £1 we need to invest.

To get to a profit rent, the comparison requires the full market rental and
the rent paid to be on the same terms. It is a comparison of like with like.
So if the full rental value estimate used is on the basis of fully repairing and
insuring terms, so must the rent being paid; if not, then adjustments must
be made. Table 9.1 shows the comparison of adjustments for different
repair and insurance responsibilities. For this example we will assume a full
rental value of £1,000 p.a. with external repairs costing £100 p.a., inter-
nal repairs £50 p.a., insurance £25 p.a. and management fee of £100
which is a cost of organising the activities.

Example 9.5: Internal repairing lease

A property is let on an internal repairing lease at £1,000 p.a. The net rack
rent is £1,200 p.a. Calculate the profit rent p.a.

Approach

If the tenant were only responsible for internal repairs, then the tenant
would expect to pay more than £1,200 p.a. That is, £1,200 plus external
repairs and insurance to put the rack rent on the same basis.

Calculation

Net full rental value £1,200 p.a.

Add: external repairs @ 10% net rent £120 p.a.
insurance @ 2.5% net rent £30 p.a.

Adjusted full rental value £1,350 p.a.

Profit rent is:

Adjusted full rental value £1,350 p.a.

Less: rent paid p.a. £1,000 p.a.

Profit rent p.a. £350 p.a.



Table 9.1 Calculation of rental given a range of outgoings

Adjustments to be made

Tenant’s responsibility

All repairs and
insurance (full
repairing and

insuring lease)

No
responsibility
for repairs
and insurance

Responsible for
internal repairs
and insurance

Responsible for
insurance only

Full rental value

Cost of external repairs p.a.

Cost of internal repairs p.a.
Cost of insurance p.a.
Cost of management

Total cost to tenant of rent,
repairs insurance and
management charges

£1,000
£100
£50
£25
£100
£1,275

£1,275
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
£1,275

£1,200
Nil

£50
£25

Nil
£1,275

£1,250
Nil

Nil

£25

Nil
£1,275
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Premiums

A premium is a sum of money that is paid by the lessee at the com-
mencement of the lease or during the lease in return for a reduction in rent.
The lessee, through the premium, purchases part of the profit rent and the
landlord capitalises a part of the future income due (takes a capital sum in
place of a portion of the annual rental). Thus in this situation the remain-
ing rental, being lower than the rental expected, would be more secure and
this would have an impact on the vield rate applied. The premium paid is
thus the capitalisation of all or part of the profit rent. This situation will only
happen if the landlord is prepared to negotiate on such a position. Note
that leases are usually 25 years with 5-year reviews, but pressure is now
being put on landlords to reduce the terms for flexibility. In the examples
here, a range of lease types is used to provide a variety of calculations.

Example 9.6: Calculation of premium

A landlord has granted a 14-year lease of a shop, the net full rental value
being £1,500 p.a. The lessee has agreed to pay £1,000 p.a. and wants
the remainder capitalised as a premium and paid up-front. Calculate the
premium. Assume a leasehold yield of 7 per cent and a tax liability of 40
per cent.

Net full rental value p.a. £1,500
Less Rent to be paid p.a. £1,000
Profit rent p.a. £500
YP 14yrs @ 7% and 2.5% (tax 40%) 5.852
Premium £2.926

Working backward in the calculation, if a premium of £2,926 is offered,
divide this by the YP 14yrs @ 7% and 2.5% net (tax 40%) to get the profit
rent:

premium
YP for the term of the lease

Reduction in rent p.a. = = annual equivalent

Graphically the principle is (assuming a 7-year lease @ £1,000 p.a. net full
rental value):

Normal letting Premium payment
Rent|£1000 Rent
-Folt remtal.vatue ... - Premifum: capital Sum.. .. .
............................. ‘Reducedrent.”.-.- oo o
............................ PSR
0 7 Years 0 7 Years
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Example 9.7: Premium

A shop is let on a 14-year lease on FRI terms; the net full rental value is
£1,400 p.a. The tenant has agreed to pay a premium of £4,000 at the
commencement of the lease. Calculate the annual rent to be paid. Assume
a vield of 8 per cent and a tax liability of 40 per cent.

Premium is £4,000.

Annual equivalent _ £4 000
of premium YP for 14 years @ 8% and 2.5% net (tax at 40%)
£4,000
= m =£724 p.a.

= reduction in rent or profit rent

In this situation the rent to be paid can be calculated from:

Net full rental value £1,400 p.a.
Less Annual equivalent of premium £724 p.a.
Equals the reduced rent payable £626 p.a.
Graphically:
Rent
£1400 Full rental value
Premium =
i£724 value of
Profit rent lease to Value of
v . lessee lease to
£676 Rent paid frecholder
. Rent if
Rent paid premium
paid
0 14 years

Example 9.8: Freehold, leasehold, sub-leasehold
and marriage value

A shop is owned freehold by A and let to B. There are 13 years unexpired
on the lease. B pays rates and does internal repairs only. (So A pays for
fire insurance and does external repairs.) The rent payable under the lease
is £1,000 p.a.

B sub-let the property to C for six years at £15,000 p.a. plus a premium
of £1,000. C pays B’s outgoings (rates and internal repairs). The rental at
full rental value is £2,500 p.a.

Value the interests in A, B and C. Show the maximum amount C will
pay for the interests of A and B.



Development of the Investment Method 137

Valuation of freehold (A’s interest)

1. Assume freehold yield on full rental terms is 7 per cent.
2. Rent needs to be adjusted to net income because external repairs and
insurance have to be paid for.

Diagram
Cost of external repairs and insurance
£2500
£1000 \ \\\\\ Net full rental value
Net rent
[Date of valuation 13 years
Method

e Value the first block, deduct an allowance from the rent for repairs and
insurance, and adjust the yield from the vield at full rental value.

¢ Value the second block in perpetuity at the vield given (assumes FRI lease
on reversion).

Freehold valuation

A’s interest
Assumptions: Yield on reversion 7 per cent
Yield on term 6 per cent
Income is gross: percentage deduction for external repairs
and insurance, say 7.5 per cent
Term: £
Rent received p.a. 1,000
less Allowance for external repairs and insurance @
7.5 per cent of full rental value (£2,500) 187
Net income per annum 813
YP 13 years @ 6% 8.853
Capital value of term 7,197
Reversion:
Net full rental value p.a. 2,500
YP in perpetuity deferred 13 years @ 7% 5.928
Capital value of reversion 14.820

Capital value of freehold £22,017
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Valuation of B’s leasehold interest
Assumptions:

1. B is not in possession, so valuation is on the basis of net income: rent
received less rent paid.

2. The leasehold vield at rack rent is higher than the freehold yield @ 7
per cent. The vyield for the first term is lower than the second term
because it is a lower income and thus more secure.

3. The full rental value needs to be adjusted for the fact that the tenant
does not pay external repairs and insurance.

4. The premium is ignored, so assume it has been spent and has no further
effect on existing and future income.

5. Tax rate assumed to be 40 per cent.

Diagram
Rental £
Add for repairs and insurance
//ﬁ/ %
1500 7y Net
1000 Net income v S:Illll crental income
0 6 13 years
Leasehold valuation
B's interest
First 6 years: £
Rent received p.a. 1,500
less Rent paid 1,000
Net income per annum 500
YP 6 years @ 7% + 2.5% net (40% tax) 3.022
Capital value of term 1,511

Next 7 vears:

Reversion to adjusted full rental value, i.e. £2,500 plus allowance
for repairs and insurance (£2,500 + £187) 2,687
less Rent paid 1,000
Net income per annum 1,687
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YP 7 years @ 8% + 2.5% net (40% tax) 3.324
PV £1 in 6 years @ 8% X 0.63
2.094

Capital value of second term 3,532
Total capital value £5,043
Valuation of C’s interest (Sub-leasehold) — diagram

Rent A/S.djusted full rental value

2500 //// // //// // / / Full rental value IProﬁt rent

1500 Rent paid

0 6 years

Sub-leasehold valuation
Adjusted full rental value 2,687
less Rent paid 1,500
Profit rent p.a. 1,187
YP 6 years @ 8.5% + 2.5% net (40% tax) 2.891
Capital value £3,432

Marriage valuation

If C purchased the interests of B and A, C would own the freehold worth:

Freehold in possession

Net rack rental 2,500

YP in perp. @ 7% 14.286

Capital value 35,715
less Value of C’s existing interest 3,450
Difference is maximum C would pay £32,265
Other investors would buy the interests of A and B separately, i.e.
A £22,017

B £5,043

Total £27,060

So C could outbid them because of the marriage of the interests.
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9.3 HARDCORE METHOD

The hardcore method is now being used widely in practice. There are
advantages and disadvantages in respect of this method. The method has
advantages in the sense that it can be used to isolate the increase in rental
value on rent review and reversion. It can thus treat this top slice income
in a different way. In a volatile market, it can try to estimate the risk of the
top slice. It also appears to be applicable in situations where a valuation
may be based on turnover rents, where there is a base or core rent
calculated and to which is added an additional slice based on the actual
turnover of the company operating from the property. On the other hand,
its disadvantages are really that it invokes an artificial division of the income.
The security of the reversionary income is not divisible; if the tenants default,
then they default in the payment of the whole income, not just the top slice.
It is also difficult to value using comparables from the market, as the
comparables would only provide an equivalent yield on the basis of which
two unknown quantities, the hardcore yield and the marginal vield, need to
be calculated. In using comparable evidence from a conventional term
and reversion valuation, there can be great differences in the calculation
where the term income is substantially below the current full market
rental value. However, the system may be useful in situations similar to the
market of the late 1980s and 1990s, in that any downturn in the market
can mean a reduction of rental at the next rent review. Therefore the ability
to layer the income into different slices can mean that the top slice can be
treated more appropriately, with its inherent risk possibly being ignored
completely in some cases. It could also be used as a valuation method
where there are contractual agreements to put the income at review
above a market rental value. This means that the increase at review is very
risky because it makes a tenant uncompetitive and reluctant to pay the
rent. Criticisms of overvaluation of the core income in the hardcore method
and undervaluation of the marginal income really arise because of the
use of an inappropriate schedule of discount rates based on conventional
term and reversion vields rather than direct comparables. The high risk of
the top slice rental relative to the hardcore rent needs to be taken into
account.

Valuation of reversionary investments

There are two different approaches to valuing reversionary investments:

e Term and reversion: a block income approach.
¢ Hardcore method: a layer approach.
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(Note that a reversionary investment is where a property is let at less than
the estimated rental value (ERV) but there is a likelihood of a rent review
or re-letting at the full rental value.)

Block income approach

Term: capitalise the present rent till reversion.
Reversion: capitalise full rental value in perpetuity.
Total: add term and reversion.

Income

Estimated —  |-ccccoccccacnn
rental
value

Rent REVERSION

receivable TERM

0 Years

Conventional approach

Layer approach

Hardcore: capitalise the present rent in perpetuity.
Incremental rent: capitalise top slice from reversion in perpetuity.
Total: add hardcore and incremental rent.

Income
Estimated
rental 0 |eeemmcemmmmeeeeooo
value TOP SLICE (INCREMENTAL) RENT
Rent
receivable
HARDCORE RENT
0 Years

Hardcore (layer) approach
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If term and reversion are at the same vield, then you can apply this rate to
the layer method and get the same result:

Example 9.9: Hardcore, same yields term and reversion

Value the freehold interest in a commercial premises let at £5,000 p.a. for
the next 3 years. The estimated rental value is £8,000 p.a. The yield at the
estimated rental value is 8 per cent.

Conventional approach

Term
Rent received £5,000 p.a.
YP 3yrs @ 8% 2.577
£12,885
Reversion to ERV £8,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 8% defrd. 3yrs 9.923
£79,384
Capital value £92,269
Layer approach
Hardcore
Hardcore rent received £5,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 8% 125
£62,500
Incremental rent £3,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 8% defrd. 3yrs 9.923
£29,769
Capital value £92,269

If the term vield is different from the reversionary yield, usually because the
term rate is lower and considered more secure, then valuing by the layer
approach will produce a different result. The results provided by the con-
ventional and layer approaches will only coincide where the incremental
vield is adjusted to match the capital value provided by the conventional
approach.

Example 9.10: Hardcore, different yields term and reversion

Value the freehold interest in a commercial premises let at £5,000 p.a.
for the next 3 years. The estimated rental value is £8,000 p.a. The yield
at the estimated rental value is 8 per cent. (Assume term yield to be 6
per cent.)
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Conventional approach

Term
Rent received £5,000 p.a.
YP 3yrs @ 6% 2.673
£13,365
Reversion to ERV £8,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 8% defrd. 3yrs 9.923
£79,384

Capital value £92,649

Layer approach
Method:

1. Determine vield on hardcore rent. The hardcore rent = term rent,
therefore use term vyield, i.e. 6 per cent.

2. Determine yield on increment to arrive at the same valuation as the
conventional method:

Incremental income
Capital value of incremental income

Yield on increment =

Incremental income = estimated rental value — term rent = £8,000 — £5,000

=£3,000

Capital value of incremental income = capital value of estimated rental value
in perpetuity minus the capital value of the hardcore rent in perpetuity,
thus:

Estimated rental value £8,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 8% 12.5
£100,000
less Hardcore (term) rent £5,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 6% 16.666
£83,330
Capital value of incremental income £16,670
) . _ £3,000 o 100
Yield on increment = —E16,67O x100% =18%
3. Valuation
Hardcore rent received £5,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 6% 16.666
£83,330

Incremental rent £3,000 p.a.
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YP in perp. @ 18% defrd. 3yrs. 3.381
£10,143
Capital value £93,473

(Compare with traditional approach = £92,649)

Example 9.11: Hardcore valuation (spreadsheet approach)

Value the freehold interest in a commercial premises let at £5,000 p.a. for
the next 2 years.

The estimated rental value is £10,000 p.a. The yield at ERV is 10 per
cent. Assume term vyield is 8 per cent.

Data: Rent received £ 5,000 p.a.
ERV 10,000 p.a.
Years to review 2
Yield @ ERV 10.00%
Term vyield 8.00%
Conventional approach
Term £ £
Rent received 5,000 p.a.
YP yrs. 2 @ 8.00% 1.783
8,916
Reversion to ERV 10,000
YP perp. @ 10.00% defrd. 2 years 8.264
82,645
Capital value £91,561

Layer approach
Hardcore vield = term yield = 8.00%

Incremental income

Yield on increment = - - -
Capital value of incremental income

Incremental income = estimated rental value — term rent

= £10,000 - £5,000 = £5,000
CV of incremental income = CV ERV in perp. — CV hardcore rent in perp.

Estimated rental value £ 10,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 10% 10.000

100,000
less

Hardcore (term) rent £ 5,000 p.a.
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YP in perp. @ 8% 12.500

62,500
Capital value of incremental income £37,500

5,000

_SHYYY 0 — 0
37’5000><100/o 13.33%

Yield on increment =

Hardcore valuation

Hardcore rent received £ 5,000 p.a.
YP in perp. @ 8% 12.500
62,500
Incremental rent £ 5,000 p.a.
YP perp. @ 13.33% defrd. 2 years 5.839
29,196

Capital value £91,696

9.4 OVER-RENTED PROPERTY

The layer approach used above can also deal with situations where prop-
erties are over-rented; that is, where the property is let at a rental value
higher than the estimated rental value and thus where the rental will fall at
the next review. The over-rented layer of rent (the overage) is thus treated
differently from the core which represents the estimated rental value; see
Example 9.12.

Example 9.12: Over-rented — hardcore or layer approach

A freehold shop is let at an existing rent of £100,000 net. The estimated
full rental value (ERV) is estimated at £50,000. The capitalisation rate at
full rental value is 5 per cent. The lease has 10 years to run with upward
only rent reviews. Calculate the capital value of the freehold.

Core rent

ERV £50,000
YP in perp. @ 5% 20.000

£1,000,000

Top slice

Rent passing £100,000
Less ERV £50,000
Overage £50,000

YP 10 years @ 10% 6.1146
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£305,730
Capital value £1,305,730

Notes: The calculation assumes that the full rental value will be less than
the rent passing for the duration of the lease and beyond. By apply-
ing implied growth to the rental level, the precise time can be found
when the ERV has grown to the same level as the rent passing.
Assuming this is in 5 years’ time, then the overage can only be
valued for the 5-year period. The problem of this method is that
the rental growth is exaggerated in the valuation of the core income
and in the overage. This can be overcome by valuing as a term and
reversion for the 10-year period; see Example 9.13.

Example 9.13: Over-rented — term and reversion

Term rent £100,000
YP 10 years @ 10% 6.1146
Reversion to ERV £50,000
YP in perp. @ 5% x 20.000

PV £1 in 10 years @ 5% 0.6139
12.278

Capital value

£611,460

£613,900

£1,225,360

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter has developed the investment method of valuation and

applied it to:

e The term and reversion.
¢ |easehold property.

¢ The hardcore method.

e Qverrented property.
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10 Yields and Interest Rates

10.1 Interest rates, risk and inflation
10.2 The equivalent yield

10.3 The equated yield

10.4 The implied growth rate

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter aims to investigate aspects of interest rates and yields and
to break these down into the components of liquidity, inflation and risk.
It then goes on to use these concepts in the analysis of equivalent and
equated yields and the implied growth rate.

Key terms

The analysis of yields:

Base case = IRR

IRR on full rental value = the all-risk yield

IRR in a term and reversion = equivalent yield

IRR with growth of income = equated yield

Implied growth rate — the all-risks yield has implied growth; by inputting
a target rate (the equated vield), the growth rate of income can be
imputed.

10.1 INTEREST RATES, RISK AND INFLATION

Risk and inflation are important matters for property investors. The yield
used by property investors is an interest rate return, and interest rates are
calculated on the basis of three elements. The components of the interest
rate or yield consist of:

e compensation for the time preference of money;
¢ an inflation allowance to maintain the real value of the return;
e an element for risk-taking.

148



Yields and Interest Rates 149

Time preference element

This element exists as a compensation to the investor who now cannot
spend the investment immediately but will need to wait until the investment
is sold. The compensation stems from the view that individuals prefer to
have money available now rather than later. The money could thus be con-
sumed or invested, allowing for immediate satisfaction from the consum-
ables of income from the investment. The interest rate needs to entice
individuals to part with their money and delay consumption. This could be
thought of as a liquidity element.

Inflation allowance

An inflation allowance used in interest rates should be the reflection of the
investor’s anticipation of the inflation rate, and this may differ from eco-
nomic assumptions held by the government and other investors. At this
point, the analysis can show the relationship between market rates of inter-
est, which are inclusive of inflation, and real rates of interest. This is given
by the equation:

(1 + real rate of interest) x (1 + rate of general inflation)
= (1 + market rate of interest)

or I+i)x(1+g =(1+e¢) (equation 10.1)
. (1+e)
o) i= (1+g)_

where i is the real rate of interest, g is the rate of general inflation and e
is the market rate of interest, all as decimals. As an example, if the rental
growth (at market rate = e) is 6 per cent and the rate of inflation (g) is 7
per cent, the real rate of growth can be seen to be negative, around —1 per
cent, or more precisely:

~(1+0.06)

_ ~1=-0.0093
"= 1+0.07)

Risk premium

This is the addition to the risk-free interest rate to take into account the risk
of the investment. There is a trade-off between risk and reward; for addi-
tional risk, a greater reward is expected by the investor and vice versa. This
relationship is represented diagrammatically by Figure 10.1. The capital
market line, risk, reward and the relationships between them are discussed
in detail later in the book. By dividing the real rate of interest into its ele-
ments of time preference and the risk premium, the element of the risk
premium can be exposed. Thus:



150 Property Valuation Principles

1T+)=01+d1+7r (equation 10.2)

Inserting into equation 10.1 above: (1 +d) (1 +r) (1 +g) =(1 +e)
Here d and r are the time preference and risk elements respectively, and
rearranging:

e=(1l+g1+d1+r-1
so if the risk element were taken out, a risk-free return (RFR) would be:
RFR=(1+i)1+d) -1

and e=(1+RFR)(1+r) -1
Multiplying out:
e=1+r+RFR+rRFR -1

But rRFR will be small and an approximation is e = RFR + r; thus the market
rate of interest is equal to the risk-free rate plus the risk premium attached
by the market.

Property as an inflation hedge
Is property a good hedge against inflation? Matysiak et al. (1995) used a

multivariate analysis of long-term total returns and inflation data over the
period 1963-93. They found no evidence that property returns provide a

Return

Capital

market line
Risk-free (CML)
return
(RFR)
0 Risk

Figure 10.1 The capital market line
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hedge on an annual basis against expected or unexpected components of
inflation. Barkham et al. (1995) found a long-term relationship between
property and inflation in the short and long term, but that the adjustment
of property to inflation or vice versa is very weak or slow. They used coin-
tegration techniques and commented that their contribution to the debate
is to bring back a longer-term perspective to the argument of the need to
supplement property investment in portfolios. Cointegration techniques
have been developed to deal with time series where the variables under con-
sideration are non-stationary, and therefore this method can be used to test
a statistical long-term relationship between property returns and inflation.
Nevertheless, the findings from the study of Barkham et al. showed that
property is not a consistent hedge over the time periods examined.

10.2 THE EQUIVALENT YIELD

Reversionary investments can be valued by the traditional or the hardcore
method. Investors, though, may require to know the overall yield of a rever-
sionary investment. For instance, if the term yield is 6 per cent and the
reversionary vield is 8 per cent, what is the overall yield?

If rates on the term and reversion are the same, then the equivalent yield
is the same.

Example 10.1: The equivalent yield

A shop is let at £5,000 p.a. net. The estimated rental value (ERV) is
£20,000 p.a. There are 3 years unexpired on the lease. Calculate the
equivalent yield.

Term and reversion

Term £ £
Rent received 5,000
YP 3lyrs @ 5% 2.7237
13,616

Reversion
Estimated rental value (ERV) 20,000
YP in perp. deferred 3lyrs @ 7% (11.6614

233,228
Capital value £246,844
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Calculation of the equivalent vield:

1. by formula;
2. by discounted cash flow.

Solution by formula

(Present income + Annual equivalent of gain *)
Capital value

Equivalent yield = x100%

Know: Present income: £5,000 p.a.
Capital value (from term and reversion calculation): £246,844

Need to find*

Gain on reversion” x PV £1 for term
YP for term

Annual equivalent of gain =

T Gain on reversion = Value of reversion — Capital value

Calculation

Value on reversion: £
Estimated rental value 20,000
YP in perp. @ 7% 14.286

285,714
Therefore gain on reversion = 285,714 — 246,844 = £38,780

Annual equivalent

£38,870 x PV £1@ 6.50% * in 3yrs
YP 3yrs @ 6.50%*

of gain =

*Rate is a guess at

£38,870 x 0.8278
2.6485

the equivalent yield = =£12,150

£5,000+£12,150
£246,844

Equivalent vield = =6.95%

* Recalculate rate until it accords with the equivalent yield, e.g.

£38,870 xPV £1 @ 6.93% * in 3yrs
YP 3yrs 6.93% *

Annual equivalent of gain =
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* Rate is a guess _ £38,870x0.8179
at the equivalent vield ~ 2.6277 =£12,099
Equivalent yield = £5,000 + £12,099 =6.93%

£246,844

Diagram to show concept

Gain on reversion

Annual -
equivalent { PV 7
of gain A
Term rent { Term Reversion
Yield = Term rent +Annual equivalent of gain

Capital value

Solution by DCF

Years | Cash YP 3yrs | PV £1 | PV cash |YP 3yrs | PV £1 | PV cash
flow @ 6% in 3yrs | flow @ 7% in 3yrs | flow
@ 6% @ 7%
1-3 5,000 2.6730 13,365 |2.6243 13,122
3on | 285,714 0.8396 | 239,890 0.8163 | 233,228
253,256 246,349
less Price paid -246,844 less Price paid -246,844
NPV 6,412 NPV -495
. . . 6,412
By linear interpolation: IRR = 6% + ——— = 6% + 0.9284
6,412 + 495

Equivalent vield (IRR) = 6.93%

This approach is the same as used for the Gross Redemption Yield, which
is quoted on government securities that bear an income and a capital sum
on redemption.



154 Property Valuation Principles

10.3 THE EQUATED YIELD

Growth can be built into DCF cash flows so that the IRR of the calculation
represents the equated vield, that is the yield with an explicit growth or
inflation rate. The NPV that arises from such a calculation thus will take
into account the growth in rental levels; this is shown in the calculation of
the equated vield set out below.

The technique of equated yield analysis is as follows:

(i) Assume a growth rate in the rental per annum. Apply this to the orig-
inal income using the Amount of £1.

(ii) Insert the income with growth into the DCF analysis; once the IRR has
been found, this is the equated yield.

Example 10.2: Calculation of equated yield

A freehold investment has been purchased for £100,000; it has a rack
rental value of £5,000 p.a. It is let on a lease for 25 years with 5-year rent
reviews. Assuming rental growth of 10 per cent p.a., determine the equated
vield. The layout used below is a possible presentation of the calculation, if

a computer spreadsheet were to be used.

Capital value £100,000

Initial rent £5,000 p.a.

Initial yield/YP 5% 20 YP
Trial equated yields 14% 15%
Rent review frequency 5 yearly

Growth rate p.a. 10% compound

YP for the review period at the trial rate 3.43081 3.352155

(These YPs are based on the YP for 5 years, the review period, at the trial
rates of 14 per cent and 15 per cent as above.)

Period Amt £1 @ Cash PV £1 @ Deferred PV of
(vears) 10% flow 14% YP slice
0 n/a -100,000 n/a -100,000
1-5 n/a 5,000 n/a 3.433081 17,165
6-10 1.610510 8,053 0.5193687 1.783035 14,358
11-15 2.593742 12,969 0.2697438 0.9260523 12,010
16-20 4177248 20,886 0.1400965 0.4809626 10,046
21-25 6.727500 33,637 0.0727617 0.2497969 8,403
26-30 10.83471 54,174 0.0377902 0.1297367 7,028
31-perp. 17.44940 87,247 0.0196270 0.3925405 34,248
Net present value 3,257



Yields and Interest Rates 155

Period Amt £1 @ Cash PV £1 @ Deferred PV of

(vears) 10% flow 14% YP slice
0 n/a -100,000 n/a -100,000
1-5 n/a 5,000 n/a 3.352155 16,761

6-10 1.610510 8,053 0.4971767 1.666614 13,420
11-15 2.593742 12,969 0.2471847 0.8286015 10,746
16-20 4177248 20,886 0.1228945 0.4119614 8,604
21-25 6.727500 33,637 0.0611003 0.2048176 6,890
26-30 10.83471 54,174 0.0303776 0.1018306 5,517
31-perp. 17.44940 87,247 0.0151031 0.3020611 26,354

Net present value -11,709

3,257

IRR:14+(1X14,966

): 14.22%

Notes to the calculation:

1.

Because the rent review period is for 5 years, the calculation deals with
the cash flows in slices of 5 years as the income cannot change within
the 5-year period.

. The cash flows for each period have been inflated by the amount of £1

at the growth rate of 10 per cent to the beginning of each period,
showing the rent with growth at each review.

The deferral rate is calculated for each cash flow period for each trial
rate (PV £1 for deferred period at 14 and 15 per cent). This is multi-
plied by the PV £1 column to give the deferred YP.

The period cash flow is valued by capitalising at the trial rates for the 5-
year period (YP 5 years at 14 and 15 per cent). This is multiplied by
the PV £1 column to give the deferred YP.

The deferred YP at the trial rates is multiplied by the inflated cash flow
to give the value of the deferred slice. The values of the deferred slices
are added together to give the net present value.

To calculate the equated yield which is the IRR of the calculation, we
need to arrive at a positive and negative NPV, and interpolate between
them to obtain the point where the NPV = 0; this is then the yield, which
is the IRR.

The calculation could go on indefinitely, but cash flows after 30 years
because of the deferral factor make much less difference to the calcula-
tion; after this, no growth is added to the income and thus the initial
yield is used for the trial rates. In this case, the initial yield is 5 per cent
and the final deferred YP is YP in perpetuity @ 5 per cent deferred 30
years. In view of the problems of predicting growth over the longer
period, it may be more desirable to restrict the analysis to 20 years.
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An alternative way of arriving at the equated vield is to use the equation
that underpins the calculation. The equated yield equation is:

I:E_E{%}

(1+E)" -1

rack rent

purchase price
is freehold or let at the rack rent or full rental value — the vield is expressed
as a decimal in the equation, not a percentage;

where [ is the initial or all-risks yield = when the property

E is the equated vield as a decimal;

G is the annual growth rate in rental income compounded as a decimal;
and

n is the rent review period in years.

This equation, which lies behind the DCF calculation used above, can be
used directly to compute the growth rate, and this is shown in Example
10.3, the calculation to find the implied growth rate.

10.4 THE IMPLIED GROWTH RATE

There are a number of ways of doing this, as shown in Example 10.3.

Example 10.3: The implied growth rate

A freehold shop is let on a 25-year lease with 5-year reviews at the full
rental value of £25,000. The property has been sold for £500,000. What
is the implied rental growth rate?
_ £25,000
~ £500,000
Target rate of return (assumed) (e) = 15 per cent

Rent review period (t) = 5 years

Implied annual growth rate (g) is calculated from the formula (this is the
same formula as the above but the terms used are different; there are two
different sources and it is up to the reader which is chosen):

o e[(1+g)t —1]
(1+e) -1

Capitalisation rate (k) =0.05 =5 per cent

0.15(1+g)" - 1]

SO 0.05=0.15- s
(1+0.15) -1
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and g =0.1085 = 10.85 per cent
An alternative formula on the same basis is:

_ YP perp. @k —YPt years @ e
" YP perp. @ k x PV t years @ e

The analysis of growth from example 10.3 is used in example 10.4.

1+g)

Example 10.4: Shortened cash flow model

Shortened cash flow model

(spreadsheet layout)

Freehold shop

Lease 25 years 5 year reviews

Existing year of lease 0

Years to review 5

Equated yield 15.00%

Market capitalisation 5.00%

Net rental value £ 100,000 p.a.

Implied rate of growth 10.86%

Period Amt £1 @ | Cash PVEl @ Deferred PV of

(years) 10.86% flow 15.00% YP slice

0-5 1 100,000 |1 3.352155 | 335,216

6-10 1.674238 | 167,424 [0.497177 | 1.666614 | 279,031

11-15 2.803073 | 280,307 |0.247185 | 0.828601 | 232,263

16-20 4.693012 | 469,301 [0.122894 | 0.411961 | 193,334

21-25 7.85722 785,722 10.0611 0.204818 | 160,930

26-30 13.15486 | 1,315,486 |0.030378 | 0.101831 | 133,957

31-perp. 22.02436 | 2,202,436 |0.015103 | 0.302061 | 665,270
Capital value 2,000,000

Notes:

1. The deferred YP is the YP for 5 years at the equated yield times the PV in
the previous column.

2. The deferred YP for the years over 30 is YP in perp. at the market capital-
isation rate times the PV in the previous column.
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An alternative would be to use the equation discussed earlier, which is the
DCF model. This provides a solution for the YP by rearrangement of the
terms (see Baum and Crosby, 1988, p.123):

;. (+g)

YP nyears = YP t years @ e x (1—+e)t
1 (+g)

(1+e)

Where the income is £1 per annum, the total term is n years, the rent
review period is t years, the equated vield is e per cent and the growth rate
is g per cent p.a.

By formula (spreadsheet layout)
YP n years = YP t years @ e x 1_(1+9)n/(1+e)n
1-(1+g)/(A+e)f

Here n = perpetuity and thus (1 + g)*/(1 + e)" will tend to 0

t= 5 years

e= 15.00%

g= 10.86%

YP in perp. = 3.352155 | x 1

0.167608

= 20

Valuation:

ERV £100,000 | p.a.

YP whole term 20

Capital value £2,000,000]| p.a.

Equated rents

The valuation of equated rents or constant rents relates to the adjustment
of comparables for non-regular rent review patterns. This is to take into
account growth over a longer review pattern. K, the constant rent factor,
is based on the formula:
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K- A-B C-1
“A-1°C-D
where A is the Amount of £1 @ R% (the equated vield) for L years (the
actual abnormal review period);
B is the Amount of £1 @ G% (the growth rate for property of this
type) for L years;
C is the Amount of £1 @ R% for Z years (normal rent review
pattern); and
D is the Amount of £1 @ G% for Z years.

Example 10.5: Equated rents

Calculate the rent appropriate on rent review for a lease with 21-year rent
reviews. The lessor’s required return on capital is 15 per cent (equated yield)
and the growth rate anticipated is 8 per cent. The estimated full rental value
is £10,000 p.a. on a normal rent review pattern of 5 years.

_ Amount of £1 @ 15% for 21 years — Amount of £1 @ 8% for 21 year
a Amount of £1 @ 15% for 21 year — 1

3 Amount of £1 @ 15% for 5 years —1
"~ Amount of £1 @ 15% for 5 years — Amount of £1 @ 8% for 5 years

_18.8215—5.0338>< 2.0114-1
~ 18.8215-1 2.0114-1.4693

=1.443
Thus the rent appropriate on review is:

K x Rent on normal review = 1.443 x £10,000 p.a. = £14,430 p.a.

K

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter examined the yields and interest rates used in property
valuation:

¢ [t analysed the interest rate into its components.
¢ |t has examined the equivalent and equated vyields.
¢ |t has investigated the implied rate of growth.

REFERENCES AND BIBLIOGRAPHY

Barkham, R. J., Ward, C. W. R. and Henry, O. T. (1995) ‘The inflation-hedging
characteristics of UK property’, Journal of Property Finance, Vol. 7, No. 1,
pp.62-76.



160 Property Valuation Principles

Baum, A. and Crosby, N. (1988) Property Investment Appraisal, Routledge,
London.

Baum, A. and Crosby, N. (1995) Property Investment Appraisal, Routledge,
London.

Brown, G. R. (1991) Property Investment and the Capital Markets, E. & F. N.
Spon, London.

Crosby, N. (1992) Reversionary Freeholds; UK Market Valuation Practice,
Research Paper, RICS, London.

Enever, N. and Isaac, D. (1995) The Valuation of Property Investments, Estates
Gazette, London.

French, N. (1994) ‘Editorial: Market Values & DCF’, Journal of Property Valua-
tion and Investment, Vol. 12, No. 1, pp.4-6.

Isaac, D. and Steley, T. (2000) Property Valuation Techniques, Macmillan (now
Palgrave), London.

Matysiak, G., Hoesli, M., MacGregor, B. and Nanathakumaran, N. (1995) ‘Long-
term inflation-hedging characteristics of UK commercial property’, Journal of
Property Finance, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp.50-61.

Scarrett, D. (1991) Property Valuation: The Five Methods, E. & F. N. Spon,
London.



Part 4:
Taxation and Statutory
Valuations

161



This page intentionally left blank



1 1 Taxation

11.1 Introduction
11.2 The conventional approach to valuation
11.3 Net-of-tax valuations

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter investigates net-of-tax calculations for freehold and lease-
hold interests.

Key terms

Net and gross rates and ‘grossing up’— Gross rates of income and
yield are without tax deductions. Net are after tax. ‘Grossing up’ is
the conversion of an income to a higher amount to allow for any tax
deduction.

Example
If t = tax rate as a decimal:

gross rate X (1—t) = net rate
and the grossing-up factor is:
1
-9
so if t = 40 per cent = 0.04 and the net rate required for investment is 3
per cent, then the gross rate needed to provide this net rate is:

1
0.06

gross rate = net rate X

0.03 x =0.05 =5 per cent

11.1 INTRODUCTION

Income is generally assessed for tax but the taxpayer is allowed various
allowances and expenses against income, which reduces the tax payable.

163
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Some investments, such as pensions, have a built-in tax relief. Other
accounts may also have this advantage; the use of the ISA (a tax-free savings
account) in the UK is an example of an investment where the income gen-
erated is considered gross. The net-of-tax return is important because this
is the actual amount that the investor receives. For a given taxpayer, the
combinations of gross return and tax payable are thus of interest.

Tax rates can change on a regular basis, thus the examples in this chapter
look at idealised levels of taxation so that the calculation can be seen. The
make-up of the taxation structure is complex. For instance there is, in the
UK, likely to be a number of different incremental layers of payment as
follows:

Tax rates and allowances in the UK - 2000/2001 Tax Year (vear
ends April 2001)

Income tax rates

Taxable income (after allowances) | Rate

0-£1,520 10%
£1,521-£28,400 22%
Over £28,400 40%

Personal tax allowances

Age Rate

Up to 65 £4,385
65-74 £5,790
Over 74 £6,050

Notes: For those over 65, allowances are reduced if income is greater than
£17,000. Married couple’s allowance for those under 65 has been abolished.

Income from capital gains (Capital Gains Tax — CGT) is taxed with the
income but there are allowances to be set against this. In addition to taxa-
tion on income and capital gains, there are other taxes which affect real
estate. These are:

e rates or land/building tax, an annual tax for local services based on the
assessed value of the property;

¢ VAT on building works, a value added tax on the cost of work, currently
17.5 per cent;

e a transfer tax on the purchase of houses called Stamp Duty.
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Stamp duty was increased in the March 2000 budget. At the upper end,
the rate varies as follows:

Purchase price Rate of Stamp Duty
Under £60,000 Zero

£60,000 to under £250,000 1%

£250,000 to under £500,000 | 3%

Over £500,000 4%

The supposed effect of Stamp Duty is to dampen down boom conditions,
in this case in the south-east of England; although some argue it has an
opposite effect, reducing houses coming onto the market and thus pushing
up prices. The Council of Mortgage Lenders in the UK has said that Stamp
Duty distorts the market by concentrating house prices just below each tier
(The Times, 2000).

So, in appraisal approaches the net-of-tax approach will be used to
analyse the position of the individual, but gross rates need to be applied in
the analysis of the market where buyers and sellers have a wide range of
tax liabilities. This distinction between gross and net positions reflects the
different approaches of valuation of exchange price in the market and the
assessment of worth discussed previously in this book.

11.2 THE CONVENTIONAL APPROACH TO VALUATION

Using the conventional method of property valuation, the view is taken that
the income from the investment will be treated for income or corporation
tax purposes in the same way as any other source of income. For example,
income from government stock is paid ‘gross of tax’ in the same way that
rent is received by the investor. Incomes from investments, whether from
stock, securities or different types of property, will be capitalised using the
appropriate Year’s Purchase for the rate of interest, reflecting the invest-
ment’s security. By deducting tax at the standard rate from the incomes,
the relative position of each investment will not be altered. For this reason,
the conventional view is taken that tax need not be deducted as an outgo-
ing from rent before capitalisation. Furthermore, as the tax position of
investors can vary widely, nothing is gained when valuing for sale on the
open market by deducting tax at an assumed rate.

Where interest is paid ‘net of tax’, the rate of interest must be ‘grossed
up’ using the gross tax factor for the standard rate of tax. So when a Build-
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ing Society quotes ‘an investment rate of 12 per cent — gross equivalent of
16 per cent for tax payers at 25 per cent’ this is arrived at by:

Investment rate 0.12
Gross tax factor @ 25% 1.333
Gross equivalent investment rate 0.16

Tax adjustment factors can be found in Parry’s Tables.

If two investments are to be compared, one being quoted at a yield of
10 per cent gross of tax, the other at 8 per cent net of tax, it is necessary
for the vields to be on the same basis. Assuming tax at a rate of
25 per cent:

Gross of tax yield 10.00%
Net tax factor @ 25% 0.75 (1 - tax rate)
Net of tax yield 7.5%

from which it can be seen the net yield quoted will give a higher return.
Alternatively, the net-of-tax yield can be converted to gross by:

Net-of-tax yield 8.00%
Gross tax factor @ 25% 1.333 [1/(1 - tax rate)]
Gross of tax yield 10.66%

giving the same conclusion.

Leasehold interests

A fundamental factor considered by an investor is that the capital sum
invested will be returned. In the case of freehold interests that last in per-
petuity, that is, the income is infinite, the capital can be recovered at any
time by selling the interest.

Where the income to be valued is terminable, that is, the income is finite,
as is the case with leasehold interests, the conventional view is that an
annual sinking fund should be established to replace the capital sum invested
on termination of the interest. Such funds are in the form of an insurance
policy maturing on expiry of the interest, the annual premium required
being found from the income received; this is allowed for by capitalising
the profit rent from the investment using the Dual Rate Year’s Purchase
factor.

It is imperative that an annual sinking fund investment should not fail,
otherwise the capital will not be returned; such ‘riskless’ investments will
have a low vield — typically about 5 per cent. However low the income gen-
erated by the investment, it is still a source of income subject to income tax
that effectively reduces the yield from the policy, so the rate of interest must
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be ‘netted down’ to find the effective vield, as illustrated above. As a further
example for a tax being paid at 40 per cent:

Policy rate of interest 5.00%
Net tax factor 40% 0.6
Effective yield 3.00%

Certain expenses may be incurred by an investor holding an interest in real
property — for example, repairs and reinstatement insurance — which can
be deducted from rental income before tax is assessed. An annual sinking
fund premium is not such an allowable expense; in other words, the
premium is subject to tax. However, if the premium is reduced by tax it will
be insufficient to replace the capital sum, therefore it is necessary to ‘gross
up’ the premium to an amount which after tax will leave the required
premium.

Leasehold interests are conventionally valued using Dual Rate Year’s
Purchase Tables adjusted for tax:

Net rental value £15,000
Net rent paid 8,000
Profit rent 7,000
YP 4yrs @ 9% & 3% (tax 40%) 2.048
Estimated capital value £14,336

That the required return was 9 per cent is further demonstrated by:

Profit rent £7,000
Less Annual sinking fund:

Capital to be replaced £14,336

ASF 4yrs @ 3% 0.239

Annual sinking fund £3,426

Gross tax factor @ 40% 1.667

Total allowance for ASF £5,711
Remaining income £1,289

£1,289
£14,336

Return on capital = %100 =9 per cent

The allowance of £5,711 for the annual sinking fund includes the tax to be
paid. This can be seen by:

Sum allowed £5,711
Less Income tax @ 40% £2,284
Amount remaining for ASF premium £3,427

It can be seen that when valuing leasehold interests using the conven-
tional method, income tax has two effects:
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1. the rate of interest earned on the ASF policy is reduced;
2. the annual premium for the policy is subject to tax.

As the term of years lengthens, the effect of taxation on the premium
reduces because of the discounting factor. This can be seen by studying the
YP factors:

YP 4 years @ 9% & 3% 3.039
YP 4 years @ 9% & 3% (tax 40%) 2.048
Effect of tax: 33% reduction

YP 60 years @ 9% & 3% 10.402
YP 60 years @ 9% & 3% (tax 40%) 9.978

Effect of tax: 4% reduction

Non-tax payers

Investors who are not subject to income tax, such as pension funds, are
placed in a particularly advantageous position compared with tax-paying
investors when purchasing leasehold interests, because obviously neither the
sinking fund rate nor the annual premium is reduced. In the case of the
above example, a non-tax payer valuation would be:

Profit rent £7,000
YP 4yrs @ 9% & 5% 3.106
Value £21,742

This is over 50 per cent more than the taxpayer’s value.

11.3 NET-OF-TAX VALUATIONS
Freehold interests

As the conventional method generally disregards tax on income, analysis
of comparable sales will normally be on the gross-of-tax basis.

Example 11.1: Freehold net-of-tax valuation

A freehold property recently let at the net rack rent of £8,000 has just been
sold for £100,000. The yield will be:

8,000
100,000

This yield represents what the investment market is prepared to accept for
a gross-of-tax income of £8,000.

x 100 = 8 per cent
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If a net-of-tax analysis is required, the tax paid by the investor must be
deducted from the income. Assuming tax at 40 per cent, this will be:

Gross-of-tax income £8,000
Less Tax @ 40% £3,200
Net income £4 800

£4,800
100,000

Yield = x 100 per cent = 4.8 per cent
On this basis, a valuation must be made by capitalising income using a net-
of-tax yield:

Net-of-tax income £4.800
YP in perp. @ 4.8% 20.833

Capital value

£100,000

A net-of-tax valuation will only be required for an investor whose tax lia-
bility is known. It will be seen that a net-of-tax analysis of an interest let at
rack rent will produce the same rate as one on a gross basis. However, this
is not the case where there is rent below rack rent for a term of years.

Example 11.2: Freehold net-of-tax valuation

Value a freehold income of £750 per annum to be received for 5 years and
which then reverts to rack rent of £1,000. For simplicity, a yield of 10 per
cent is used for the term and reversion.

Gross of tax

Rent £750
YP 5yrs @ 10% 3.791

£2,843
Full rental value £1,000
YP perp. @ 10% 10.00
PV £1 in Syrs @ 10% 0.621

6.21

£6,210

Capital value £9,053
Net of tax

Rent £750
Less Tax @ 40% £300
Net-of-tax income £450
YP bSyrs @ 6% 4.212

£1,875
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Full rental value £1,000

Less Tax @ 40% £400

Net-of-tax income £600

YP perp. @ 6% 16.667

PV £1 in S5yrs @ 6% 0.747

12.45
£7,470
Capital value £9,345

Leasehold interests

The position regarding leasehold interests is the same as for freehold;
namely the same result will be obtained for both the gross and the net-of-
tax basis where there is a single profit rent. When valuing net of tax though,
it is not necessary to use tax-adjusted Dual Rate YP tables, because the total
income tax liability will be deducted before capitalisation.

Example 11.3: Leasehold net-of-tax valuations

Value on a gross and net basis a profit rent of £1000 to be received for 5
years, on which a yield of 10 per cent is required with a sinking fund of 3
per cent, the tax rate being 40 per cent.

Gross of tax

Profit rent £1,000
YP 5yrs @ 10% & 5% (tax 40%) 2416
Capital value £2,416

Net of tax

Profit rent £1,000
Less Tax @ 40% 400
Net-of-tax income 600
YP 5yrs @ 6% & 3% 4.027
Capital value £2,416

There will be difference between gross and net-of-tax values where there is
a term and reversion.

Example 11.4: Leasehold net-of-tax valuations

Value on a gross and net basis a profit rent of £750 to be received for 5
years followed by a profit rent of £1,000 for a further 5 years with the
same conditions as before.
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Gross of tax

Profit rent £750
YP 5yrs @ 10% & 3% (tax 40%) 2.416
£1,812
Profit rent £1,000
YP 5yrs @ 10% & 3% (tax 40%) 2.416
PV £1 in 5yrs @ 10% 0.6209
1.5
£1,500
Value £3,312
Net of tax
Profit rent £750
Less Tax @ 40% 300
Net-of-tax income 450
YP 5yrs @ 6% & 3% 4.027
£1,812

Profit rent £1,000
Less Tax @ 40% 400
Net-of-tax income 600
YP 5yrs @ 6% & 3%  4.027
PV £1 in Syrs @ 6% 0.747

3.01

£1,806

Capital value £3,618

Generally, valuers hold the conventional view that because the property
market consists of such a wide variety of investors, each having their own
tax liability and strategies, there is little point in taking tax into considera-
tion for open-market valuation purposes. With regard to analysis, however,
taxation is of great importance.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter has introduced calculations made on a net-of-tax basis in
respect of both freehold and leasehold properties.

REFERENCES AND BIBLIOGRAPHY
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1 2 Statutory Valuations

12.1 Business tenancies

12.2 Landlord and tenant valuations
12.3 Residential tenancies

12.4 Rating

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter introduces statutory valuations in the context of:

e business tenancies;

e |andlord and tenant valuations;
e residential tenancies;

e rating.

Key terms

Business tenancies — based on the Landlord and Tenant Acts 1927 and
1954,

Annual equivalent rent — rent passing plus/minus any decapitalised
capital payments/receipts.

Premium - a capital sum paid to reduce the annual rental.

12.1 BUSINESS TENANCIES

The legislation on business tenancies is found in the Landlord and Tenant
Acts 1927 and 1954, the latter being amended by the Law of Property Act
1969. The statutory framework consists of the Landlord and Tenant Act
1927 part [ and the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 part II. These Acts deal
with compensation for tenants, improvements and the procedures for
ending the lease. Part Il of the 1954 Act sets out a detailed code of the
rights and duties at the termination of tenancies. The Law of Property Act
1969 has made amendments.
The key sections of the 1954 Act are:

172
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s.23: this gives a broad interpretation of the definition of a business tenant
as covered by the enactment.

s.43: this indicates the types of tenant covered by the Act and excludes
tenants with interests of less than 6 months.

s.38: this provides the scenario whereby a joint application of the two
parties to the lease contract can be made to the court to exclude the
provisions of the Act.

Security of tenure

Section 24 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 states that a business
tenancy cannot come to an end unless terminated in accordance with the
Act, that is by:

¢ notice to quit by the tenant, surrender or forfeiture;

e tenant’s notice to terminate under s.27;

landlord’s notice to terminate under s.25;

e tenant’s request for a new tenancy under s.26;

landlord and tenant agreeing the grant of a new tenancy.

The landlord can oppose the grant of a new tenancy under section 30 of
the Act on a number of grounds:

a) tenant’s breach of repairing obligations;
b) tenant’s persistent delay in the payment of rent;
c) other serious breach of covenant;

d
e

the provision of suitable alternative accommodation for the tenant;
because the landlord wants to let the premises as a whole, which is more
economical;

() because the landlord wants to demolish and reconstruct the premises;
(g) because the landlord wants to occupy the premises.

(
(
(
(d
(e)

Section 24A of the Law of Property Act 1969 allows the landlord to apply
to the court for an interim rent after notice has been given. This gives the
landlord an opportunity to recover a rental close to the market rent during
the period of negotiation.

New tenancy

Section 34 states that the rent on the new lease shall be the open-market
rent, disregarding:
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¢ any effect on the rental value of the tenant’s previous occupation of the
premises;

¢ any goodwill attaching to the premises;

¢ any effect on the rental of certain improvements;

¢ any value attributable to a liquor licence.

Improvements will be disregarded in the calculation of the new rent if they
have been carried out other than as an obligation of the lease and if they
have been carried out either during the currency of the existing lease or in
the last 21 years before review. The legislation allows for compensation on
quitting by the tenant and for improvements carried out by the tenant.

The lease will set out details of the arrangement of the rent reviews,
particularly:

e the frequency of reviews;

e the basis of review (i.e. to open-market value, but this needs to take into
account onerous clauses in the lease, tenant’s improvements made to the
premises and so on);

¢ the nature of the rent to be reviewed, whether it be upwards only,
indexed, based on turnover and so on;

e the procedures for the review;

¢ procedures for arbitration in the event of the two parties disagreeing on
the review.

12.2 LANDLORD AND TENANT VALUATIONS

Analysis of Landlord and Tenant valuations requires the conversion of any
income and capital payments to an annual equivalent rent. This rent, also
called the ‘virtual rent’, represents not only the rent paid but also the yearly
equivalent cost of any capital sums paid, improvements carried out and the
value of a surrendered lease. The virtual rent at the beginning of the lease
should equal the ERV (estimated rental value). The annual equivalent is the
yearly cost to a tenant of occupation which consists of:

1. interest on capital taken at the leasehold rate;

2. asum to provide a sinking fund to recoup the expenditure over the unex-
pired portion of the lease. This sinking fund will be liable to tax, so it
has to be grossed up to allow for any tax to be paid.

Example 12.1: The calculation of an annual equivalent

Estimate the annual equivalent rent of the following industrial unit: lease is
for 25 years with a 5-year rent review on a full repairing and insuring basis
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(FRI terms), the rent agreed is £5,000 p.a. and a premium of £200,000
has been paid. The freehold vield in the market is 6 per cent. The rent will
be reviewed to the market level at the next review.

Approach

Assume leasehold yield to be 6 per cent plus 2 per cent risk premium, say
8 per cent. The rent will be reviewed in 5 years when the benefit of the
premium will be lost. It is necessary to decapitalise the premium over the
5 year period to the review to find its income equivalent.

Calculation of annual equivalent rent

Rent paid 5,000
Annual equivalent of premium:

Premium 200,000

Divided by YP 5 years @ 8% + 3% (40p tax) 3.6198"

Annual equivalent of premium 55,251
Annual equivalent rent £60,251 p.a.

Calculation of YP:

Dual rate YP = 1

i+(SFxﬁ)

i here is the renumerative rate = 8 per cent

. . . _ 1
SF is sinking fund = —( A-1)
and A=(1+i"=(1+0.03°=1.16
(i in respect of the sinking fund is the rate of 3 per cent)

i 0.03
(A-1) (1.16-1) 0.1884

t is the tax rate @ 40 per cent, so

thus

1
(1-t) (1-0.04)

=3.6198

1
"~ 0.08+(0.1884 x 1.0417)

YP =3.6198

* With reference to the YP used, in the approach above many valuers would use
either a gross calculation (YP dual rate without tax) or use a single-rate calculation
at the leasehold yield. We will see in later calculations that this means that the lessor’s
and lessee’s view of the calculations are much closer and thus some of the negoti-
ations suggested in landlord and tenant relationships become more feasible.

There are different types of application of valuation methods to landlord
and tenant relationships, essentially these are about:
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¢ payments of premium;
¢ surrender and renewal of leases;
¢ the treatment of improvements.

Premiums

A premium is a capital sum paid to reduce the level of rental to be paid;
the rental is reduced by the annual equivalent of the premium. There are a
number of advantages to the landlord and tenant of such an arrangement.
For the landlord, the payment of such an amount by the tenant will reduce
the rental usually below the market rental; thus the landlord’s investment
becomes very secure. The payment of such a premium would increase the
cash flow position of the landlord and may have tax advantages. For the
tenant, it may be advantageous to make this initial payment and reduce
overheads.

Example 12.2: Premiums

If a shop lease is being sold on the following terms, what premium could
be charged?

Data:

Full rental value £10,000 p.a.
Rent passing £2,000
Unexpired term on lease 5 years
Freehold vield at full rental value 6.00%
Leasehold vield, say plus 1% 7.00%
Lessee’s proposed interest

Full rental value £10,000 p.a.
Less Rent passing £2,000 p.a.
Profit rent £8,000 p.a.
YP S5yrs @ 7 + 3% (40p tax) 2.6047
Premium to be paid £20,837
Lessor’s proposed interest

Full rental value £10,000

Less Annual equivalent of premium paid:

£20,837

_ £20,837

YP5yrs@6%  4.2124

Rent required

= £4,947

£5,053




Calculation of yields

Leasehold yield i =7.00%
SF rate s = 3.00%
t =04
n=5

Freehold yield i = 6.00%
n=>5

YP = YP 5urs@6% = L2V

Dual rate YP = YP 5yrs @8 + 3%(40p tax) =

The spreadsheet equation is 1/(i + ((s/((1 + s)an) — 1))=(1/(1 — t6))

=4.2124
The spreadsheet equation is (1 — (1/(1 + i)an)))/i
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1

—1:2.6047
z+(SF X (1—t))

This shows the premium to be paid as £20,837 from the lessee’s point of
view, but when we analyse from the lessor’s point of view, the premium is
insufficient and on the basis of this level of premium the lessor would look
to increase the rental to £5,053 p.a. The discrepancy between the exist-
ing rent (£2,000) assumed by the lessee’s calculation and the £5,053
revised rent in the lessor’s view is a product of the difference of the yield
rates used. For the lessor, this is a single rate of 6 per cent; for the lessee,
is a dual rate adjusted for tax (7% + 3% (40p tax)). If we repeat the calcu-
lation using single rates for both parties:

Data:

Full rental value

Rent passing

Unexpired term on lease
Freehold vield at full rental value
Leasehold vield, say plus 1%

Lessee’s proposed interest
Full rental value

Less Rent passing

Profit rent

YP Syrs @ 7%

Premium to be paid

£10,000 p.a.
£2,000
5 years
6.00%
7.00%

£10,000 p.a.
£2,000 p.a.
£8,000 p.a.
4.1002

£32,802

Continued
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Lessor’s proposed interest
Full rental value £10,000
Less Annual equivalent of premium paid:
£32,802  £32,802
YP5yrs@6% 4.2124 £7,787
Rent required £2.213
Calculation of yields
Freehold yield i = 6.00% 7.00%
n=5 5
YP = YP 5yrs @6% = 1 _,PV =4.2124
i
YP = YP 5yrs@7% = 1_,PV =4.1002
i

Here the agreed new rent with the premium will be the compromise
between the lessor’s and lessee’s view, say:

(£2,213+£2,000)
2

It might be that there would be a minor change in the rent here or in the
premium to reflect the lessor’s view. For the following calculation we will
again use a single rate in the valuation of the lessee’s interest so that the
compromise position can be drawn out.

=say, £2,106

Surrender and renewal

The analysis of the premium can be further extended to surrender and
renewal situations where a lessee might surrender a lease to renew and
extend it to provide more security, especially if the tenant is thinking of car-
rying out works. A before-and-after scenario can be used. Imagine a situa-
tion where the existing lease has 4 years to run but the lessee wants a new
lease for 5 years without review.
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Example 12.3: Surrender and renewal

Lessee’s present interest

Full rental value £10,000 p.a.

Less Rent passing £2,000 p.a.

Profit rent £8,000 p.a.

YP 4yrs @ 7% 3.3872

Value of interest £27,098

We can compare this with the proposed interest from above: £32,802
Increase in value £5,704

Let present = proposed

£27,098 = £32,802 — premium (P)

P = £5,704

But this is the lessee’s view. What difference will it make to the lessor?

Lessor’s present interest

Term:

Rent reserved £2,000 p.a.

YP 4yrs @ 5% 3.5460

Value of term £7,092
Reversion:

Full rental value £10,000 p.a.

YP in perp. @ 6% defrd. 4 years 13.2016

Value of reversion £132,016
Total value £139,108

Lessor’s proposed interest: assumes rent remains same
Term:

Rent reserved £2,000 p.a.

YP 5Syrs @ 5% 4.3295

Value of term £8,659
Reversion:

Full rental value £10,000 p.a.

YP in perp. @ 6% defrd. 5 years 12.4543

Value of reversion £124,543
Total value £133,202

Let present = proposed
£139,108 = £133,202 + premium (P)
P = £5,906

Here the agreed premium will be the compromise between the lessor’s and
lessee’s view, say:
£5,906 + £5,704
2

=£5,805
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Improvements

Improvements have to be disregarded under the 21-year rule of the Land-
lord and Tenant Act 1927. Tenant’s voluntary improvements will only be
disregarded if they were completed during the current tenancy or completed
less than 21 years before the rent review. If improvements are to be included
in a calculation, then we can take the example used previously. Assume the
lessee is thinking of spending £10,000 and this will increase the full rental
value rental by 6 per cent. This calculation is done from the lessee’s point
of view only to show the example of the calculation:

Example 12.4: Improvements

Lessee’s present interest

Full rental value £10,000 p.a.

Less Rent passing £2,000 p.a.

Profit rent £8,000 p.a.

YP 4yrs @ 8 + 3% (40p tax) 2.0904

Value of interest £16,723

Lessee’s proposed interest

Full rental value £10,000 p.a.

Add For improvements: £10,000 @ 6% £600 p.a.

New full rental value £10,600 p.a.

Rent to be reserved x

Profit rent £10,600 - x p.a.
YP 5yrs @ 8 + 3% (40p tax) 3.8846

Value of interest £41,177 — 3.8846x
Less Cost of improvements £10,000

Net value £31,177 — 3.8846x

Let present = proposed

£16,723 = £31,177 — 3.8846x

x =£3,721

This shows the revised rent the lessee would want to pay.

Check:

Lessee’s proposed interest

Value of lease £16,723
Plus Improvements £10,000
Capital value (assumes all improvement cost adds to value) £26,723
The annual equivalent is:

£26,723 _£26,723

= =£6,879
YP 7yrs@8 + 3%(40ptax)  3.8846 .87
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This represents the annual equivalent of the new position and can be
checked against new full rental value less new revised rent to the lessor:

£10,600 less £3,721 equals £6,879 p.a. new profit rent

12.3 RESIDENTIAL TENANCIES

The majority of residential property is owner occupied but there is still a
substantial private sector. The setting of legislation on the sector goes back
to the Rent Acts of 1957 and 1965; this legislation had a severe effect on
the market, creating rent control and security for tenants. The Acts created
controlled and regulated tenancies paying controlled and fair rents. The
Housing Acts of 1980 and 1988 provide a significant change to the legis-
lation and gave rise to a number of tenancies, the four main areas of inter-
est here are regulated tenancies, assured tenancies, assured shortholds and
long leaseholds.

¢ Regulated tenancies are essentially those, as mentioned earlier, which
were controlled or regulated prior to the 1980 and 1988 Acts.

e Assured tenancies under the 1988 Act are the basis for recent residen-
tial lettings. There is protection provided for the tenant but essentially the
rents are at a market level.

e Assured shortholds are tenancies for a limited period with a minimum
of six months.

¢ Long leasehold legislation has its origins in the 1967 Leasehold Reform
Act although subsequent legislation has modified it. Long leaseholders
under this and subsequent legislation have the rights, under certain con-
ditions, to purchase the freehold of their property (termed enfranchise-
ment) or else to extend the lease by 50 years. Rights to enfranchisement
have been extended by the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Devel-
opment Act 1993.

12.4 RATING

Property is assessed for rates, which is a local property tax. General rate
and water rates are calculated by applying the rate in the £ to the Rateable
Value (RV) calculated. The assessment for rates is on a Gross Value (GV)
basis or a Net Annual Value basis (NAV). The Gross Value basis is a calcu-
lation of the rent of the property let on an annual basis with the landlord
being responsible for repairs and insurance. Net Annual Value (NAV) is the
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annual rent where the tenant is responsible for repairs and insurance. The
principle of assessing the value is on the basis that:

the property is vacant and to let;

it is in its existing physical state (Latin expression: rebus sic stantibus);
it takes into account actual rents passing on the property and the level
of comparable rents;

it is based on the ‘tone of the list” which means that the rent value cal-
culated must take into account the level of value in the rating list and
reflect that general level of value.

Assessment methods include the rental method (based on comparable evi-
dence), the contractor’s method (where comparable market evidence is not
available) and the profits method, used in the same way as the valuation
method generally outlined in Chapter 5, where there is an element of
monopoly in the property business.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter has introduced:

The basis of business tenancies — security of tenure and the grant of
new tenancies.

Landlord and tenant valuations — premiums and surrender and
renewals.

Types of residential tenancies.

A brief summary of rating.
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1 3 The Development of the
Residual Valuation

13.1 The detailed residual valuation
13.2 The calculation of the development profit
13.3 Sensitivity and risk

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter sets out the detailed residual valuation and its various
components. It explains how to calculate the development profit and
allow for the variation of the inputs to the calculation where those
inputs cannot be provided as spot figures. The elements are thus
examined for their sensitivity.

13.1 THE DETAILED RESIDUAL VALUATION

Example 13.1: The detailed residual valuation

Key data

A site of 9,000 square metres is owned by the local authority.

A development brief prepared by the local authority has suggested that
an appropriate development on the site would be a mixed commercial
scheme incorporating:

Office space: 5,280m? gross
Supermarket: 3,000m? gross
Shop units: 20 at 125m? gross each

The local authority will agree to the demolition of buildings on site.
Two hundred car parking spaces will need to be provided, 50 being accom-
modated above the supermarket and the rest as surface car parking.

185
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Building costs
Demolition and site preparation costs £100,000

Offices £500/m?
Standard shop units £300/m?
Supermarket £250/m?

Surface car parking £400 per space
Roof top car parking £2,000 per space

The scheme will take 18 months to complete.

Rents and yield

Office rents are £70/m? on modern leases.

Shops/supermarkets let at £80,/m? overall in the locality (based on net retail
space).

Yield on the overall scheme is 7 per cent.

Making whatever assumptions are necessary, prepare an appraisal to deter-
mine whether the scheme is viable and determine the residual value of the

land,

or overall loss.

Calculation

Assumptions:

1. Gross area is quoted. To obtain a net area, deduct 20 per cent for offices,
10 per cent for shops and 10 per cent for supermarket to give the net
retail space.

2. Yield — given at 7 per cent.

3. Sales costs, if investment is sold on at end of development period, should
be deducted from the Gross Development Value. For simplicity, example
assumes developer retains the site.

4. Deductions are:

total building costs (on gross areas);

fees on building costs (12.5 per cent);

finance on fees and building costs (building cost for half the building
period, and fees at two-thirds building period as costs paid out grad-
ually over contract);

finance rate is, say, base +9 per cent = 15 per cent (assume risky
security);

contingency;

letting fees (15 per cent rental — assumes joint agents);

advertising;

profit as, say, 17 per cent GDV;

5. A void or letting period of 3 months is allowed for — interest is calcu-
lated on total sum for this period.
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6. Amount of residual has to be discounted back to the beginning of the
development period (18 months + 3 months void) less purchase costs.

Site appraisal

Gross Development Value
Supermarket — 3,000m? gross

less 10 per cent, say 2,700m? net

at £80 perm?
Shops — 20 at 125m? gross
less 10 per cent, say 110m? net
at £80perm? = £8,800 x 20
Offices — 5,280m? gross

less 20 per cent, say 4,224 m? net

at £70 perm?
Total income
Yield in perp. at 7 per cent
Gross Development Value
Less Costs
Building costs
5,280 m? offices @ £500
3,000m? supermarket @ £250
125m? shops x 20 x £300
Car park:
150 at £400
50 at £2,000
Demolition and site cost

Total building cost
Fees at 12.5 per cent

Interest on half building cost for
18 months at 15 per cent
Interest on two-thirds fees for
18 months at 15 per cent
Total cost
Interest on total for void period for
3 months @ 15 per cent p.a.
Add contingency at 3 per cent

Letting fees at 15 per cent rent, say
Advertising 1 per cent GDV, say

Total Development Costs

Plus developers profit at 17 per cent GDV
Costs plus profit

£216,000 p.a.

£176,000 p.a.

£295,680 p.a.
£687,680 p.a.
14.29 YP

£2,640,000
750,000
750,000

60,000
100,000

100,000

£4,400,000
550,000

495,000

82,500

£5,527,500
207,281

£5,734,781

172,043

£5,906,824

95,000
90,000

£6,091,824
1,670,581

£9,826,947

£7,762,405
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Value of site in 1% year £2.064,542
x PV of £1 in 1%, years at 15 per cent, say 0.783
Value of site now £1,616,536
less Acquisition costs at 4 per cent 4661
Site value £1,551,875

Site value that could be offered is, say £1,550,000

13.2 THE CALCULATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT PROFIT

The residual valuation shows how much to pay for the site. If the site value
is already known, then this can be incorporated into the valuation to work
out the developers profit. Using the figures from above, the capital profit
on completion can be calculated, together with the annual profit.

(1) Capital profit on completion

Expected capital value £9,826,947
Expected total costs:
Building cost, fees and finance on total £6,091,824
Land cost £1,550,000
Finance on land cost @ 15 per cent over £726,411%
2%, vears £8,368,235
Residual profit £1,458,712

* This is calculated by compound interest: [£1,550,000 x (1 + 0.15)?7%] —
£1,550,000. This is based on the Amount of £1 formula or compound
interest.

Thus instead of the traditional residual calculation to find the site value,
which is based on:

Gross Development Value less (Building Cost plus Profit) equals Residual
Site Value or Land Cost

GDV -(BC+P)=LC
this is rearranged to:

Gross Development Value less Total Cost (which includes Land Cost) equals
Profit

GDV -(BC+LC)=P
From the calculation: £1,458,712

Profit as a percentage of total cost = £8.368.255 =17.4 per cent
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£1,265,000

£9.826,947 =14.8 per cent

Profit as a percentage of capital value =

(2) Annual profit if scheme is retained as an investment

This assumes that the developer has funded the scheme from its own funds
or else an investing institution has acted as developer. Say the developer
requires a 7 per cent long-term vield.

Expected annual income £687,680 p.a.

Expected total costs:

Building cost, fees and finance on total £6,091,824

Land cost £1,550,050

Finance on land cost @15% over 2%, years £726,411

Total costs £8,368,235
£687,680

Development yield = =8.22 per cent

£8,368,235
Thus any return greater than 7 per cent could be the developers profit =
1.22 per cent.

So, in the residual valuation approach:

Value — Cost = Profit on a capital basis

and Development vield — Investment yield = Developer’s profit on an annual
basis

13.3 SENSITIVITY AND RISK

The traditional residual technique is not adequate to deal with a more
complex development situation where expenditure and income are being
made and received at different times over a long time scale. Greater accu-
racy can be achieved by using cash flow approaches — either:

¢ a cash flow method, using period-by-period cash flows on which interest
can be charged;

¢ a discounted cash flow (DCF) method, as above except that the flows are
discounted back to the present;

¢ a DCF approach, building inflation into costs and growth into rents.

Improved techniques do not solve all the difficulties of the calculation; the
problem of a residual calculation is that changes in elements of the calcu-
lation can affect the final site value drastically. Sensitivity analysis looks at
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the various elements of the residual calculation in an attempt to distinguish
those elements where change will most affect profitability. Attention can
then be paid to such factors and steps taken to reduce the uncertainty.

Detailed application of sensitivity and risk are beyond this book, so here
only an introduction is attempted into the variables involved. When we look
at the residual valuation, we see that there are a number of variables in
respect of the inputs to that valuation. These variables are subject to change
and possible indications of these changes are indicated below.

1. Land costs

The land costs may be put in at the asking price but, in practice, if the
appraisal does not produce a satisfactory developer’s vield or profit, the
scheme would have to be abandoned or some means found to reduce devel-
opment costs. Because the land cost is a residual cost, it can therefore be
negotiated.

2. Ancillary costs of acquisition

The ancillary costs of acquisition are made up of agent’s fees, legal fees
and Stamp Duty. Each of these is either the subject of a fixed scale or can
be determined accurately prior to purchase. In any event, they comprise a
small part of the total development cost, perhaps not more than 0.5 per
cent.

3. Pre-building contract period

The period for which the land will be held, and therefore the period for
which it has to be financed, is made up of three parts. Firstly, the period
between the purchase of the land and the start of construction, which may
be easy to assess if planning permission is already available. When no plan-
ning permission exists, the contract of purchase may be made subject to
planning permission being granted, and the greater part of the land costs
therefore will not be incurred until that time. The second period that
has to be financed is the period of construction, and the third period is
the period for letting and selling. If the property is speculative, you will
need to assume that there is no rental income receivable before the com-
pletion of construction and that an additional period of perhaps three
months needs to be allowed to secure a tenant and arrange for leases to
be granted. Where the scheme is pre-let or pre-sold, this period may be
eliminated.

4. Short-term rate of interest

Having established an estimated period for holding the land, it is necessary
to apply an estimated rate of interest on short-term borrowing, to arrive at
the cost of holding the land. The developer may have established sources
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of funds or may have arranged specific short-term funds for the particular
scheme. The estimated rate of interest will reflect current rates and possi-
ble future trends.

5. Area of building

If there is detailed planning consent, then the area of building is known
from this consent, otherwise it will be based on discussion with the local
authority and a consideration of what is physically possible. A common plot
ratio for industrial buildings is 1:2, that is, one metre square of building
space to each two metre square of land.

6. Building costs

The estimate of the cost of construction is a major element; it is affected
by the level of inflation. The overall rate of increase in the building costs
is made up of the increase in the cost of building materials and in the cost
of labour. It is usual to allow foreseeable increases in wages and material
costs, which can be reasonably estimated for perhaps six months or so
ahead.

The Building Cost Information Service monitors the cost of projects and
indicates possible changes. These could be built into prediction of future
changes — see Box 13.1, which provides a summary of the fourth quarter
of 1998.

7. Professional fees

In addition to the basic cost of construction, there are professional fees.
Given the estimated building costs, they can be calculated fairly accurately
as they are normally related to an established range of charges. The figure
for fees may be made up as follows:

Architect 6%
Quantity surveyor 4%
Engineer 2%
Building Regulations’ approvals, etc. 0.5%
Total 11.5%

8. Building and letting period

The length of the building period is important because it affects the cost
of holding the land and the cost of short-term building finance. The
normal convention is to assume that the building costs are spread evenly
over the building period. The cost of construction has to be financed during
the building period and for the period it takes to sell or let the completed
project.
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BOX 13.1: EXAMPLE FROM BCIS WEB PAGE
(http://bcis.co.uk/review.html), updated 24 March 1999

A Review of the Construction Economy

Tender prices increase year on year

e Tender prices rose 5.0 per cent in the year to the fourth quarter of
1998.

e Tender prices fell by 0.7 per cent compared with the previous quarter.

e The General Building Cost Index rose 4.0 per cent in the year to the
fourth quarter 1998.

e Materials costs rose 0.6 per cent in the past year, while nationally agreed
wage rates rose 6.1 per cent.

e Materials prices are expected to rise below the predicted rate of inflation
in the first year of the forecast, rising at around the rate of inflation over
the following year.

e Wage awards are expected to be settled above the predicted level of infla-
tion during the forecast period.

e Data on new orders for construction in the fourth quarter of 1998 was
delayed. However, anecdotal evidence suggests that orders fell in the fourth
quarter of 1998 compared with the previous quarter.

e Demand is expected to rise throughout the forecast period although the
rate of increase for new construction work is likely to slow down consid-
erably in 1999, rising a little in 2000. The commercial sector is anticipated
to be the main contributor to growth, particularly through demand for
entertainment projects, helped by Lottery and Millennium funding. PFI
schemes should increasingly add to growth in the commercial sector with
more schemes entering the construction phase. ©BCIS Ltd 1999

9. Agent’s fees

The amount of the agent’s fees is fairly easy to assess as it is normally
charged in relation to some established scale of charges. Note, however,
that fees are negotiable and that official scale fees have generally been
abolished.

10. Advertising costs

The cost of advertising includes the cost of advertising the property and
of preparing and distributing particulars. This item of cost is fairly easy
to estimate and is normally a small percentage of the total development
costs.

11. Rental income
The rental income is an estimate of the rent that will be achieved when the
development is completed at the end of the development period. The
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convention is that appraisals are based on today’s costs and rental values
without allowing for inflation or real increases over the period of the devel-
opment. Indeed, the conservative convention is to allow for some infla-
tionary effect on building costs but to keep rental values to current levels.
The rental income directly determines the developer’s yield and indirectly
the developer’s profit which is related to capital value.

12. Investor’s yield

Having established the estimate of rental income, the capital value of the
completed project is arrived at by capitalising that income at the appropri-
ate investor’s yield, making allowance for the cost of disposal. The prime
property market is compact and the flow of market intelligence compara-
tively efficient. Yields do, however, vary over time and, unless the invest-
ment is to be pre-sold, that is the terms for the eventual sale are agreed
with an investor prior to the start of the development, the developer has
to form a view of the yields that will prevail at the end of the project,
perhaps some eighteen months on. Because of the difficulties of forecast-
ing, it is not unusual to adopt current yields.

SUMMARY OF SECTION

¢ |n this section we have looked at twelve elements which could
affect the result of the residual calculation.

e The most important will be those that have the most effect on the
result of the calculation.

e Our sensitivity analysis will inform us which has the most effect.
Sensitivity is explained later.

The most important elements in the calculation will depend on the
project, but are likely to be (in order):

1. investor’s yield (this will determine the gross development value);

2. rent (this will determine the gross development value);

3. building cost;

4. finance charges (determined by interest rate and development period).

Sensitivity testing

Small changes in individual inputs lead to larger changes in the residual
answer; sensitivity testing is a way of examining the effects. A simple
example is set out below which shows the effect of changes on two differ-
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ent development appraisals, one with a low land value and the other with
a high land value.

Development on prime Development on cheap

site (land cost high in site (land cost low in
proportion to other costs) proportion to other costs)
GDV £1,000,000 £1,000,000
Total costs £700,000 £900,000
(inc. finance)
Land value £300,000 £100,000

Assume three scenarios for the above appraisals:

(i) value and cost increase by the same percentage;
(ii) value increases more than cost;
(iii) cost increases more than value

(i) Value and cost increase in the same proportion. In this case, land
value will increase in the same proportion.
(ii) Value increases by 30 per cent, cost by 10 per cent.

Prime development site Cheap site
GDV £1,300,000 £1,300,000
Total costs £770,000 990,000
Land value £530,000 310,000
Percentage change +77% +210%

Thus, if value increases by more than cost, it affects land value more if the
land value is small in proportion to the total value of the development.
(iii) Value increases by 10 per cent, cost by 20 per cent.

Prime development site Cheap site
GDV £1,100,000 £1,100,000
Total costs £840,000 £1,080,000
Land value £260,000 £20,000
Percentage change -13% -80%

The effect on the land value where the land value is a small proportion of
total value is again more dramatic, illustrating the concept of gearing.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

e This chapter has provided a detailed residual valuation.

* |t has examined the developer’s profit calculation in this context.

¢ |t has begun to look at applying the concepts of sensitivity and risk
in the calculations used in development valuation.
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14 Property Finance

14.1 Introduction

14.2 Categories of finance
14.3 Sources of finance
14.4 Lending criteria

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter aims to consider the structure of property finance, the cat-
egories and sources of finance and the lending criteria on which
finance is granted.

14.1 INTRODUCTION

The sorts of questions which may be key in our understanding of what
finance is all about in a generalised corporate context are:

e What long-term investment strategy should a company take on?
¢ How can cash be raised for the required investments?
¢ How much short-term cash flow does a company need to pay its bills?

These are strategic decisions that will determine the strategy for generat-
ing cash and at the same time ensure that the company is liquid.

One way that companies raise cash to finance their investment activities
is by selling or issuing securities. These securities are also called financial
instruments or claims, as they are claims on the cash and assets of the
company. Such securities may be roughly classified as equity or debt, and
are loosely called respectively stock or bonds in the US and shares and loan
stock in the UK. The differences in terminology do make this a problem
when dealing with finance literature from the US. Sometimes the basic con-
cepts behind a security or its operation may differ, as in the operation of
financial options.

The difference between equity and debt is a basic distinction of the
modern theory of finance, and this book uses the distinction to classify the
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Figure 14.1 The importance of cash

instruments available. To summarise, all the securities of a firm are claims
that depend on or are contingent on the value of the firm. Maximising share-
holder’s wealth is the primary goal of the company and thus financial deci-
sions are made to increase value for shareholders. A company raises cash
by issuing securities to the financial markets. There are two basic types of
financial markets: the money markets and the capital markets. Money
markets deal with debt securities that pay off in the short term, usually less
than one year. Capital markets are the markets for long-term debt and
equity shares.
The cash flow approach to the firm is shown in Figure 14.1.

The balance sheet model of the firm

The concept of the finance function as a corporate activity can be seen
easily in the use of a balance sheet model of the firm (Ross et al., 1993).
The balance sheet is a yearly snapshot of the assets and liabilities of the
firm. These approaches, besides looking at the application of company
funds for the purchase of assets, also differentiate between the sources of
the funds, in particular the difference between long-term debt and share-
holders’ equity in the firm (see Figure 14.2). An understanding of the dif-
ference between equity and debt is fundamental to an understanding of how
finance works. The structure of finance can analysed in two different ways:

e Debt v. equity;
¢ Project v. corporate funding.



198 Property Valuation Principles

Current liabilities

Current assets
Net
working
capital Long-term debt

Fixed assets

1. Tangible Shareholder equity
2. Intangibles

Total value of assets Total value of the firm to investors

Figure 14.2 The balance sheet model of the firm [Ross et al., 1993]

In the past, most interest in property finance concentrated on project
finance but with the size of schemes increasing and innovatory techniques
of funding derived from the US and other economic sectors, there is now
more interest in corporate finance. Generally, firms offer two basic types
of securities to investors: debt securities are contractual obligations to repay
corporate borrowing; equity securities are shares of common stock and pre-
ferred stock that represent non-contractual claims on the residual cash flow
of the firm. Issues of debt and equity that are publicly sold by the firm are
then traded on the financial markets. These distinctions between equity and
debt and between project and corporate finance are clarified in the follow-
ing paragraphs.

Debt v. equity

Equity is money and resources provided by the developer, partners,
investors and funds who participate in the risk and profit of the scheme.
Debt finance basically consists of loans raised from banks and other sources
against the project (project specific) and non-project specific loans raised in
the market. This is not always a useful distinction as corporate funding, the
raising of finance against the assets of a company, can be based on equity
as well as debt.



Property Finance 199

Project v. corporate finance

Project finance is finance provided where the principal or only security for
the finance is the property itself, although supporting guarantees and addi-
tional collateral may also be requested. Corporate finance is finance raised
on the back of the corporate entity rather than the project. Traditionally,
property and other companies provided funds for new projects from
retained earnings, the issue of new share and borrowings. In the post-war
era, fixed interest mortgages and debentures were also used. Nowadays,
there may be a complex corporate package of different types of funds.

Using the parameters above, the funding matrix can distinguish among
the financing methods available and this is shown in Table 14.1.

Capital structure

Financing arrangements determine how the value of a company is sliced
up. The persons or institutions that buy debt from the firm are creditors.
The holders of the equity shares are shareholders. The size of the
company’s balance sheet will determine how well the company has made
its investment decisions. The size of the firm is its value in the financial
markets:

V=D+E
Value of company = Value of debt + Value of equity
[Ross et al., 1993]

Corporate securities issued are a contingent claim on the value of the
company. The shareholders’ claim on the value of the company is a re-
sidual after payment to the debtholder; they get nothing if the value of the
company is equal to or less than the amount promised to the debt holders.

Table 14.1 Funding matrix

Corporate funding Project finance
Equity Share issues Partnership funds
finance Single asset unitisation
Debt Loan stock Bank overdrafts

finance Fixed interest debentures  Short-term funds for development
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Capital structure and gearing

The basic points relating to capital structure and gearing are:

¢ money lent to the business by third parties is debt finance or loan capital;

¢ most companies borrow money on a long-term basis by issuing stocks or
debentures;

e the supplier of the loan will specify the amount of loan, rate of interest,
date of payment and method of repayment;

¢ the finance manager of a firm will monitor the long-term financial struc-
ture of the firm by examining the relationship between loan capital (where
interest and loan repayments are contractually obligatory) and ordinary
share capital (where dividend payment is at the discretion of the
directors);

¢ this relationship between debt and equity is called gearing (known in the
US as leverage) — strictly, gearing is the proportion of debt capital to total
capital in the firm;

e the capital structure of a property company is a key factor in how a
company is viewed in terms of its attractiveness for an investor or lender;

e the property sector was characterised by a high level of gearing because
of the availability of fixed interest finance during the first post-war boom
from 1954 to 1964, and this has occurred in subsequent boom periods;

¢ high gearing is of benefit when property values are rising ahead of in-
terest charges, but can be dangerous if the real rate of interest is rising
at a greater rate than property values.

An example of financial gearing is shown in Box 14.1.

Financial markets

The financial markets are composed of the money markets and the capital
markets. Money markets are the markets for debt securities that pay off in
the short term (usually less than 1 year). Capital markets are the markets
for long-term debt and equity shares. Primary markets are used when gov-
ernments or companies initially sell securities. Companies offer their shares
through public placings or public offerings, and this is discussed in greater
detail later in this chapter. Secondary markets come into operation for the
resale of securities. Debt and equity are traded in the security markets, and
there is a distinction between auction markets and dealer markets: equity
securities tend to be sold in auction markets (like the stock exchange); debt
securities are sold in dealer markets. Auction markets differ from dealer
markets in two ways:
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BOX 14.1: GEARING

GEARING
Example of the effect of gearing in house purchase

House is purchased for £100,000

The growth rate in house prices is 20 per cent

70 per cent is borrowed on mortgage

The interest rate on the mortgage is 10 per cent p.a.
The house is sold after 1 year

1. What is the equity return?
2. What is the return if you borrow 50 per cent?

1. Sale price £120,000
Less Mortgage £70,000
Plus Interest £7,000
Balance £77,000
Profit £43,000

£43,000

Return on capital = x 100 per cent = 143 per cent

£30,000
= 43 per cent profit

2. Sale price £120,000
Less Mortgage £50,000
Plus Interest £5,000
Balance £55,000
Profit £65,000

£65,000

Return on capital = x 100 per cent =130 per cent

£50,000
= 30 per cent profit

1. Trading in an auction exchange takes place at a single site on the floor
of the exchange or with a centralised screen system. In October 1986,
the stock exchange changed its system of trading, post ‘Big Bang’ (the
deregulation of the Stock Exchange), from trading on the floor of the
exchange to an electronic marketplace. The Stock Exchange Automated
Quotation System (SEAQ) moved the system of trading into dealing
rooms equipped with computer screens.
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2. The transaction prices of shares traded on the auction exchange are
communicated almost immediately to the public by means of computers
and other devices, but this is not so in dealer markets (Ross et al., 1993).

Direct investment versus property vehicles

The concept of project versus corporate finance can be looked at from a
different perspective, that of direct investment in property as against invest-
ment through a property vehicle. Venmore-Rowland (1991) has considered
the advantages and disadvantages of investment by these two approaches,
and these are shown in Box 14.2.

There are two factors that are working in opposite directions in the
investment strategy; these are correlation to other investments and liquid-
ity. Correlation is important to obtain a diversified portfolio of investment
and therefore to spread risks. Direct property has a relatively low correla-
tion to equities but is more illiquid. Property vehicles are liquid but are more
highly correlated to equities (Venmore-Rowland, 1991).

BOX 14.2: DIRECT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY
VEHICLES

DIRECT PROPERTY

Advantages Disadvantages

Low risk relative to equities Mliquid

Diversification benefits Management intensive

Hedge against inflation Minimum portfolio size required

Good for matching inflation-
prone long-term liabilities

PROPERTY VEHICLES

Advantages Disadvantages

Liquidity Loss of control

Divisibility Tax slippage

Management expertise Short term, relatively poor performance
Specialisation of vehicle High correlation to stock market
Gearing

Can shift weight/exposure
Income benefits from the discount to net asset value
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14.2 CATEGORIES OF FINANCE

This section is based on a suggested classification by Brett (1990) and is
summarised in Box 14.3.

Debt or equity

The distinction between debt and equity depends on whether the money is
borrowed (debt), and here the lender has no direct involvement in the
project, or whether the money has been invested on the basis of sharing
both the risk and the returns of the project (equity). Borrowed money needs
to be repaid, and interest will be paid on the outstanding amount until the
debt is repaid. The equity return for the person who puts up the money is
determined by the success of the enterprise. The person shares the profits
and if there are none, then there is no return.

BOX 14.3: SUMMARY OF CATEGORIES OF FINANCE

Categories of finance

Debt or equity

Project finance or corporate finance
Loan or traded security

Secured or unsecured

Fixed rate or variable rate

Long term or short term

Recourse, non-recourse, limited recourse

Main criteria

¢ Debt or equity

¢ Project or corporate finance
Finance matrix

Debt Equity
Project
finance

Corporate ‘
finance




204 Property Valuation Principles

The most obvious form of equity is ordinary share capital. Equity shares
can also exist in development situations where a financier is entitled to a
share in profits of the scheme. There are also deferred forms of equity such
as convertible loans, which start as debt instruments paying a fixed rate of
interest but later the loans may be converted into equity shares.

Project finance or corporate finance

Project finance is the money borrowed for a project, usually a development
project. The loan is based on the project itself and this becomes the main
security. A larger company may be able to borrow on the strength of the
assets of the company itself rather than its individual projects; this is asset
based or corporate finance. Interest will generally be lower for corporate
loans than for project loans because there will be more collateral available
for security rather than relying on the risk of a single project. Many com-
panies are undertaking developments of such a size that they dwarf the
company’s own resources and the developer may then be concerned that,
if anything went wrong with the project, the lenders may have recourse to
other assets of the company, which may undermine the company’s finan-
cial position. In this case, each development may need to be financed
separately on a project basis and developers may try to make the project
‘off-balance sheet’ if possible.

Loan or traded security

Borrowed money may simply be a simple loan or a bond in the form of an
instrument (a negotiable piece of paper) which is transferable. This is a form
of IOU note and is called a security rather than a straightforward loan, and
this can be sold on to other investors. The purchasers receive interest each
year and also have the right for the original cost to be repaid at the end of
the agreed duration of the security. If the purchasers do not wish to wait
for this repayment date they can sell the rights to other investors, who then
become entitled to receive the interest and the eventual repayment monies.
Securities of this kind are bought and sold on the stock market.

Secured and unsecured
Lenders will normally require security for the money they provide; they want

collateral (security) for the loans and thus will charge assets to cover the
loan, either the specific assets of a business related to the project or the
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assets of a business as a whole. If the borrower fails to pay the interest or
capital repayments as required, then the lender can put a receiver into the
company, and the receiver will repay the loans from the proceeds of the
sale of the company’s assets or other available revenues. A secured loan is
safer than an unsecured loan but well-established companies may be able
to raise unsecured loans because the safeguard for the lender is the
company’s established profit record out of which the interest can be paid.
Most borrowings in the euromarkets are unsecured, as are borrowings in
the commercial paper market. The company’s name and standing are the
main guarantees.

Fixed rate or variable rate (floating rate) interest

Sometimes the rate of interest is agreed at the outset of the loan and
remains unchanged over the life of the loan. With other loans, the interest
rate will change according to movements in money market rates or other
rates agreed. For large-scale floating rate borrowings, the most common
yardstick of interest rates is the London Inter Bank Offered Rate or LIBOR.
This is the rate of interest at which the banks themselves are prepared to
lend to each other. It is agreed at the outset that the company will pay a
margin over the LIBOR rate, say 2.5 percentage points (or 250 basis points,
which is the same thing, as a basis point is 0.01 per cent) over LIBOR.
You can choose a LIBOR floating rate and then fix it. Short-term borrow-
ings are most likely to be at the floating rate of interest. Long-term bor-
rowings, such as mortgage debentures, are more likely to be at a fixed rate.
The borrower can buy a cap for floating rate borrowing. This is a form of
insurance policy that means whatever happens to interest rates in general,
a maximum limit is set to the interest rate that a borrower will have to pay.

Long term or short term

Loans are usually over a period between 1 and 30 years. This range con-
tains short- and long-term loans but the boundaries of the two and the inter-
mediate area between are not clearly defined. Many people consider 1-2
years to be short term, equivalent to the development period for most pro-
jects, 2-7 years as medium term and more than 7 years as long term. Over-
drafts are technically payable on demand and thus are short-term
borrowing, but many companies have an overdraft outstanding almost in-
definitely. With a multi-option facility (MOF), a company might technically
be borrowing for 3 months at a time. At the end of three months it repays
the original loans and takes out new ones for another 3 months. If the facil-
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ity runs for 5 years, effectively it has the use of 5-year money by ‘rolling
over’ (Brett, 1990).

Recourse, non-recourse or limited recourse loans

If the loan for a particular project or for a particular subsidiary company is
guaranteed by the parent, the lender has recourse to the parent, so can
claim on the assets of the parent. If the only security for the lender is the
project itself, as in a pure form of project-based finance, and the parent
company has given no guarantees, the loan is non-recourse. A non-recourse
loan is very unlikely to be granted in practice, because banks would gener-
ally require the loans to be limited recourse. The parent may have guaran-
teed interest payments but is under no obligation to repay the loan itself in
these circumstances. A limited recourse loan would still depend on the re-
putation of the borrower and the track record of the company as well as
the quality of the project itself.

Domestic or euromarket loans

Loans can be raised in the UK or in the euromarkets. Euromarket loans
can be in sterling abroad (eurosterling) or other currencies (eurodollar). A
company may well raise monies in the euromarkets in different currencies
and then swap to sterling if sterling is not popular at the time of raising the
funds. The terms and conditions of operation in the European market can
be different; for instance euro-loans are often unsecured.

14.3 SOURCES OF FINANCE

The main lenders in the market are:

. high street/clearing banks;
foreign banks;

building societies;
merchant banks;
insurance companies; and
finance houses.

AR e e

As an example, data on the sources of money flowing into property during
the boom-slump period of the property cycle in the 1980s and early 1990s
are shown in Table 14.2.
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Table 14.2 New money into property (CSO, 1994)

£ million

Pension Insurance Banks Property Overseas Total

funds companies companies
1980 908 855 72 147 100 2,082
1981 843 1,073 469 97 70 2,552
1982 797 1,059 822 263 120 3,061
1983 680 845 934 83 85 2,627
1984 997 744 963 237 65 3,006
1985 590 815 1,691 344 90 3,530
1986 434 821 2,224 737 150 4,306
1987 240 755 3,998 2,300 290 7,583
1988 312 1,102 7,954 761 1,897 12,026
1989 92 1,510 10,622 1,647 3,267 17,138
1990 -491 1,080 7,066 164 3,269 11,088
1991 467 1,483 678 1,270 1,651 5,449
1992 349 600 -1,708 334 1,232 807
19932 299 232 -3,248 1,957 1,514 754
1994°® 282 1,868 -1,546 1,280 — 1,320

° External figures to September.
® Not including external: 1994 figures are for first two quarters only; to September for
property companies.

High street/clearing banks

The big four clearing banks are LloydsTSB, Barclays, National Westminster
(owned by the Roval Bank of Scotland) and Midland (owned by HSBC).
These are probably the first port of call for people looking for loans, espe-
cially if they have established relationships as account holders. However,
these banks are conservative and may view new transactions related to
property in a less than enthusiastic way. Smaller banks may be more useful
potential funders. The smaller banks are likely to have less of a bad-debt
problem and may want to increase market share. The larger banks have
been burdened by over-exposure to the property sector and the emphasis
over a period has been on debt repayment rather than new lending. British
Clearing Banks’ exposure to the property sector at the critical period to the
end of the 1980s is shown in Figure 14.3.
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I Barclays Lloyds HH National Westmingter Midland

Figure 14.3 British clearing banks’ UK property lending (note: no figures
for Lloyds 1986-88) [I[BCA/Scott, 1992, p.348]

Foreign banks

The foreign banks tend to be more aggressive sources of property finance,
or were in the early 1990s, but by 1993 they were showing less interest.
They are useful sources of funding, particularly for quality and corporate
transactions. The collapse of certain foreign banks made borrowers wary
of dealing with foreign banks. The collapse of a bank half-way through a
development may mean that it could take years to unwind the legal prob-
lems and thus would put the borrower’s own financial position at risk.

Building societies
The building societies fared badly in the 1990-95 slump in the property

market. In the late 1980s, their inexperience and desire for market share
in commercial property lending led to substantial bad debt. They are now
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putting their respective houses in order with rationalisation and more
qualified staff, and are likely to be an important source of commercial
finance in the future.

Merchant banks

Merchant banks rarely lend their own money but act as advisers and espe-
cially concentrate on large corporate transactions. They are unlikely to be
interested in ordinary debt transactions because there would be little oppor-
tunity to use their expertise and add value to such a transaction.

Insurance companies

The insurance companies are limited providers of funds. They do, however,
offer the attraction of long-term, fixed rate funds priced over gilts that can
be useful in certain transactions.

Finance houses

In essence, the finance houses have been the principal providers of funding
to the secondary leisure and retailing markets, providing finance for the pur-
chase of freehold shops, pubs, restaurants and hotels. Their small trader
exposure has made them particularly vulnerable to the latest recession,
which has resulted in most of them leaving the market.

The growth of institutional investment

Institutions investing in the capital market in the UK are suppliers of finance
to companies. These institutional investors include insurance companies,
pension funds, investment trusts and unit trusts. Since the Second World
War, institutional investors have increased their share of finance to firms at
the expense of private individual investors. At the turn of the century, indi-
vidual investors were very important on the stock markets but since that
time progressive taxation and increased egalitarianism have reduced the dif-
ferences in income between the very rich and poor, and thus enabled the
poorer sections of society to accumulate some form of insurance within the
insurance companies’ funds. Thus, with the decline of the large private
investors, there has been an increase in the amount of investment from the
less affluent sections of society. These have tended to invest their money
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in building societies, unit trusts, insurance companies and saving banks, and
these institutions have in turn provided their funds to the stock markets.

Government finance

Government finance is available to developers to assist in developing sites
in certain locations under certain criteria. The loans available include money
for City Grants and allowances in Enterprise Zones and urban development
corporation areas. Assistance is also provided through the Simplified Plan-
ning Zones. The City Grant came into operation on the 3 May 1988. This
replaced the Urban Development Grant and the Urban Regeneration Grant.
To quality for a City Grant, it is necessary for the developer to prove that
the development project cannot proceed without such a grant and that the
project will benefit a run-down city area. In March 1993 it was announced
that the Urban Programme of government funding would be phased out;
this formed a major part of the government’s urban renewal expenditure
along with City Grants, Derelict Land Grants, Urban Development Corpo-
rations, City Action Teams and City Challenge. Under the Leasehold
Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993, the government
established English Partnerships (EPs) to take over policy decision-making,
to complement regional policy, to administer the English Industrials Estates
Corporation, to buy and develop inner city sites, to assume the responsi-
bility of the Urban Programme to award City Grants and Derelict Land
Grants, and to administer City Challenge. A Single Regeneration Budget
was created in 1994 to include expenditure on Urban Development Cor-
porations, English Partnerships activities, Housing Action Trusts and other
programmes.

Money for property development is also available from the European
Community, especially funds for run-down or economically depressed
locations.

14.4 LENDING CRITERIA

The cost and availability of lending are a function of the value of any par-
ticular project and the amount of cost to be financed. The nature of the
development is important — the design, mix, location and likely demand.
The letting conditions are important, as are whether or not the investment
is pre-let or speculative. The quality of the tenant, who will be providing
the cash flow to the investment, will also be important. Other important
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criteria are the track record of the developer and the strength of security.
Finally, the duration of the loan will be important, as well as the details of
repayment, for instance, the anticipated regularity of repayments, and the
size/amount of repayments prior to redemption.

Most lenders look for the same aspects of a lending proposal, which in
simplified terms are the four ‘Cs’:

Character;
Cashstake;
Capability;
Collateral.

Character

This relates to the trading history or development experience of a borrower.
In respect of a property developer or an investment company, the lender
will want to know whether the borrower has the experience to complete
the development, manage the investment or run the business, if applicable.
The lender will also be interested in whether the client is respectable and
trustworthy. The lender may also cynically wonder why the borrower’s own
high street bank will not lend the money.

Cashstake

This relates to how much equity (the borrower’s own money) is going into
the transaction. In addition, the bank will want to know where the equity
has come from:

[s it lent by someone else?

Is it from other profitable activities?

Is it simply a surplus that has arisen on the revaluation of property?
[s it already pledged as security?

Is it legally acquired money — not laundered money?

AR .

Capability

Does the borrower have the capability to service the loan, that is to pay
the interest when it arises and the capital as and when repayment is
required? Does the borrower have accounts or a business plan to show
his/her present financial position and any estimate of future cash flow?
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Collateral

The lender will want to know what security will be offered for the loan, its
value and its saleability. The lender will want to know who valued the secu-
rity and on what basis. The lender will need to assess the extent of the loan
that would be exposed to the value of that security. Finally, will personal
guarantees be given by the borrower?

Information required to approach a lender

When you approach a lender to obtain funds, you should ensure that you
are clear on what finance you require and also ensure that you provide suf-
ficient background information as follows:

e Amount and purpose
Specify the amount you wish to borrow and its purpose, e.g. acquisition of
property, goodwill, fixtures and fittings etc.

* Borrower’s details
The borrowing company’s name trading and registered address accountant,
banker and solicitor, together with the company’s authorised and paid-up
share capital, and a breakdown of shareholders and their respective hold-
ings are all required.

¢ Directors/shareholders’ details

CVs of the directors/shareholders and the background or history of any
parent company are needed. Where the borrower is a sole trader partner-
ship, the lenders will require CVs together with personal asset and liability
statements and copies of partnership agreements, where relevant.

e Accounts
Audited accounts for the borrower over the previous three years are
essential.

¢ Bank borrowing

A breakdown of all current borrowings, i.e. mortgages and overdrafts, is
needed. Also details of hire purchase agreements, leasing, identification of
each lender and how each facility is secured.

¢ Development activity

Where the borrower is building or extending premises, the lenders need full
details of the development, to include a description, breakdown of costs,
warranties, copies of planning permission, details of contractor and build-
ing contract, and a full set of drawings.



Property Finance 213

e Financial status
The amount and availability of borrower’s equity together with cash flow
forecasts to support borrowing request are needed.

¢ Background
Other relevant information, as necessary, should be requested.

Recent research has shown that the presentation of funding proposals
is very important in obtaining finance (Isaac and O’Grady, 1993).

Exercise question

Distinguish between debt and equity finance in the application of these
types of finance to a property development project.

Outline answer

Equity and debt finance should be defined in the context of the devel-
oper using two types of monies. Firstly, those which are borrowed in
the short term for the development period, and which need to be
repaid with interest (i.e. debt); and secondly, money loaned in the long
term which is subject to the risk of any enterprise but which shares in
the profitability (i.e. equity). The distinction between the two is becom-
ing blurred and this should be discussed. The application of these types
of finance basically relates to the application of loans to a development
project or the use of a company’s own resources. You need to reflect
on how to raise equity finance. At present, finance climate project
loans may be becoming more difficult and perhaps more expensive to
raise for risky developments.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter has introduced the basic principles of property finance
including:

The structure of finance.
Categories of finance.
Sources of finance.

[ ]
[ ]
[ ]
¢ |ending criteria.
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1 5 Financial Management and
Accounts

15.1 Company financial statements

15.2 Basic accounting concepts

15.3 Techniques for analysis

15.4 Information in property company accounts
15.5 The regulation of accounts

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This chapter looks at financial management and accounts. It provides
examples of the main financial statements and explains how to analyse
them.

15.1 COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For investment appraisal, a knowledge of accounts is essential, because
this provides the analysis of the corporate entity and can be used to analyse
the strength of tenants, business partners and companies that are being
invested in. This chapter provides an outline of financial management for
these purposes.

A company’s financial statements are contained in the report sent to its
shareholders. The report provides details of the operations of the company.
It contains a Chairman’s review which looks at the preceding year and
prospects for the future. There is also a Directors’ Report which comments
on such matters as profits, dividends, fixed assets and finance, and includes
the report of the auditors and a summary of the accounting policies of the
company which can be useful in the analysis of the position of the firm.
Accounting policies are important in the property sector in respect of asset
valuation, and different bases will be used according to whether a property
company is an investment or a trading company. Attached to the report
are the financial statements. These financial statements would be:

e the profit and loss account;
¢ the balance sheet;
¢ notes to the accounts;

215
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e current cost accounts;
¢ a statement of source and applications of funds;
¢ a statement of value added.

In addition it is now also necessary to provide:

¢ a consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses;
¢ a cash flow statement;
¢ a note of historical costs, profits and losses.

These are to aid the understanding of the information.

The balance sheet and the profit and loss account are the main state-
ments of the financial situation of the company. The balance sheet would
be for an individual or group of companies, but if there were a parent
company then this may also be included. The main accounts would be in
accordance with historic cost conventions, but current cost accounts would
attempt to take into account inflation of asset values. It is useful to remind
ourselves at this stage of those particular groups who need to use published
accounts, because it is their needs for information that will have to be
satisfied. These are set out in Box 15.1.

BOX 15.1: THE USERS OF PUBLISHED ACCOUNTS

Who are the users of published accounts?

The equity investor group including existing and potential shareholders and
holders of convertible securities, options or warrants.

The loan creditor group including existing and potential holders of deben-
tures and loan stock, and providers of short-term secured and unsecured loans
and finance.

The employee group including existing, potential and past employees.

The analyst-adviser group including financial analysts and journalists,
economists, statisticians, researchers, trade unions, stockbrokers and other
providers of advisory services such as credit rating agencies.

The business contact group including customers, trade creditors and sup-
pliers and, in a different sense, competitors, business rivals, and those inter-
ested in mergers, amalgamations and takeovers.

The government including tax authorities, departments and agencies con-
cerned with the supervision of commerce and industry, and local authorities.

The public including taxpayers, ratepayers, consumers, and other community
and special interest groups such as political parties, consumer and environ-
mental protection societies and regional pressure groups.  [Westwick, 1980]
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The balance sheet

The balance sheet lists the balances of assets and liabilities as at the
accounting date. As a result of the EU’s fourth directive on company
accounts, balance sheets are now to be in a standardised form. The balance
sheets are built up from three categories of entry: assets, liabilities and
shareholders’ funds. Thus total assets are equal to the sum of shareholders’
funds plus liabilities if one looks at the balance sheet from the point of
view of the company; alternatively, from a shareholder’s view, one can
see that the difference between assets and liabilities is the shareholders
funds:

Business view: assets = shareholders’ funds + liabilities
Shareholders’ view: assets — liabilities = shareholders’ funds

Fixed assets + Net current assets (Current assets less Current liabilities) =
Capital employed (Shareholders’ funds + Long-term liabilities). This is a
modification of the business view, taking current liabilities to the asset side
of the equation. The balance sheet model of the firm is set out in Figure
15.1 to clarify these concepts.

Current liabilities

Current assets

Net
working
capital Long-term debt

Fixed assets

1. Tangible Shareholder equity
2. Intangibles

Total value of assets Total value of the firm to investors

Figure 15.1 The balance sheet model of the firm [Ross et al., 1993]



218 Property Valuation Principles
Profit and loss account

While the balance sheet is for a particular moment, a profit and loss account
is for a year ending on the accounting date — it is the result of the year’s
activities. The profit is shown before and after tax. Profit attributable to
minority interests arises from investment in other companies that amounts
to 50 per cent or less of ownership, and these profits are now allowed to
be consolidated in the sheet. The accounts also show the proportion of
profit distributed and retained. To grow, a company will need to increase its
assets. The balance sheet shows that assets = liabilities plus shareholders’
funds, so that the ways to grow would be to increase liabilities (borrow
more) or increase shareholders’ funds. There are two ways of increasing
the shareholders’ funds: by issuing more shares or ploughing back profits.
Ploughing back profits is not necessarily the cheapest source of long-term
funds for the company and it also restricts the payment of dividends.

Examples of a balance sheet and a profit and loss account

Balance sheet as at 31 March

£°000 £000
Fixed assets
(investment properties for property companies) 3,000
Land and buildings for occupation 400
Plant and machinery 200
Fixtures and fittings 200

3,800

Current assets
Stocks (trading properties for property companies) 3,000
Debtors 100
Cash 100

3,200
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft 400
Trade creditors 600

1,000
Net current assets 2,200
Total assets less current liabilities 6,000
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 2,000
Revenue reserves 1,000

Capital reserves 1,000
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Shareholders’ interest 4,000
Long-term liabilities (over one year)

Loans 2,000
Total long-term capital 6,000

(adapted from Asch and Kaye, 1989)

Notes to balance sheet

These notes refer to an ordinary trading company, notes relating to the
peculiarities of property companies are in brackets.

Fixed assets

Assets were normally valued at historic cost for an ordinary company. Land
and buildings were shown at original cost less depreciation in normal
accounts but, because this does not reflect worth, companies now revalue
to market value. Depreciation is an annual allowance for wear and tear
and reduces the balance sheet valuation; it is deducted from profit as a cost.
(For a property company, the valuation should be market value for an invest-
ment property or the lower of cost and realisable value for a property in
the course of development, but intended as an investment property — that
is, intended as a fixed asset.) Fixed assets are intended to be permanent
features of the company’s assets, current assets are turned into cash usually
within one year. Plant and machinery and fixtures and fittings are shown at
cost less depreciation.

Current assets

Stocks are valued at cost. (For a property company, properties to be traded
are stocks and are valued at the lower of realisable value or cost.) Cost
includes the expenses paid out on a property since purchase and interest.

Current liabilities
These are the amounts due to creditors within 1 year. The balance of current
assets less current liabilities is called the ‘net working capital’.

Capital and reserves

Issued share capital is the amount paid in by the shareholders when they
originally bought the shares in the company. Reserves arise because profits
are not distributed to shareholders but ploughed back in the company; these
are called ‘revenue reserves’. Revenue reserves have to be distinguished from
capital reserves which arise on the revaluation of assets and which then may
give rise to a surplus. (Capital reserves are especially important in property
companies, as they arise from revaluation of the assets rather than profits
from rents or trading.)



220 Property Valuation Principles
Long-term liabilities

These are amounts owed by the company at a future date, longer than one
year.

Profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March

£°000 £000
Turnover 10,000
Less Cost of sales (direct costs) 6,500
Gross profit 3,500
Less (indirect costs) Administration expenses 1,000
Selling and distribution costs 200
Interest on loans 150
1,350
Net profit before tax 2,150
Corporation tax 750
Profit on ordinary activities after tax 1,400
Extraordinary item after taxation 200
Profit for the year 1,200
Dividends 600
Transfer to reserves 600

[Asch and Kaye, 1989]

Notes to profit and loss account

Whereas the balance sheet reveals the state of affairs of the company at
one point in time, the profit and loss account shows how much net cash
has been generated by activities over the accounting period by matching
the expenditure of the year against the revenues. The cost of sales are the
cost of raw materials, production or direct labour, power and other factory
costs. An extraordinary item is one that is unusual in terms of size and
frequency. They are infrequent and thus need to be omitted when con-
sidering profit trends over a period of years; for instance, a large profit may
have been made from disposal of part of the business, an event which is
unlikely to occur again and which distorts the profit figure for that year.
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15.2 BASIC ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS

The financial statements are produced and based on accounting concepts.
Four rules or concepts are observed in all published accounts, unless it is
otherwise stated. These rules are:

the going concern concept;
the accruals concept;

the consistency concept;
the prudence concept.

The going concern concept assumes that the business will be continuing its
activities for the foreseeable future on a similar scale. Thus the values attach-
ing to assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet reflect going concern values.
This concept is important in property asset valuation for accounts purposes.
The accruals concept says that it is vital for an accurate assessment of profit
and loss for the accounting period to compare costs and benefits accurately.
It is important to assign costs and financial returns to the period incurred,
which may not be the same time period when money costs are incurred or
financial returns received. For instance, if a sale has legally taken place,
whether or not cash has been received from the customer for the goods
delivered, the transaction will be taken as a sale and included as part of the
sales revenue appearing in the profit and loss account. The consistency
concept is necessary so that approaches to the formulation of the accounts
remain the same and so that valid comparisons and analysis can be made
against previous results and with other companies. The prudence concept
covers the attitudes of dealing with costs and revenues; it is the cautious way
that an accountant approaches the problem, unless it is certain. Based on
the above concepts, the Companies Acts makes it a legal requirement that
a company’s Balance Sheet should show a true and fair view.

15.3 TECHNIQUES FOR ANALYSIS

The analysis of company accounts involves the initial consideration of three
problems:

1. Is the company making a satisfactory profit?
2. Is the company short of cash or cash rich?
3. What should be the source of long-term funds?

These problems relate to profitability, liquidity and capital structure, and
are as applicable to individual property projects as they are to property
companies or any firm. The techniques applied are based on relationships
between the elements in the financial statements (financial ratios) and rates
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of return (vields). The area of capital structure is of major interest in financ-
ing arrangements and has parallels in the financial construction of property
projects.

Profitability measures

The key ratios used to analyse the profitability of an enterprise are:

1. Trading profit as a percentage of turnover.

2. Profit before interest and tax as a percentage of average capital
employed.

3. Earnings per share, either basic (based on issued share capital) or fully
diluted (based on authorised share capital, which is the total share capital
that can be issued).

4. Dividend per share.

5. Number of times covered — that is, the number of times a dividend is
covered by earnings. This is also a measure used by property managers
to assess the security of a tenant by calculating the number of times the
rent is covered by the net profit of the tenant company.

6. Assets per share — the asset backing of shares based on the value of the
net assets divided by the number of shares. There has been much dis-
cussion in this area in relation to the share price of property investment
companies, as one would expect the asset value per share to relate to
the market price of the share. However, traditionally the market has
discounted the net asset values of property investment companies
historically by an average of approximately 20 per cent. The discount
is measured by:

Share price — Net asset value per share

x 100 pe t
Net asset value per share per cen

[[saac and Woodroffe, 1987]

Return on investment

This is defined as:

Profit
Assets

x 100 per cent

Thus profit is looked at as a percentage of capital and this is further influ-
enced by two further ratios comprising the profit margin (profit as a per-
centage of sales) and the rate of asset turnover (sales dividend by assets).
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Profit 3 Profit o Sales
Assets  Sales = Assets

or Return on capital = profit margin x turnover

The return on capital may vary from one industry to another but wider vari-
ations may be found in the profit margin and rates of turnover. For instance,
a return of 20 per cent could be achieved by a high profit margin and a
low turnover (the corner shop), or a low profit margin and a high turnover
(the supermarket piling the goods high and selling cheap).

A sector comparison should show that capital-intensive industries with
long production cycles have a low rate of turnover but a high profit margin.
From the key ratios above, a number of subsidiary ratios relating costs or
assets to sales can be formulated. Depending on the use to which the ratio
is put, the definition of profit and assets will differ. Generally a wider view
of company performance is taken:

Profit before tax, interest and dividends

Return on capital =
P Total capital employed

The comparison of profitable ratios enables firms within a sector to be com-
pared against one another, and for the various sectors to be compared.

Liquidity and cash flows

As well as being profitable, it is also important that a company should be
liquid. A profitable and fast expanding company may find that it has tied
up its profits in fixed assets, stocks and debtors, and that is has difficulty
paying its debts as they fall due. There are two main ratios to examine the
liquidity of a company: the liquidity ratio and the current ratio.

The liquidity ratio is also called the ‘acid test ratio” because it is a most
important test. It is the ratio of liquid assets to current liabilities, and a 1:1
ratio means that a company has sufficient cash to pay its immediate debts.
Liquid assets are defined as current assets excluding stocks of goods which
cannot be quickly turned into cash. In effect, liquid assets are debtors, cash
and any short-term investments such as bank deposits or government
securities. A company can survive with a liquid ratio of less than 1:1 if it
has an unused bank overdraft facility.

The other test of a company’s liquidity is the current ratio, which
includes stocks and work in progress on the grounds that stocks eventually
turn into debtors and then into cash itself. It is calculated by relating all
current assets to current liabilities. A norm of 2:1 is generally regarded as
being satisfactory, but this will depend on the norm for a particular indus-
try. Thus
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Liquidity ratio = Liquid assets: Current liabilities

Current ratio = Current assets: Current liabilities

Gearing ratio and interest cover

Two important measures of financial analysis are the gearing ratio and inter-
est cover, as shown in Example 15.1.

The gearing (or leverage) ratio is the ratio of debt to shareholders’ funds.
This could be expressed as the ratio of debt to net operating assets, and this
is the approach used in most economic texts, but normally in the market it
is stated as:

Debt (borrowings)
Shareholders' funds

Gearing ratio =

also known as the debt to equity ratio.
Interest cover is the profit available to pay interest charges:

Profit before interest and tax

Interest cover = -
Net interest

Example 15.1: Gearing ratio and interest cover
Company A Company B
Balance Sheet £m £m
Net operating assets 100 100
Financed by: Debt 20 80
Shareholders _80 20
100 100
Profit and Loss Account
Operating profit 15.0 15.0
Less Interest payable @ (2.0) (8.0)
10 per cent
Profit before tax 13.0 7.0
Tax @ 35 per cent (4.55) (2.5)
Net profit 8.45 45
. . 20 80
Gearing ratio 30" 25 per cent 20 = 400 per cent
Interest cover % =7.5 times % =1.88 times
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The gearing ratio is used to compare levels of debt between companies.
Interest cover indicates the safety margin before profits become inadequate
to cover the interest charge. Gearing and interest cover are used by lenders
to determine whether a company’s borrowings are at a reasonable level and
whether it is prudent to lend more.

Investors are concerned with the company’s capacity to absorb a
decrease in profit without having to sell assets in possible unfavourable
market conditions. Also, gearing is a measure of the potential to finance
expansion without recourse to the shareholders, which would depress share
price. If a company requires additional debt to fund a new project, the resul-
tant gearing effect may depress share price and restrict flexibility to respond
to future opportunities. There is thus pressure to record the project, the asset
and debt off-balance sheet.

Analysing a property company — a summary

In order to analyse a property company, its accounts and finances, the fol-
lowing criteria will be important:

1. Net asset value per share. If the net assets are £10 million and the
issued share capital is 5 million shares at £1 each, then the net asset
value per share is £10 million/5 million, i.e. £2 or 200p per share.

2. Gearing. If the shareholders’ funds are £5 million and the debt capital
is £3 million, then the gearing is £3 million/£5 million, i.e. 0.66 or
66 per cent.

3. Composition of interest rates in the debt. What is the percentage of
variable rate loans to total loans? A company with a lot of debt with
floating rates may find its share price suffering, especially in a period of
volatile interest rates.

4. Valuation of assets. When were they last valued? Property companies
are meant to value their properties internally annually and have an exter-
nal independent valuation every five years.

5. Comparison of the amount of properties shown at cost (development
properties in the process of being developed) with the amount shown
at value (investment property). This analysis gives an indication of the
level of development activity.

6. The legal interests in properties held. The breakdown of properties
into freeholds, long leaseholds and short leaseholds can give an indica-
tion of the type and amount of income arising and the nature of the
reviews.

7. Comparison of profit. A year-on-year comparison, excluding extraor-
dinary items, is a valuable analysis.
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8. Capital. How is it financed? What capital commitments are there?

9. Contingent liabilities. Has the company guaranteed the borrowing
of associate companies which increases its liabilities? Are there any off-
balance sheet transactions? [Adapted from Brett, 1990b].

15.4 INFORMATION IN PROPERTY COMPANY ACCOUNTS

In May 1990, chartered accountants Stoy Hayward and researchers from
the University of Reading set up a panel of experts to look at the provision
of information in property company accounts and the main areas of prob-
lems relating to loans and interest, the nature of the assets and joint ven-
tures. The recommendations of the panel are listed below:

1. Property company accounts should be placed in context, in terms of:
what has happened over the year; how the company has been per-
forming over the last five years; a view of the future; and what account-
ing policies are used.

2. More details should be included about loan arrangements, the payment
of interest and the capitalisation of interest.

3. An analysis of properties should be included, showing their use as either
trading stock, investment properties or development properties.

4. A list of properties with a worth greater than 5 per cent of the total
property portfolio should be included.

5. An external revaluation, on an open-market basis, should be carried out
in accordance with the guidelines of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors.

6. All revaluation gains or losses should be passed into a property revalu-
ation reserve, shown in the accounts as a capital profit and loss account
which distinguishes between realised and unrealised amounts.

7. Details of costs and revenues from all developments relating to, and
details of, all joint ventures should be included. [Purdy, 1992]

15.5 THE REGULATION OF ACCOUNTS

There are several sources of regulation with which statutory accounts have
to comply. These are:

1. The Companies Acts, which describe the principles which should be
followed in preparing statutory accounts. They indicate that accounts
should show a true and fair view. The Companies Acts also set out the
detailed disclosure requirements.
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2. The accounting profession publishes SSAPs (Statements of Standard
Accounting Practice) and these cover accounting and disclosure.

3. If the company is listed, the Stock Exchange specifies mandatory dis-
closure requirements.

The company accounts are independently examined by the auditor who has
to report to the shareholders that the accounts show a true and fair view
and are properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act. Audi-
tors are under a professional obligation to ensure the accounts comply with
SSAPs. If the accounts do not accord with the regulations, the auditor must
state this in his report unless, in exceptional circumstances, he concurs with
a departure from an SSAP. This seldom happens. If the auditor is going to
qualify the accounts, he will discuss this with the directors and often they
will amend the accounts to avoid qualification. The auditor will also advise
of any failure to observe the relevant requirements of the Stock Exchange.

Exercise question

What are the main components of the balance sheet. Distinguish
between assets and liabilities and show how working capital may be
calculated.

Outline answer

You need to examine the various elements of the Balance Sheet and
give examples of the different items. It is important to distinguish
between fixed and current assets, and long-term and current liabilities.
For instance, fixed assets are held by the business for use rather than
resale, and may be held for a number of years. Current assets include
assets that are already cash or that are intended to be turned back into
cash in the course of trading activity. The capital employed in a busi-
ness is used for the purchase of fixed assets or for working capital.
Working capital is the value of the current assets of a business less the
current liabilities.

SUMMARY OF CHAPTER

This chapter has looked at financial management and accounts and has
covered the following specific areas:

¢ Financial statements.
¢ The analysis of the statements.
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e [nformation contained in the statements.
¢ The regulation of accounts.
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